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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2011
OR

0O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-33622

VMWARE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 94-3292913
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(650) 427-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant éf filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pasti@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant liésntted electronically and posted on its corpo¥atb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pumsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of dtiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YES No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file [ (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgie Act). YesO No

As of April 22, 2011, the number of shares of comrstock, par value $0.01 per share, of the registratstanding was 419,490,103, of
which 119,490,103 shares were Class A common stpdk300,000,000 were Class B common stock.
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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensation, excluding amounts capita
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqoissti
Accounts receivabl
Other asset
Due to/from EMC, ne
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Income taxes receivable from EN
Income taxes payab
Deferred income taxes, r
Unearned revent

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities:

Additions to property and equipme
Capitalized software development cc
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie
Sales of availab-for-sale securitie
Maturities of availabl-for-sale securitie
Purchase of strategic investme

Sale of strategic investmer

Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Transfer of net assets under common cot
Increase in restricted ca

Net cash used in investing activiti

Financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common si

Repurchase of common sta

Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic

Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on vesifrrgstricted stoc
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢b

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi

Non-cash items:
Changes in capital additions, accrued but not

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,

2011 2010
$ 12581 $ 78,42
80,94¢ 53,78¢
80,57: 63,69
(50,009 (23,91¢)
962 1,41
81,34( 185,23:
(17,920 (84E)
60,70( 25,77¢
9,39¢ (2,647
(68,569 (51,20
35,44« —
32,927 14,36¢
(12,077 (4,22)
118,38t 15,09(
477,91 354,95
(27,04¢) (31,117
(27,427 (21,86))
(598,76 —
153,09° —
215,57¢ —
(14,000 —
2,51 —
(14,95() (106,55()
(12,490 —
(45,000 (16,84%)
(368,48() (176,37)
90,17: 109,77}
(147,729 (31,349
50,00¢ 23,91¢
(21,919 (10,906
(29,46) 91,43¢
79,96¢ 270,02(
1,628,96! 2,486,46.
$1,708,93  $2,756,48
$ 7206 $ (2,069

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dimsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended
March 31,
2011 2010

Revenues

License $ 418,99¢ $ 312,17

Services 424,72. 321,35¢

843,72: 633,53:

Operating expenses (-

Cost of license revenu 56,01¢ 40,12:

Cost of services revenu 93,87¢ 68,52¢

Research and developmt 169,16: 138,11:

Sales and marketir 302,92- 216,82¢

General and administrati\ 68,23¢ 67,75¢
Operating incom 153,50: 102,18¢
Investment incom 3,40¢ 68t
Interest expense with EMC, r (959) (901)
Other income (expense), r 165 (4,337
Income before income tax 156,11 97,63¢
Income tax provisiol 30,30: 19,21¢
Net income $ 12581 $ 78,42
Net income per weight-average share, basic for Class A and Cla $ 03C $ 0.1¢
Net income per weight-average share, diluted for Class A and Cla $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.1¢
Weightec-average shares, basic for Class A and Cls 417,44« 404,48(
Weighte(-average shares, diluted for Class A and Cla 429,24° 416,85:
(1) Includes sto-based compensation as follov

Cost of license revenu $ 46€  $ 38t

Cost of services revenu 5,58¢ 4,157

Research and developmt 41,88« 34,72

Sales and marketir 22,52: 16,047

General and administrati\ 10,11 8,38t

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $3,649 and $4,5
Due from EMC, ne
Deferred tax asst
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Capitalized software development costs, net anelr
Deferred tax asst
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and ott

Due to EMC, ne

Unearned revent
Total current liabilities
Note payable to EM(
Unearned revent
Deferred tax liability
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (see Nott
Stockholder equity:

Class A common stock, par value $.01; authoriz8A@000 shares; issued and outstanding 118,07

116,701 share
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.0fha@rized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstandin
300,000 share

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Retained earning

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

December 31

March 31,
2011 2010
$1,708,93.  $1,628,96!
1,952,86! 1,694,67!
534,17t 614,72¢
— 55,481
120,55( 100,68¢
251,10¢ 203,11¢
4,567,63: 4,297,65!
421,50( 419,06!
149,75( 151,94!
119,73 149,12¢
209,72 210,92¢
1,580,722 1,568,60!
$7,049,06.  $6,797,31!
$ 72,73t $ 58,91:
401,40¢ 459,81
5,21¢ —
1,309,27: 1,270,42!
1,788,64  1,789,15:
450,00( 450,00(
669,20: 589,66¢
13,13¢ 30,09¢
135,60° 129,96(
3,056,58  2,988,87
1,181 1,167
3,00( 3,00(
2,999,85! 2,955,97.
33,96! 19,63t
954,48: 828,67(
3,99247° 3,808,444
$7,049,06. $6,797,31!

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

A. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Company and Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the ldiag provider of virtualization and virtualizatidrased cloud infrastructure
solutions. VMware’s virtualization infrastructurefevare solutions run on industry-standard deskimmputers and servers and support a wide
range of operating system and application enviranimyas well as networking and storage infrastnestu

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying noteprapared in accordance with accounting princigkserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

These accompanying unaudited consolidated finastagééments have been prepared pursuant to theamderegulations of the Securit
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for interimafigial reporting. In the opinion of managements¢henaudited consolidated financial
statements include all adjustments, consistingoofiial recurring adjustments and accruals, for esfaitement of VMware’s consolidated cash
flows, results of operations and financial conditfor the periods presented. Results of operatimasot necessarily indicative of the results
that may be expected for the full year 2011. Ceritafiormation and footnote disclosures typicallglided in annual consolidated financial
statements have been condensed or omitted. Acglydihese unaudited interim consolidated finanstatements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statatseand related notes included in VMware’s 2010 #airReport on Form 10-K.

VMware was incorporated as a Delaware corporatidt®98 and continues to operate in large measusestsnd-alone company
following the Company’s acquisition by EMC Corpaoat (“EMC”) in 2004 and following VMware’s initigbublic offering of VMware’s
Class A common stock in August 2007. As of MarchZ&111, EMC holds 79.8% of VMware’s outstanding aoom stock, including
33.5 million shares of VMware’s Class A common ktaad all of VMware’s Class B common stock. VMwé&eonsidered a “controlled
company” under the rules of the New York Stock Eamde. VMware historically has received, and corito receive, certain administrative
services from EMC, and VMware and EMC engage ita@®intercompany transactions. Costs incurred {CHor the direct benefit of
VMware, such as rent, salaries and benefits, plaguk-up intended to approximate third-party costs,included in VMware’s consolidated
financial statements. Management believes the gstsmms underlying the consolidated financial statata are reasonable. However, the
amounts recorded for VMware’s intercompany trarieastwith EMC would not be considered arm’s lengtth an unrelated third party by
nature of EMC’s majority ownership of VMware. Thimee, the financial statements included herein matynecessarily reflect the cash flows,
results of operations and financial condition hadware engaged in such transactions with an untkied party during all periods present
Accordingly, VMware’s historical financial informian is not necessarily indicative of what the Comya cash flows, results of operations
and financial condition will be in the future if davhen VMware contracts at arm’s length with urtediathird parties for services the Company
has received and currently receives from EMC.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All intarquany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been éitad. All intercompany transactions with EMC ie ttonsolidated statements of cash
flows will be settled in cash, and changes in tttercompany balances are presented as a compdreagioflows from operating activities.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principlesuisees management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities, the reporteduantsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods, and the disclosure of contingdjabilities at the date of the financial statenseiistimates are used for, but not limited to,
capitalized software development costs, trade vabé valuation, certain accrued liabilities, usdiftes of fixed assets and intangible assets,
valuation of acquired intangibles, revenue reserve®me taxes, stock-based compensation and gemties. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

B. Research and Development and Capitalized SoftwarDevelopment Costs

Costs related to research and development (“R&D8)generally charged to expense as incurred. Qizpiian of material development
costs of software to be sold, leased, or othermiaegketed are subject to capitalization beginningmvtechnological feasibility has been
established and ending when the product is availfaslgeneral release. Judgment is required irrohéteng
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VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

when technological feasibility is established. Glemin judgment as to when technological feasybiditestablished, or changes in VMware’s
business, including go-to-market strategy, wolkdlii materially impact the amount of costs capitadi. For example, if the length of time
between technological feasibility and general ality declines in the future, the amount of castpitalized would likely decrease with a
corresponding increase in R&D expense. In additiMware’s R&D expenses and amounts capitalizeéisvare development costs may not
be comparable to VMware’s peer companies due ferdifices in judgment as to when technological félggihas been reached or differences
in judgment regarding when the product is availdblegeneral release. Generally accepted accouptingiples require annual amortization
expense of capitalized software development codbe tthe greater of the amounts computed usingatieeof current gross revenue to a
product’s total current and anticipated revenuesh® straight-line method over the product’s reriregj estimated economic life. To date,
VMware has amortized these costs using the strdiighimethod as it is the greater of the two amsufibe costs are amortized over periods
ranging from 18 to 24 months, which representgptiogluct’s estimated economic life. The ongoing ssseent of the recoverability of these
costs requires considerable judgment by managewidntespect to certain external factors such dsipated future revenue, estimated
economic life, and changes in software and hardveafenologies. Material differences in amortizationounts could occur as a result of
changes in the periods over which VMware actuadlyerates revenues or the amounts of revenues tgthera

Unamortized software development costs were $1@ilibn and $103.3 million as of March 31, 2011 @necember 31, 2010,
respectively, and are included in capitalized safsmdevelopment costs, net and other on the caolagetl balance sheet.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 20Wyare capitalized $32.3 million (including $4.9liiwin of stock-based
compensation) and $26.0 million (including $4.2lioil of stock-based compensation), respectivelyzosts incurred for the development of
software products. These amounts have been excfual@dR&D expenses on the accompanying consolidsti&tgments of income.
Amortization expense from capitalized amounts w2 % million and $23.7 million for the three montrsded March 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Amortization expense is includedastof license revenues on the consolidated stattsnod income.

C. Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted-average number of comshanes outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is computeditigling net income by the weighted-average nuntfe@ommon shares outstanding and
potentially dilutive securities, as calculated gsihe treasury stock method, outstanding during#héd. Potentially dilutive securities include
stock options, unvested restricted stock unitsested restricted stock awards, other unvestedatestrstock, and purchase options under
VMware’'s employee stock purchase plan. Securitieeacluded from the computations of diluted nebme per share if their effect would be
anti-dilutive. As of March 31, 2011, VMware had 18 illion shares of Class A common stock and 3@@lGon shares of Class B common
stock outstanding that were included in the cattaheof basic earnings per share. VMware useswvtioedass method to calculate earnings per
share as both classes share the same rights @edds, therefore basic and diluted earnings peesra the same for both classes.

The following table sets forth the computationdasic and diluted net income per share for thestmenths ended March 31, 2011 and
2010 (table in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2011 2010
Net income $ 125,81. $ 78,42
Weighte(-average shares, basic for Class A and Cla 417,44 404,48(
Effect of dilutive securitie 11,80: 12,37:
Weightec-average shares, diluted for Class A and Cla 429,24 416,85:
Net income per weight-average share, basic for Class A and Cla $ 0.3C $ 0.1¢
Net income per weight-average share, diluted for Class A and Cla $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1¢

For the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 246k options to purchase 1.5 million and 6.6iomllshares, respectively, of
VMware Class A common stock were excluded fromdihged earnings per share calculations becausedfiect would have been anti-
dilutive. For the three months ended March 31, 2011 million shares of restricted stock were edeld from the diluted earnings per share
calculations because their effect would have begirddutive. No shares of restricted stock werelaged from the diluted earnings per share
calculations for the three months ended March 8102
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VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

D. Investments
Investments as of March 31, 2011 and December@Il) 2onsisted of the following (table in thousands)

March 31, 2011

Cost or Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Aggregate

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency obligatir $ 443,20: $ 304 $ (310) $ 443,19
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securi 672,63 827 (282 673,18(
Foreign governments and m-national agency obligatior 78,81 64 (12 78,86+
Municipal obligations 660,45¢ 367 (387) 660,43¢
Asse-backed securitie 17,001 11 — 17,01-
Mortgage-backed securitie 4,15] 24 — 4,17¢
Total fixed income securitie 1,876,26: 1,597 (991) 1,876,86!
Equity securitie: 20,00( 56,00( — 76,00(
Total investment $1,896,26: $57,59' $ (991) $1,952,86!

December 31, 201!
Cost or Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Aggregate

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency obligatir $ 379,28t $ 32€ $ (310) $ 379,30
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securi 522,67 724 (28€) 523,11!
Foreign governments and m-national agency obligatior 63,10! 72 (13 63,16(
Municipal obligations 660,13t 111 (762) 659,48’
Asse-backed securitie 17,80( 9 — 17,80¢
Total fixed income securitie 1,643,00: 1,24z (1,377 1,642,87!
Equity securitie: 20,00( 31,80( — 51,80(
Total investment $1,663,00- $ 33,04 $(1,37)  $1,694,67

Both the gross realized gains and realized lossésvestments were not material for the three meetided March 31, 2011.

As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, VMveidenot have investments in a continuous unrealiassl position for twelve
months or greater. Unrealized losses on investnants March 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010, whésle been in a net loss position for
less than twelve months were classified by investroategory as follows (table in thousands):

March 31, 2011 December 31, 201/
Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair

Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. government and agency obligatir $124,07¢ $ (310 $109,93: $ (310
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securi 188,77¢ (282) 149,83: (28€)
Foreign governments and m-national agency obligatior 22,24 (12 26,41°* (13
Municipal obligations 280,92! (387) 412,88. (762)
Total investment $616,02: $ (99) $699,06( $ (1,37)

VMware evaluated its investments in fixed incomeusities and publicly traded equity securities &¥larch 31, 2011 and determined
that there were no unrealized losses that indicateather-than-temporary impairment.
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)
Contractual Maturities
The contractual maturities of investments held atd¥ 31, 2011 consisted of the following (tabl¢housands):

Amortized Aggregate

Cost Basis Fair Value
Due within one yea $ 933,58! $ 933,96!
Due after 1 year through 5 ye: 820,39( 820,59:
Due after 5 year 122,28’ 122,31
Total $1,876,26. $1,876,86!

E. Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instrumeis
Fair Value Measurements

Generally accepted accounting principles provia@e tair value is an exit price, representing theant that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orddrgnsaction between market participants. As siaéhyalue is a market-based measurement that
is determined based on assumptions that marketiparits would use in pricing an asset or liabil&g a basis for considering such
assumptions, generally accepted accounting priegipstablished a thréier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputed in measuring fe
value as follows: (Level 1) inputs are quoted wiseactive markets for identical assets or ligibsi; (Level 2) inputs other than the quoted
prices included within Level 1 that are observdbtethe assets or liabilities, either directly ndirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs for
the assets or liabilities in which there is littleno market data, which requires VMware to devéispwn assumptions.

VMware's Level 1 classification of the fair valueeharchy includes money market funds, availablesfle equity securities and certain
available-for-sale fixed income securities becabtsse securities are valued using quoted pricastime markets for identical assets.
VMware's Level 2 classification includes the rendsn of the available-fosale fixed income securities because these sexaudte priced usii
qguoted market prices for similar instruments and-himding market prices that are corroborated tseolkable market data.

The following table sets forth the fair value hietsy of VMware’s money market funds and availaldegale securities, including those
securities classified within cash and cash equntalen the consolidated balance sheet, that wereéresl to be measured at fair value as of

March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (table inghods):

March 31, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $1,527,37 $ — $1,527,37
U.S. government and agency obligatit 151,60( 300,59¢ 452,19¢
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securi — 718,26( 718,26(
Foreign governments and m-national agency obligatior — 83,86: 83,86
Municipal obligations — 662,20t 662,20¢
Asse-backed securitie — 30,00¢ 30,00¢
Mortgage-backed securitie — 4,17¢ 4,17¢
Equity securitie: 76,00( — 76,00(

Total cash equivalents and investme $1,754,97 $1,799,10! $3,554,08!

December 31, 201!
Level 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $1,436,31! $ — $1,436,31!
U.S. government and agency obligatis 66,76: 312,54 379,30!
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securi — 537,54« 537,54«
Foreign governments and m-national agency obligatior — 63,16 63,16
Municipal obligations — 659,48 659,48’
Asse-backed securitie — 55,74¢ 55,74¢
Equity securitie: 51,80( — 51,80(

Total cash equivalents and investme $1,554,88: $1,628,48 $3,183,36!
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VMware, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

VMware’s valuation inputs for foreign currency forward trasts are based on quoted prices and quoted griciervals from public dal
sources. These contracts are typically classifighinvLevel 2 of the fair value hierarchy and aiscdissed below in the derivative instruments
section. VMware does not have any assets or ligsilthat fall into Level 3 of the fair value hiechy.

Derivative Instruments

In order to manage exposure to foreign currencstdiations, VMware enters into foreign currency fardcontracts to hedge a portion of
its net outstanding monetary assets and liabilagasnst movements in certain foreign exchange rateese forward contracts are not
designated as hedging instruments under applicatgieunting guidance, and therefore all changdsaridir value of the forward contracts are
reported in other income (expense), net in the @ateed statements of income. The gains and lams&dMware’s foreign currency forward
contracts generally offset the majority of the gaaimd losses associated with the underlying foreigrency denominated assets and liabilities
that VMware hedges. VMware does not enter into siagive foreign exchange contracts for trading pses.

VMware’s foreign currency forward contracts are gratly traded on a monthly basis with a typicaltcactual term of one month. As of
March 31, 2011, VMware had outstanding forward cacts with a total notional value of $182.2 millidrhe fair value of these forward
contracts was immaterial as of March 31, 2011 aedefore excluded from the table above. The fduesavas measured under Level 2 sources
as discussed above.

F. Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible Asets, Net
Business Combinations

The results of operations of the acquired businemstioned below have been included in VMware’s obidated financial statements
from the date of purchase. Pro forma results ofatmns have not been presented as the resule @dguired business were not material to
VMware's consolidated results of operations inttiree months ended March 31, 2011.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011, VMwacgi@ed a developer of security software for théuaf private network. The
consideration paid for this acquisition was $15ibiom, net of cash. The following table summarizbs allocation of the consideration paid to
the fair value of the tangible and intangible asseqjuired in the three months ended March 31, p@ble in thousands):

Intangible asset $ 4,50(
Goodwill 7,94(
Deferred tax asse 2,51C

Fair value of tangible and intangible assets aeql $14,95(

Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for theee months ended March 31, 2011 consisted dbttmving (table in thousands):

Balance, January 1, 20: $1,568,60!
Increase in goodwill related to business combimest 7,94(
Deferred tax adjustments to purchase price allonaton previous acquisitiol 2,68t
Other adjustments to purchase price allocationgremious acquisition 1,501

Balance, March 31, 201 $1,580,72!
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)
Intangible Assets, Net

The fair value of purchased technology acquire®®are through a business combination and an ggsehase was $12.0 million in
the three months ended March 31, 2011, and thehtezieaverage useful life of the purchased technole§.0 years.

G. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, as of March 31, 2@tilecember 31, 2010 consisted of the followinglé&an thousands):

December 31

March 31,
2011 2010

Equipment and softwal $ 460,55: $ 438,38:
Buildings and improvemen 272,46: 270,78t
Furniture and fixture 53,44: 52,61
Construction in progres 10,71% 3,082
Total property and equipme 797,17: 764,86!
Accumulated depreciatic (375,67)) (345,80()
Total property and equipment, r $ 421,50( $ 419,06"

Depreciation expense was $30.7 million and $2515amiin the three months ended March 31, 2011 201D, respectively.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011, VMwatered into an agreement to purchase the ground feashe parcel adjacent to
VMware's Palo Alto, California headquarters. VMwanade a good faith deposit of $45.0 million, of ehh#5.6 million is non-refundable, to
perform due diligence on the site. Upon the coniquedf the due diligence process, currently expatehe second quarter of 2011, VMware
has the right, at its sole discretion, to eithercped with the purchase or terminate the agreement.

H. Accrued Expenses and Other
Accrued expenses as of March 31, 2011 and Dece®ih@010 consisted of the following (table in thaods):

December 31
March 31,
2011 2010
Salaries, commissions, bonuses, and ber $182,28¢ $ 242,18(
Accrued partner liabilitie 86,60: 94,67¢
Other 132,51° 122,95
Total $401,40¢ $ 459,81

Accrued partner liabilities relate to rebates aradkating development fund accruals for channelngast system vendors and systems
integrators, as well as accrued royalties.

I. Note Payable to EMC

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note payabkeybich $450.0 million remained
outstanding as of March 31, 2011. The note matarépril 2012, with interest payable quarterly imears commencing June 30, 2007. The
interest rate resets quarterly and bears an ittextesof the 9@tay LIBOR plus 55 basis points. For the three meethded March 31, 2011 a
2010, $1.0 million and $0.9 million, respectivedy,interest expense were recorded related to tkee payable. The note may be repaid, without
penalty, at any time commencing July 2007. No repeyts of principal were made during the three moetided March 31, 2011. In April
2011, VMware and EMC entered into discussions terekthe maturity date of the note, and VMware eip® reach an agreement in the
second quarter of 2011.

J. Income Taxes

Although VMware files a consolidated federal tatura with EMC, VMware calculates its income tax yigion on a stand-alone basis.
The Company'’s effective tax rate in the periodsented is the result of the mix of income earnedhious tax jurisdictions that apply a broad
range of income tax rates. The rate at which tlheigion for income taxes is calculated differs frim U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
primarily due to differential tax rates in foreigmisdictions where income is earned and considerydx indefinitely reinvested.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

VMware’s effective income tax rate was 19.4% and@¥®for the three months ended March 31, 2011 &i0,2espectively. The lower
effective rate for the three months ended Marchi2B1,1, compared with the three months ended Mat¢l2@®10, was primarily attributable to
an increase in tax benefits from the federal R&Odeedit relative to income before tax, due torbenactment of the federal R&D tax credit,
which occurred during the fourth quarter of 201BisTwas largely offset by a jurisdictional shiftinfome from lower-tax non-U.S.
jurisdictions to the United State

All income earned abroad, except for previouslethincome for U.S. tax purposes is considered inielfyy reinvested in VMware’s
foreign operations and no provision for U.S. talas been provided with respect thereto.

As of March 31, 2011, VMware had $110.0 milliongrbss unrecognized tax benefits, which exclude$ ##llion of offsetting tax
benefits not recognized on the consolidated balaheets. VMware’s net unrecognized tax benefitsl®.6 million as of March 31, 2011, if
recognized, would benefit VMware’s effective incotag rate. It is reasonably possible that VMware mpay an immaterial amount of the
$109.6 million of net unrecognized tax benefitshivitthe next 12 months. The $109.6 million of netacognized tax benefits were classified
as a non-current liability on the consolidated baéasheet. It is reasonably possible within the a@&xmonths that audit resolutions could
potentially reduce total unrecognized tax bendijtbetween approximately $20 million and $24 milidudit outcomes and the timing of
audit settlements are subject to significant uradety.

VMware recognizes interest expense and penaltiateceto income tax matters in the income tax miowvi. VMware recognized
approximately $0.8 million in interest and penaltfer the three months ended March 31, 2011 andiedc4.9 million of interest and penal
as of March 31, 2011, associated with the net wgyeized tax benefits. These amounts are includedmponents of the $109.6 million of net
unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2011.

K. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, VMware is subject to legal, adistirative and regulatory proceedings, claims, detsand investigations in the

ordinary course of business, including claims wéspect to intellectual property, contracts, emplest and other matters. VMware makes a
provision for a liability when it is both probaltieat a liability has been incurred and the amotith® loss can be reasonably estimated.
Significant judgment is required in both the deti@@ttion of probability and the determination asvtoether a loss is reasonably estimable.
These provisions are reviewed at least quarteidyaatjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiatiaestiements, rulings, advice of legal counsel
and other information and events pertaining toréiqadar matter. While it is not possible to predite outcome of these matters with certainty,
we do not expect the results of any of these astiomave a material adverse effect on our busimesslts of operations or financial condition.
Because litigation is inherently unpredictable, bwer, it is possible that our business, resultspefrations or financial condition could be
negatively affected by an unfavorable resolutiommé or more of such proceedings, claims, demaniwestigations.

Operating Lease Commitments

VMware leases office facilities and equipment undsious operating leases. Facility leases generatlude renewal options. VMwarg’
future lease commitments at March 31, 2011 weffelemvs (table in thousands):

2011 $ 34,10¢
2012 40,10¢
2013 33,77¢
2014 26,12t
2015 19,38¢
Thereaftel 276,42(

Total minimum lease paymer $429,92

The amount of the future lease commitments aft&éb26 primarily for the ground lease on VMware’ddPAlto, California headquarter
facilities, which expires in 2057. As several of Midre’s operating leases are payable in foreigrecaies, the operating lease payments may
fluctuate in response to changes in the exchartgebeaween the U.S. Dollar and the foreign curremai which the commitments are payable.

L. Stockholders’ Equity
VMware Stock Repurchase Programs

In February 2011, a committee of VMware's Boardakectors authorized the repurchase of up to artiaddl $550.0 million of
VMware's Class A common stock through the end df20~rom time to time, stock repurchases may beerpadsuant to the February 2011
authorization in open market transactions or pellyahegotiated transactions as permitted by seéesilaws and other legal requirements.
Purchases under the March 2010 authorization wargleted in March 2011.
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In the three months ended March 31, 2011, VMwapenchased and retired 1.7 million shares of its€k common stock at a weighted-
average price of $85.88 per share for an aggrematdase price of $147.7 million, including commoss. The amount of repurchased shares
was classified as a reduction to additional paidapital. VMware is not obligated to purchase amgrss under its stock repurchase programs.
The timing of any repurchases and the actual numbehares repurchased will depend on a variefaaibrs, including VMware’s stock price,
corporate and regulatory requirements and othekebhand economic conditions. Purchases can berttinced at any time that VMware feels
additional purchases are not warranted. As of M&8dg2011, the authorized amount remaining for refpase was $463.8 million.

VMware Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 EmployeelSRagchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which is intendebletgualified under Section 423
of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of 6.4 millghares of VMware Class A common stock were reskfor future issuance. Under the
ESPP, eligible VMware employees are granted optiomairchase shares at the lower of 85% of thenfairket value of the stock at the time of
grant or 85% of the fair market value at the timexercise. Options to purchase shares are gepgralhted on February 1 and August 1 and
exercisable on the succeeding July 31 and Jandamg8pectively, of each year.

For the purchase period ended January 31, 2011i0idn shares of Class A common stock were pusedaunder the ESPP at a
weighted-average purchase price per share of $6bddhe purchase period ended January 31, 202@nillion shares of Class A common
stock were purchased under the ESPP at a weightdge purchase price per share of $24.45. Thecsgh proceeds from the purchases of
these shares under the ESPP were $26.8 millio$22@8 million, respectively. As of March 31, 20$12.3 million of ESPP withholdings
were recorded as a liability on the consolidatedrize sheet for the next purchase in July 2011.

VMware Shares Repurchased for Tax Withholdings

During the three months ended March 31, 2011 ai® 20Mware repurchased or withheld and retiredriilion shares of Class A
common stock in each respective period for $211RBamiand $10.9 million, respectively, to cover takhholding obligations. As of March 31,
2011, $0.9 million of tax withholding obligationseve recorded as a liability on the consolidatedibze sheet. Pursuant to the respective awar
agreements, these shares were repurchased or Mithfemnjunction with the net share settlementrugiee vesting of restricted stock and
restricted stock units during the period. The valtithe repurchased or withheld shares, includésgricted stock units, was classified as a
reduction to additional paid-in capital as of MaB®h 2011 and 2010, respectively.

M. Comprehensive Income

The following table sets forth the components ahpeehensive income for the three months ended Mait¢R011 and 2010, respectiv
(table in thousands):

For the three months endec

March 31,
2011 2010
Net income $ 125,81 $ 78,42
Other comprehensive inconr
Unrealized gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securities, net of taxes
$10,614 and $25 14,33¢ 422
Reclassification of (gains) losses on availables@le securities recognized
during the period, net of taxes of $(5) anc (8) —
Total other comprehensive incor 14,32¢ 422
Total comprehensive income, net of ta $ 140,13t $ 78,84

In each period presented on VMware’s consolidatddrte sheets, accumulated other comprehensiveenconsisted of unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale securitietsof taxes.

N. Related Party Transactions

In April 2010, VMware acquired certain software gt technology and expertise from EMC'’s lonix I'amagement business for cash
consideration of $175.0 million. EMC retained tbaik brand and will continue to offer customers pheducts acquired by VMware, pursuant
to the ongoing reseller agreement between EMC avidiafe. In the three months ended March 31, 2012,5illion of contingent amounts
was paid to EMC in accordance with the asset psechgreement. This amount was recorded as a reduotthe capital contribution from
EMC. See VMware’s Annual Report on Form 10-K foe fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 for furthirimation.
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Pursuant to the ongoing reseller arrangement wMIC Ehat commenced in 2009, EMC bundles VMware'dpicis and services with
EMC'’s hardware and sells them to end-users. Inhie® months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, VMveregnized revenues of $20.0
million and $6.6 million, respectively, from proda@nd services sold pursuant to VMware’'s resalllmngement with EMC. As of March 31,
2011, $57.5 million of revenues from products aaises sold under the reseller arrangement wetedad in unearned revenue.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 20WQvare recognized professional services revenuéd 4f4 million and $9.2 milliol
respectively, for services provided to EMC'’s custéosnpursuant to VMware’s contractual agreements BNIC. As of March 31, 2011, $3.8
million of revenues from professional services ME&customers were included in unearned revenue.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 20WQvare recognized revenues of $0.5 million and $hillion, respectively, from
server and desktop products and services purcligseEMC for internal use pursuant to VMware’s cootual agreements with EMC. As of
March 31, 2011, $18.8 million of revenues from serand desktop products and services purchaseigyfBr internal use were included in
unearned revenue.

VMware purchased storage systems and softwareekhssvconsulting services, from EMC for $5.8 roifliand $4.3 million in the three
months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

In certain geographic regions where VMware doeshast an established legal entity, VMware contraitls EMC subsidiaries for
support services and EMC employees who are manag®iware’s personnel. The costs incurred by EMCQ/dfware’s behalf related to
these employees are passed on to VMware and VMwalearged a mark-up intended to approximate ¢hatsvould have been charged had
VMware contracted for such services with an unegldhird party. These costs are included as exganséMware’s consolidated statements
of income and primarily include salaries and beeefravel and rent. The total cost of the servimesided to VMware by EMC as described
above was $24.7 million and $17.6 million in theenmonths ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respéctiv

As calculated under VMware's tax sharing agreemsétit EMC, EMC paid VMware $35.4 million in the tleenonths ended March 31,
2011, which was due to a partial refund of 201@fatincome taxes and for a refund of an overpaymedated to the consolidated federal and
state income taxes for the fiscal year ended Deeeib, 2009. No payments were made by EMC to VM@aréhe three months ended
March 31, 2010 under the same tax sharing agreeivibhware paid $5.1 million to EMC in the three mbatended March 31, 2010 for its
portion of EMC’s 2009 consolidated federal incorages. No payments were made to EMC in the thre¢hmanded March 31, 2011. The
amounts that VMware pays to EMC for its portiorfedderal income taxes on EMC'’s consolidated taxrretliffer from the amounts VMware
would owe on a stand-alone basis and the differenpeesented as a component of stockholders’yduithe three months ended March 31,
2011, the difference was not material.

Interest expense with EMC, net, primarily considtgterest expense on the note payable to EM@heérthree months ended March 31,
2011 and 2010, $1.0 million and $0.9 million, regpeely, of interest expense was recorded relatati¢ note payable to EMC and included in
interest expense with EMC, net, recorded on VMwsaoensolidated statements of income. VMware's @geincome and expenses as a
separate, stand-alone company may be higher or livas the amounts reflected in the consolidateaintial statements.

As of March 31, 2011, VMware had $5.2 million doeBMC, which consisted of $29.1 million due to EM#@ytially offset by $23.9
million due from EMC. As of March 31, 2010, VMwahad $0.6 million due from EMC, which consisted 84% million due from EMC,
partially offset by $24.0 million due to EMC. Thesounts resulted from the related party transastéescribed above. In addition to the $5.2
million due to EMC as of March 31, 2011, VMware I%i87.0 million of income taxes receivable due fl@MC, which is included in other
current assets on VMware's consolidated balancetshAs of March 31, 2010, VMware had $3.0 millafrincome taxes receivable due from
EMC and $0.7 million of income taxes payable duEREC. A large portion of the income tax receivaisleelated to 2010 federal income ta
and is expected to be received from EMC in the s@carter of 2011. Balances due to or from EMCcWhgre unrelated to tax obligations are
generally settled in cash within 60 days of eaclrguend. The timing of the tax payments due to and fEdviC is governed by the tax shar
agreement with EMC.

In April 2011, VMware entered into an agreementwviaMC to acquire certain assets relating to EMCtelyicloud-based data storage
and data center services, including certain dattecassets and a license to certain intellectugdgaty, for approximately $8.4 million.
VMware also entered into an operational suppore@gent with EMC pursuant to which VMware will tadeeer responsibility for operating t
Mozy service on behalf of EMC. VMware will hire theore than 300 Mozy employees and, pursuant tsupport agreement, costs incurred
by VMware to support EMC’s Mozy services, plus arkaap intended to approximate thipérty costs, will be reimbursed to VMware by El
and recorded as a reduction to the costs VMwangriad on the consolidated statements of income. E&di&ns ownership of the Mozy
business and its remaining assets and continuas tesponsible to Mozy customers for Mozy prodactds services.
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(unaudited)
O. Segment Information

VMware operates in one reportable segment. Opgratigments are defined as components of an esgigdvout which separate
financial information is evaluated regularly by tttg@ef operating decision maker in deciding hovaltocate resources and assessing
performance. Since VMware operates in one operatiggnent, all required financial segment informatian be found in the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenues by geographic area for the three monttedearch 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows (tebirousands):

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2011 2010
United State: $ 399,55( $ 317,19¢
International 444,17 316,33¢
Total $ 843,72: $ 633,53

No country other than the United States had matexi@nues for the three months ended March 311 202010.

Long-lived assets by geographic area, which primarclude property and equipment, net, as of M&8th2011 and December 31, 2010
were as follows (table in thousands):

December 31
March 31,
2011 2010
United State! $308,60( $ 306,18:
International 41,81¢ 43,36:
Total $350,41¢ $ 349,54!

No country other than the United States accouraed®% or more of these assets at March 31, 200eoember 31, 2010, respectively.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
All dollar amounts expressed as numbers in this MO&xcept per share amounts) are in millions.

Overview

Our primary source of revenues is the licensingifialization and cloud infrastructure solutionslaelated support and services for use
by businesses and organizations of all sizes aradsaaumerous industries in their information textbgy (“IT”) infrastructure. Our
virtualization solutions reflect a pioneering apeb to computing that separates application soéviram the underlying hardware to achieve
significant improvements in efficiency, agility, @lability, flexibility and manageability. Our brdaand proven suite of virtualization solutions
addresses a range of complex IT problems thatdectost and operational inefficiencies, facilitgtaccess to “cloud computing” capacity,
business continuity, software lifecycle managenagat corporate end-user computing device manage@entolutions run on industry-
standard servers and desktop computers and suppaide range of operating system and applicatisir@nments, as well as networking and
storage infrastructures. Our solutions enable drgdinns to aggregate multiple servers, storagaétfucture and networks together into shi
pools of capacity that can be allocated dynamicakgurely and reliably to applications as neettexleasing hardware utilization and reducing
spending. The benefits to our customers includstamiially lower IT costs, cost-effective high dahility across a wide range of applications,
and a more automated and resilient systems infictsiie capable of responding dynamically to vagdhlsiness demands. With our latest
platform, VMware vSphere, we are helping compaalesg the path of cloud computing by providing catilpe IT infrastructures for both
businesses and cloud service providers.

Although we believe we are currently the leadingviter of virtualization infrastructure softwaregions, we face competitive threats
our leadership position from a number of comparsese of which have significantly greater resoutbes we do, which could result in
increased pressure to reduce prices on our offerifvg a result, we believe it is important to coné to invest in strategic initiatives related to
product research and development, market expaasidrmssociated support functions to expand ousinglieadership. We believe that we
will be able to continue to meet our product depetent objectives through continued investment inexisting infrastructure, supplemented
with strategic hires and acquisitions, funded tiglothe operating cash flows generated from thecfader products and services. We believe
this is the appropriate priority for the long-tehmalth and growth of our business.

Our current financial focus is on long-term reveguewth to generate free cash flowvs to fund oura@spon of industry segment share
and to evolve our virtualization-based productsdata centers, desktop computers and cloud contptitiough a combination of internal
development and acquisitions. We expect to growbosiness by broadening our virtualization infrasture software solutions technology and
product portfolio, increasing product awarenessnuting the adoption of virtualization and buildilegng-term relationships with our
customers through the adoption of enterprise lieeggeements (“ELAS"). Since the introduction i92®f VMware vSphere and VMware
View 4, we have introduced more products that baildhe vSphere foundation. In the third quarte2@f0, we released updated versions of
VMware vSphere and VMware View, and we plan to corg to introduce additional products in the futukdditionally, we have made, and
expect to continue to make, acquisitions desigoexdrengthen our product offerings and/or extendstrategy to deliver solutions that can be
hosted at customer data centers or at serviceqesi

In evaluating our results, we also focus on opegathargin excluding certain expenses which areiged in our total operating expenses
calculated in accordance with GAAP. The expensebided are stock-based compensation, the net effeélse amortization and capitalization
of software development costs and certain otheeesgs consisting of employer payroll taxes on eygastock transactions, amortization of
intangible assets and acquisition-related itemsbdlieve this measure reflects our ongoing busiimeasmanner that allows meaningful period-
to-period comparisons. We are not currently focumeghort-term operating margin expansion, buteratim investing at appropriate rates to
support our growth and future product offeringsvimat may be a substantially more competitive emvirent.

As a consequence of the timing differences in doegnition of license revenues and software maamtea revenues, variability in
operating margin can result from differences in wh& quote and contract for our services and whercost is incurred. Variability in
operating margin can also result when we recogmigeiously unearned foreign denominated softwarmt@aance revenues in future periods.
Due to our use of the U.S. Dollar as our functionatency, unearned revenue remains at its histiarate when recognized into revenue while
our operating expenses in future periods are baged the foreign exchange rates at that time.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our presence and to reach various sagroéthe industry. In first
quarter of 2011, we derived over 85% of our salesmfour channel partners, which include distribsitoesellers, system vendors and systems
integrators. Sales to our channel partners ofteolwe three tiers of distribution: a distributorteseller and an end-user

! Free cash flows, a n-GAAP financial measure, is defined as net cashigeavby operating activities plus the excess taelits from

stock-based compensation, less capital expenditim@€apitalized software development costs. Edpisting item is separately
presented on our consolidated statements of cagls fiISe¢' Non-GAAP Financial Measur” for further information
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customer. Our sales force works collaborativelyhvaitir channel partners to introduce them to custsmed new sales opportunities. As we
expand geographically, we expect to continue toatttitional channel partners. The remainder ofsales is primarily derived from purchases
made directly by end-user customers.

In the first quarter of 2011, we benefited fronoaty demand across all regions. Our customers a@dito adopt our product platform as
a strategic investment that improves efficiency fiexibility for their business and enables substdrcost savings. While the overall
macroeconomic environment has improved since teeduarter of 2010, we remain cautious about theroeconomic environment and the
volatility that we are observing in the global eooty. We expect to continue to manage our resoyneegently, while making key investments
in support of our long-term growth objectives.

Income Statement Presentation

As we operate our business in one operating segmentevenues and operating expenses are presamdatiscussed at the consolidated
level.

Sources of Revenue
License revenues

Our license revenues consist of revenues earnedtfre licensing of our software products. Thes@pcts are generally priced and
licensed on a perpetual basis based upon the nwhpégsical desktop computers or server processorghich our software runs. Certain
products are licensed on a subscription basisciffe September 1, 2010, our management solutienpréaced on a per-virtual-machine basis
but continue to be licensed on a perpetual basis. dricing better aligns with our customer’s néedhanage the number of virtual machines,
rather than to the management of physical hardvidcense revenues are recognized when the elernErdsenue recognition for the licensed
software are complete, generally upon electroniersént of the software. The revenues allocatetiecsbftware license included in multiple-
element contracts represent the residual amouheafontract after the fair value of the other edata has been determined.

Softwar e maintenance revenues

Software maintenance revenues are recognized yaiabl the contract period. Our contract periogiscgily range from one to five yee
and include renewals of software maintenance dtdd e initial software maintenance period expiféendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE") of fair value for software maintenance\gees is established by the rates charged in stdortk sales of software maintenance
contracts or the stated renewal rate for softwaamtanance included in the license agreement. @Guestreceive various types of technical
support based on the level of support purchasesto@ers who are party to software maintenance agrets with us are entitled to receive
product updates and upgrades on a when-and-ifedotaibasis.

Professional services revenues

Professional services include design, implememniatind training. Professional services are not demsd essential to the functionality of
our products, as these services do not alter theugt capabilities and may be performed by ourasusts or by other vendors. Professional
services engagements performed for a fixed feeyfich we are able to make reasonably dependatiteagss of progress toward completion,
are recognized on a proportional performance lissed on hours incurred and estimated hours of letioyp. Professional services
engagements that are on a time and materials &@sigecognized based on hours incurred. Revenual oter professional services
engagements are recognized upon completion. Ofegsional services may be sold with software prtglacon a stand-alone basis. VSOE of
fair value for professional services is based uperstandard rates we charge for such services sdidrseparately.

Operating Expenses
Cost of license revenues

Our cost of license revenues principally consi$the amortization of capitalized software devele@mincosts and of intangibles, as well
as royalty costs in connection with technologyriged from third-party providers and the cost dfilfaient of our software. The cost of
fulfillment of our software includes product packag personnel costs and related overhead assdaidtie the physical and electronic delive
of our software products.

Cost of services revenues

Our cost of services revenues includes the cogtersbnnel and related overhead to deliver techsiggport for our products and to
provide our professional services.

Research and devel opment expenses

Our research and development (“R&D”) expenses teline personnel and related overhead associatedhei R&D of new product
offerings and the enhancement of our existing sai@vofferings, net of amounts capitalized.
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Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses include personetd, sales commissions and related overheadiatesbwith the sale and marketing
of our license and services offerings, as welhascost of product launches and certain marketiiigifives, including our annual VMworld
conferences in the U.S. and Europe. Sales commissiee generally earned and expensed when a fiter & received from the customer and
may be expensed in a period different than theoden which the related revenue is recognized.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includeopeel and related overhead costs to support thealbbusiness. These expenses
include the costs associated with our facilitiésaice, human resources, IT infrastructure and dggartments, as well as expenses related to
corporate costs and initiatives.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues for the first quarter of 2011 and 2&®&0as follows:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2011 2010 % Change
Revenues
License $ 419« $ 312 34%
Services
Software maintenanc 363.¢ 267.2 36
Professional service 60.¢ 54.1 13
Total service: 424.7 321.2 32
$ 8437 $ 633:F 33
Revenues
United State: $ 399.f $ 317.2 26%
International 444 ; 316.2 40
$ 843.7 $ 633 33

Total revenues increased by $210.2 or 33% to $843he first quarter of 2011 compared with $638.5he first quarter of 2010. The
revenue mix in the first quarter of 2011 reflecireceases in both license revenues and servicesueg, as compared with the first quarter of
2010.

License Revenues

Software license revenues increased by $106.8%rt845419.0 in the first quarter of 2011 comparéith %312.2 in the first quarter of
2010. We believe license revenues benefited iffitstiequarter of 2011 from the improved macroecoitemvironment, resulting in strong
demand across all geographies. In the first quaftef11, we observed an increase in the volummuoELAs as compared with the first
guarter of 2010, due to growing customer interestss geographies as well as the improving econemiconment. We have promoted the
adoption of virtualization and built long-term retenships with our customers through the adoptibBLoAs. ELAS continue to be an important
component of our revenue growth and are offeretl Qwectly by us and through certain channel pastneL As are core to our strategy to b
long-term relationships with customers as they cdénwrour virtualization infrastructure softwarelgions in their data centers. ELAs provide
a base from which to sell additional products, sa€lour application platform products, our ersgr computing products, and virtualization
cloud management products. Under a typical ELAgréign of the revenues is attributed to the liceassd recognized immediately and the
remainder is deferred and recognized as serviceggenance revenues in future periods. In additirAs typically include an initial
maintenance period that is longer than other tgbdisense sales.

Services Revenues

Services revenues increased by $103.4 or 32% t4.%42 the first quarter of 2011 compared with $32h the first quarter of 2010. The
increase in services revenues during the firsttquaf 2011 was primarily attributable to growthaar software maintenance revenues.
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Software maintenance revenues increased by $9&6%ro $363.8 in the first quarter of 2011 compaméth $267.2 in the first quarter
2010. In the first quarter of 2011, software maiatgce revenues benefited from strong renewalsj-yedtr software maintenance contracts
sold in previous periods, and additional mainteeasuntracts sold in conjunction with new softwacense sales. In the first quarter of 2011,
customers continued to buy, on average, more thancdhths of support and maintenance with each i@nde purchased, which we believe
illustrates our customers’ commitment to VMwareaasore element of their data center architecture.

Professional services revenues increased by $6.8%rto $60.9 in the first quarter of 2011 companéiti $54.1 in the first quarter of
2010. Professional services revenues increase®ashgin our license sales and installed-basedeatiditional demand for our professional
services, including consulting and customer trajnilss we continue to invest in our partners andaexipour eco-system of third-party
professionals with expertise in our solutions tdeipendently provide professional services to ostaruers, we do not expect our professional
services revenues to constitute an increasing coerg®f our revenue mix. As a result of this sggteur professional services revenue can
vary based on the delivery channels used in argngperiod as well as the timing of engagements.

Revenue Growth in Constant Currency

We have invoiced and collected in the Euro, théi®riPound, the Japanese Yen, and the AustraliflarDio their respective regions
since May 2009. As a result, our total revenuesaffeeted by changes in the U.S. Dollar againgdetmirrencies. In order to provide a
comparable framework for assessing how our busipedsrmed excluding the effect of foreign curreffiegtuations, management analyzes
yea-over-year revenue growth on a constant currensisb&ince all of our entities operate with the \DSllar as their functional currency,
revenues for orders booked in currencies other th&n Dollars are converted into unearned reventigeaexchange rate in effect for the mc
in which each order is booked. We calculate congtamrency on license revenues recognized duriagthrent period that were originally
booked in currencies other than U.S. Dollars by garnmg the exchange rates at which the revenueaecagnized against the exchange rate
that was used in the comparable period. We doaloulate constant currency on services revenueishviiclude software maintenance
revenues and professional services revenues. Tdreoyer-year growth in revenues in the first quanfe2011 measured on a constant currency
basis was 34%, compared with 33% as reported.

Unearned Revenues

Our unearned revenues consist of unearned softwairgenance revenues, unearned professional sem&eenues and unearned license
revenues. As of March 31, 2011, total unearnedmees® increased by $118.4 or 6% to $1,978.5 compeitedb1,860.1 from our fiscal year
end as of December 31, 2010. This increase is plimrtue to growth in unearned maintenance reveattgbutable to our growing base of
maintenance contracts. Of the total, $1,673.5lvéltecognized ratably over terms from one to figarg with a weighted-average remaining
term of approximately 1.9 years. This balance mpased of $1,589.1 of software maintenance revemae$84.4 of license revenue. Other
unearned license revenue of $167.1 will be recaghigpon the delivery of either existing or futurequcts or services. Future products
include, in some cases, emerging products thatféeeed as part of product promotions where thelpaser of an existing product is entitled to
receive a promotional product at no additional geaWe regularly offer product promotions, gengral a strategy to build awareness of our
emerging products. To the extent promotional préslace not yet available or VSOE of fair value aatrive established, the revenue for the
entire order is deferred until such time as alldoiet obligations have been fulfilled. Unearned pssfonal services of $137.9 will be recogn
when the services are delivered. Other unearneddierevenues and unearned professional serviegxbs can fluctuate based on the timing
of new orders booked and the timing of product senvice deliveries. We believe our overall uneamss@nue balance improves predictability
of future revenues and that it is a key indicatathe health and growth of our business.
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Operating Expenses
Information about our operating expenses for tret fuarter of 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011

Core Stock- Capitalized
Operating Based Software |
Compen- Developmen TOta.
Operating
Expenses Other
(1) sation Costs, net Expense Expenses
Cost of license revent $ 18.( $ 05 $ 28.F $ 9.C $ 56.C
Cost of services reveni 86.7 5.6 — 1.€ 93.¢
Research and developmt 151.¢ 41.€ (27.9) 2.8 169.2
Sales and marketir 277.% 22.F — 3.1 302.¢
General and administrati\ 57.7 10.1 — 0.4 68.2
Total operating expens $ 591.t $ 80.€ $ 1.1 $ 17.C $ 690.2
Operating incom: $ 153
Operating margil 18.2%
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 201(
Core Stock- Capitalized
Operating Based Software Total
Compen- Developmen Operating
Expenses Other
(1) sation Costs, net Expense Expenses
Cost of license revent $ 12.¢ $ 04 $ 23.7 $ 31 $ 40.1
Cost of services reveni 64.1 4.2 — 0.2 68.t
Research and developmt 123.¢ 34.7 (21.9 i1z 138.1
Sales and marketir 200.( 16.C — 0.8 216.¢
General and administrati\ 57.¢ 8.4 — i35 67.¢
Total operating expens $ 458.5 $ 63.7 $ 1.8 $ 7.1 $ 531.2
Operating incomt $ 102.2
Operating margi 16.1%

(1) Core operating expenses is a non-GAAP finamidsure that excludes stock-based compensat®netreffect of the amortization and
capitalization of software development costs anthaeother expenses from our total operating egpertalculated in accordance with
GAAP. The other expenses excluded are employeiopdsres on employee stock transactions, amortizadf intangible assets and
acquisitior-related items. Se*Non-GAAP Financial Measur” below for further information

Operating margins increased from 16.1% in the §jtstrter of 2010 to 18.2% in the first quarter 012. The increase in our operating
margin in the first quarter of 2011 compared wité first quarter of 2010 primarily relates to therease in our revenues, which outpaced the
increase in our expenses. In evaluating our resuéiggenerally focus on core operating expensesb&lieve that our core operating expenses
reflect our business in a manner that allows megduirperiod-to-period comparisons. Our core operagxpenses are reconciled to the most
comparable GAAP measure, “total operating expehsethe table above.

Core Operating Expenses

The following discussion of our core operating enges and the components comprising our core opgrexipenses highlights the fact
that we focus upon in evaluating our operating rimeagd operating expenses. The increases or desregasperating expenses discussed ir
section do not include changes relating to stodetiaompensation, the net effect of the amortinatitd capitalization of software
development costs and certain other expenses, wbitsist of employer payroll taxes on employeelstransactions, amortization of
intangible assets and acquisition-related item$ostit above.

Core operating expenses increased by $132.8 oni2¥4¢ first quarter of 2011 compared with thetfgaarter of 2010. As quantified
below, these increases were primarily due to irsreén employeeelated expenses, which include salaries and lenbtinuses, commissiol
and recruiting and training. The increase in em@deyelated expenses was largely a result of inaneahbeadcount from strategic hiring,
business growth and business acquisitions.
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A portion of our core operating expenses, primatily cost of personnel to deliver technical supporbur products and professional
services, marketing, and research and developrmaentenominated in foreign currencies, and areekpssed to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. Core operating expenses were nedgiivgacted by $5.8 in the first quarter of 2014 campared with the first quarter of 2010,
due to the effect of fluctuations in the exchargtes between the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies

Cost of License Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of license revengesased by $5.1 or 39% in the first quarter@f2 compared with the first quarter of
2010. The increase was primarily due to an incre&$.5 in royalty and licensing costs for tectugyl licensed from third-party providers that
is used in our products.

Cost of Services Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of services rewangesased by $22.6 or 35% in the first quarte2Gifl compared with the first quarter
of 2010. The increase was primarily due to growtkemployee-related expenses of $13.3, which wasladriven by incremental headcount
from business growth and acquisitions. Additionallysupport of our growing customer base, IT castseased by $5.5 for certain
development initiatives undertaken to enhance mtgrmal customer support tools.

Research and Devel opment Expenses

Core operating expenses for R&D increased by $@82ZB% in the first quarter of 2011 compared wité first quarter of 2010. The
increase was primarily due to growth in employdatesl expenses of $22.0, which was primarily dribgnncremental headcount from
strategic hiring and business acquisitions.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Core operating expenses for sales and marketimgased by $77.3 or 39% in the first quarter of 26drhpared with the first quarter of
2010. The increase was primarily due to growthmpleyee-related expenses of $42.0 driven by increaiéeadcount from strategic hiring
and business acquisitions as well as higher varietsnpensation due to the growth of our businedditidnally, the costs of marketing
programs increased by $10.6 in support of our edipgnmarkets and sales efforts, and travel and&menent expense increased by $8.7,
primarily due to our 2011 sales kick-off meetindnigh had been cancelled in previous years duegtedty measures.

General and Administrative Expenses

Core operating expenses for general and administregmained flat in the first quarter of 2011 cargd with the first quarter of 2010.
However, within the year-over-year change, thers avdecrease of $3.1 related to corporate expens&sjing contributions to our charitable
foundation and legal fees, which was offset by exygé-related expenses due to the incremental griovitbadcount.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2011 2010
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts capita $ 80.€ $ 637
Stoclk-based compensation capitaliz 4.9 4.2
Stoclk-based compensation, including amounts capita $ B85F $ 67.¢

Stock-based compensation expense increased by Blhé first quarter of 2011 as compared withfite quarter of 2010 primarily due
to an increase of $15.4 for grants made to exigimgloyees in the second half of 2010 and an iseref$9.6 for awards made to new
employees, partially offset by an increase in fitufes and fully vested grants.

Stock-based compensation is recorded to each ompextpense category based upon the function ofitingloyee to whom the stock-
based compensation relates and fluctuates basedthpealue and number of awards granted. Compgengattilosophy varies by function,
resulting in different weightings of cash incentiweersus equity incentives. As a result, functiwitl larger cash-based components, such as
commissions, will have comparatively lower stoclsdééh compensation expense than other functions.

As of March 31, 2011, the total unamortized failuesof our outstanding equity-based awards heldurnyemployees was approximately
$580.5 and is expected to be recognized over ahiegigaverage period of approximately 2.2 years.

In future quarters, we expect our total stock-bag®edpensation expense to increase as a resultldfoamhl equity grants we have made
as well as grants we expect to make. Stock-basepeasation expense reported in our accompanyingptidated statements of income is
reduced by the amount of stock-based compensdtaintay be capitalized for the development of neftware products and the amount of
awards that are forfeited.
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Capitalized Software Development Costs, Net

Material development costs of software to be delased, or otherwise marketed are subject to dapit@n beginning when the products’
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. The R&D expenses and amounts that
we capitalize as software development costs map@abmparable to our peer companies due to diffe®in a variety of factors, including
multiple areas of judgment inherent in the assesswfghese costs.

In the first quarter of 2011, we capitalized $3@rluding $4.9 of stock-based compensation) ofcosurred for the development of
software products compared with $26.0 (includind®?$f stock-based compensation) in the first quart®010. These amounts have been
excluded from R&D expense on our accompanying dateted statements of income. The increase in aliged software development costs
of $6.3 in the first quarter of 2011, as comparéith the first quarter of 2010 was primarily duethe timing of when products reached
technological feasibility.

In the first quarter of 2011, amortization expefrsen capitalized software development costs was%28 compared with $23.7 in the
first quarter of 2010. These amounts are includetbst of license revenues on our accompanyingatidlased statements of income. The
increase in the amortization of software developneests of $4.8 in the first quarter of 2011, aspared with the first quarter of 2010 was
primarily related to an increase in amortizatior$8f9 due to the timing of product releases dutfiregyear-over-year period. These increases
were partially offset by $4.1 of amortization fartain capitalized projects that were fully amatizprior to the end of the first quarter of 2011.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses, which consist of emplpggroll tax on employee stock transactions, inialegamortization and acquisition-
related items, increased by $9.9 to $17.0 in tfs djuarter of 2011 as compared with $7.1 in thet §uarter of 2010. The increase was
primarily due to additional intangible amortizatioh$8.9, primarily resulting from new acquisitioras well as an increase of $2.2 in employer
payroll taxes on employee stock transactions, whiak driven by the increase in the market valueuofstock and the number of awards
exercised, sold or vested.

Investment Income

Investment income was $3.4 in the first quarte2@f1 and $0.7 in the first quarter of 2010. Invesitrincome primarily consists of
interest earned on cash, cash equivalents andt&norinvestment balances partially offset by throgtization of premiums paid on fixed
income securities. Investment income increasetderfitst quarter of 2011, as compared with the fjitsarter of 2010 primarily due to a shift
from a cash and cash equivalents portfolio prirganivested in money market funds to a short-termestment portfolio of fixed income
securities during the second quarter of 2010 irota achieve investment returns in line with objectives of principal preservation and risk
management.

Interest Expense with EMC, Net

Interest expense with EMC, net, was $1.0 in thst fuarter of 2011 and $0.9 in the first quarte2@f0. Interest expense with EMC, net
primarily consists of interest expense incurredtennote issued to EMC in April 2007. The interadé on the note payable resets quarterly
is determined using the 90-day LIBOR rate plus &8idpoints, two business days prior to the fiest of each fiscal quarter. The increase in
interest expense in the first quarter of 2011 ,aspared with the first quarter of 2010 was dueigthér interest rates on the note. For the first
quarter of 2011 and 2010, the weighted-averagewas0.85% and 0.80%, respectively.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income, net of $0.2 in the first quarter 812 changed by $4.5 compared with other expens®fi$.3 in the first quarter of 201
primarily due to a lower impact from foreign curegrrate movement, net of hedges, in the first guast 2011 compared with the first quarter
of 2010. In the second quarter of 2011, we soldmeestment in Terremark Worldwide, Inc., which veajuired by Verizon in a cash
transaction, and we realized a gain of $56.0 thihbe recorded as other income (expense), netiirconsolidated statements of income.

Income Tax Provision

Our effective income tax rate was 19.4% for thstfijuarter of 2011 as compared with 19.7% for itts¢ duarter of 2010. The lower
effective rate for the first quarter of 2011, comguhwith the first quarter of 2010, was primarityridutable to an increase in tax benefits from
the federal R&D tax credit relative to income befteix, due to the reenactment of the federal R&rtadit, which occurred during the fourth
quarter of 2010. This was largely offset by a jdidtional shift of income from lower-tax non-U.&risdictions to the United States.

Our rate of taxation in foreign jurisdictions isMer than our U.S. tax rate. Our international inedmprimarily earned by our subsidiar
in Ireland. We believe that any changes to thedtes in Ireland, or any other single country, wloubt have a material impact on our effective
tax rate. All income earned abroad, except for joresly taxed income for U.S. tax purposes is cagrgid indefinitely reinvested in our foreign
operations and no provision for U.S. taxes has peevided with respect thereto.
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Although we file a federal consolidated tax retwith EMC, we calculate our income tax provisionasatand-alone basis. Our effective
tax rate in the periods presented is the resutiemix of income earned in various tax jurisdindhat apply a broad range of income tax r
The rate at which the provision for income taxesaleulated differs from the U.S. federal statutmgome tax rate primarily due to differential
tax rates in foreign jurisdictions where incomedned and considered to be indefinitely reinvested

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes, and exmecbhtinue to be included in su
consolidated group for periods in which EMC owngeast 80% of the total voting power and value wf autstanding stock as calculated for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. The percentagetofg power and value calculated for U.S. fedarabme tax purposes may differ from-
percentage of outstanding shares beneficially ovinyelMC due to the greater voting power of our €lBscommon stock as compared to our
Class A common stock and other factors. Each mewiteeconsolidated group during any part of a cdated return year is jointly and
severally liable for tax on the consolidated retofisuch year and for any subsequently determirédidncy thereon. Should EMC'’s
ownership fall below 80% of the total voting povegrvalue of our outstanding stock in any perioéntkve would no longer be included in the
EMC consolidated group for U.S. federal incomepgarposes, and thus no longer be liable in the eattany income tax liability was
incurred, but not discharged, by any other memb&t@EMC consolidated group. Additionally, our Uf&deral income tax would be reported
separately from that of the EMC consolidated group.

Our effective tax rate for the remainder of 201lyrha affected by such factors as changes in tag, lesgulations or rates, changing
interpretation of existing laws or regulations, impact of accounting for stock-based compensatf@impact of accounting for business
combinations, changes in our international orgaitnashifts in the amount of income before taxhearin the U.S. as compared with other
regions in the world, and changes in overall leeélmcome before tax.

Our Relationship with EMC

As of March 31, 2011, EMC owned 33,466,190 shafédass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shar€dass B common stock,
representing 79.8% of our total outstanding shafe®mmon stock and 97.3% of the combined votinggroof our outstanding common sto

In April 2010, we acquired certain software prodigcthnology and expertise from EMC’s lonix IT maaaggnt business for cash
consideration of $175.0. EMC retained the lonixnigrand will continue to offer customers the prodwtquired by us, pursuant to the ongoing
reseller agreement we have with EMC. In the fitsdrter of 2011, we paid $12.5 of contingent amotm&MC in accordance with the asset
purchase agreement.

Pursuant to the ongoing reseller arrangement WMIC Ehat commenced in 2009, EMC bundles our prodastsservices with EMC’s
hardware and sells them to end-users. In thediratter of 2011 and 2010, we recognized revenu82@D and $6.6, respectively, from
products and services sold pursuant to our ressltangement with EMC. As of March 31, 2011, $5.5evenues from products and services
sold under the reseller arrangement were includeshéarned revenue.

In the first quarter of 2011 and 2010, we recoghigmfessional services revenues of $14.4 and $8spectively, for services providec
EMC's customers pursuant to our contractual agreemeétit£MC. As of March 31, 2011, $3.8 of revenuesiirprofessional services to EN
customers were included in unearned revenue.

In the first quarter of 2011 and 2010, we recoghhim/enues of $0.5 and $1.5, respectively, fromeseand desktop products and serv
purchased by EMC for internal use pursuant to oatractual agreements with EMC. As of March 31, 2(18.8 of revenues from server and
desktop products and services purchased by EM{Dtemal use were included in unearned revenue.

We purchased storage systems and software, assvetinsulting services, from EMC for $5.8 and $4 e first quarter of 2011 and
2010, respectively.

In certain geographic regions where we do not fzewvestablished legal entity, we contract with EMBsidiaries for support services ¢
EMC employees who are managed by our personnelcdsis incurred by EMC on our behalf related taéhemployees are passed on to us
and we are charged a marg-intended to approximate costs that would haes lebarged had we contracted for such servicesanmitimrelate
third party. These costs are included as expensesriconsolidated statements of income and priyniaélude salaries and benefits, travel and
rent. The total cost of the services provided tbyEMC as described above was $24.7 and $17Ieifirst quarter of 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

As calculated under our tax sharing agreement BMIC, EMC paid us $35.4 in the first quarter of 20&vhich was due to a partial
refund of 2010 federal income taxes and for a réfofnan overpayment related to the consolidatedriddand state income taxes for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2009. No payments were byad® C to us for the first quarter of 2010 undex same tax sharing agreement.
paid $5.1 to EMC in the first quarter of 2010 fawr @ortion of EMC’s 2009 consolidated federal in@taxes. No payments were made to
EMC in the first quarter of 2011. The amounts tliatpay to EMC for our portion of federal incomedaxon EMC's consolidated tax return
differ from the amounts we would owe on a standialbasis and the difference is presented as a ewnpof stockholders’ equity. In the first
quarter of 2011, the difference was not material.
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Interest expense with EMC, net, primarily considtsterest expense on the note payable to EM@hérfirst quarter of 2011 and 2010,
$1.0 and $0.9, respectively, of interest expensereeorded related to the note payable to EMC meldded in interest expense with EMC, |
recorded on our consolidated statements of inc@ueinterest income and expenses as a separatd;atme company may be higher or
lower than the amounts reflected in the consoldifiteancial statements.

As of March 31, 2011, we had $5.2 due to EMC, wihichsisted of $29.1 due to EMC, partially offsetf®8.9 due from EMC. As of
March 31, 2010, we had $0.6 due from EMC, whichsisted of $24.6 due from EMC, partially offset 8490 due to EMC. These amounts
resulted from the related party transactions deedrabove. In addition to the $5.2 due to EMC dglaifch 31, 2011, we had $137.0 of income
taxes receivable due from EMC, which is includedtimer current assets on our consolidated baldmeets As of March 31, 2010, we had §
of income taxes receivable due from EMC and $0.in@dme taxes payable due to EMC. A large portibtihe income tax receivable is related
to 2010 federal income taxes and is expected redrved from EMC in the second quarter of 2011aBees due to or from EMC which are
unrelated to tax obligations are generally sefitbechsh within 60 days of each quarter-end. Thénginof the tax payments due to and from
EMC is governed by the tax sharing agreement wiMtCE

In April 2011, we entered into an agreement with@&WM acquire certain assets relating to EMC’s Mopyid-based data storage and ¢
center services, including certain data centertassal a license to certain intellectual propedyapproximately $8.4. We also entered into an
operational support agreement with EMC pursuamtttich we will take over responsibility for operajithe Mozy service on behalf of EMC.
We will hire the more than 300 Mozy employees gndsuant to the support agreement, costs incurecs o support EMC’s Mozy services,
plus a mark-up intended to approximate third-padyts, will be reimbursed to us by EMC and recoraed reduction to the costs we incurred
on the consolidated statements of income . EMGn®t@avnership of the Mozy business and its remgimissets and continues to be respon
to Mozy customers for Mozy products and services.

By nature of EMC’s majority ownership of us, the@amts we recorded for our intercompany transactieitts EMC would not be
considered arns' length with an unrelated third party. Therefdre financial statements included herein may noesearily reflect our financi
condition, results of operations and cash flows\wadengaged in such transactions with an unrethiedi party during all periods presented.
Accordingly, our historical results should not leéied upon as an indicator of our future perforneaas a stand-alone company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the second quarter of 2010, we began invgsti fixed income securities, which drove a shifin cash and cash equivalents to
short-term investments. Our fixed income investnpanrtfolio is denominated in U.S. Dollars and cstsbf various holdings, types and
maturities. Our primary objective for holding fix@ttome securities is to achieve an appropriategtment return consistent with preserving
principal and managing risk.

March 31,
2011 2010
Cash and cash equivale $1,708.¢ $2,756.!
Shor-term investment 1,952.¢ 28.C
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $3,661.¢ $2,784.!

Our operating activities in the three months endedch 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, generatéftismt cash to meet our operating
needs. Our cash flows for the three months endedhvViil, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2011 2010
Net cash provided by (used il
Operating activitie! $ 477.¢ $ 355.(
Investing activities (368.5) (176.9
Financing activitie: (29.9 91.£
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 79.¢ $ 270.(

In evaluating our liquidity internally, we focus tong-term, sustainable growth in free cash flowd e non-GAAP cash flows from
operating activities (“non-GAAP operating cash f&)v We define norGAAP operating cash flows as net cash providedg®rating activitie:
less capitalized software development costs pleeitess tax benefits from stock-based compensatierdefine free cash flows, also a non-
GAAP financial measure, as hon-GAAP operating dbmshs less capital expenditures. See “Non-GAAP Raoial Measures” for additional
information.
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Our non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cashsléor the three months and trailing twelve morghded March 31, 2011 and 2010
were as follows:

For the Three Months For the Trailing Twelve Months
Ended March 31, Ended March 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010

Net cash provided by operating activit $477.¢ $355.( $ 1,297. $ 1,081.
Capitalized software development cc (27.9) (21.9) (69.7) (60.5)
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic 50.C 23.€ 249.k 49.¢
Non-GAAP operating cash flow 500.t 357.( 1,477.: 1,070.°
Capital expenditure (27.0) (31.7) (127.6) (98.7)
Free cash flow $473.F $325.¢ $ 1,349.¢ $ 972.(

Free cash flows increased by $377.6 or 39% to $163#r the trailing twelve months ended March 3111, compared with $972.0 for
the trailing twelve months ended March 31, 201 TFitrease was primarily due to increased salesedatkd cash collections.

Historically, we have invested excess cash predantiyin money market securities that are liquid ahhigh quality investment grade.
The fair value for money market securities is dateed based on quoted market prices as of the tiatudate. We limit the amount of our
domestic and international investments with angleinissuer and any single financial institutiong afso monitor the diversity of the portfolio,
thereby diversifying the credit risk. In the secaparter of 2010, we began investing in fixed ineasecurities. As of March 31, 2011, we held
a diversified portfolio of money market funds aidetl income securities, which primarily consisthajhly liquid debt instruments of the U.S.
government and its agencies, U.S. municipal okitgat and U.S. and foreign corporate debt secaritie

As of March 31, 2011, our total cash, cash equittaleand short-term investments were $3,661.8,hiflw$1,648.4 was held outside the
U.S. Our intent is to indefinitely reinvest our ROKS. funds in our foreign operations and our aurpans do not demonstrate a need to
repatriate them to fund our U.S. operations.

We expect to continue to generate positive cashsflivom operations in 2011 and to use cash geret@perations as our primary
source of liquidity. We believe that existing castd cash equivalents, together with any cash gestefilom operations will be sufficient to
meet normal operating requirements including sgiatacquisitions and capital expenditures for asteéhe next twelve months.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities is driverooy net income, adjusted for non-cash items andgdmin assets and liabilities. Non-
cash adjustments include depreciation, amortizatfdntangible assets, amortization of premiumsipgion purchase of investments in our
fixed income portfolio, stock-based compensatiopegse, deferred income taxes, excess tax bemiitssdtock-based compensation and other
adjustments. Net changes in assets and liabilitere impacted by increases in unearned revenués iperiods presented, and we expect this
trend to continue in the future.

Cash provided by operating activities increase®182.9 to $477.9 in the first quarter of 2011, @ pared with $355.0 in the first
guarter of 2010. The increase was the result afieease in cash collections from customers driwestrong sales volume. The increase in
cash collections was partially offset by increasesur core operating expenses, primarily relatesh¢remental headcount from strategic hiring
and business acquisitions as well as an increathe iexcess tax benefit from stock-based compamsdtie to the increase in market value of
our stock.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities is primarily ititable to the purchase of fixed income securitiesiness acquisitions, capital
expenditures and capitalized software developmestisc Cash provided by investing activities is ity attributable to the sales or maturities
of fixed income securities.

We began investing in fixed income securities dyitime second quarter of 2010 to achieve our objedf an appropriate investment
return consistent with the preservation of printgrad management of risk. Total fixed income sdamgiof $598.8 purchased in the first que
of 2011 are classified as cash outflows from inngstctivities. We classify these investments aststerm investments on our consolidated
balance sheets based upon the nature of the seandttheir availability for use in current opeoats or for other purposes, such as business
acquisitions and strategic investments. These caflows were partially offset by cash inflows @&6@B.7 as a result of the sales and maturities
of these fixed income securities.
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In the first quarter of 2011, we paid $15.0 fonsibess acquisition as compared with $106.6 paistddous acquisitions in the first
guarter of 2010. Business acquisitions are an itapbelement in our industry and we expect to carito consider additional strategic
acquisitions in the future.

In the first quarter of 2011, we entered into areagent to purchase the ground lease for the padgatent to our Palo Alto, California
headquarters. We made a good faith deposit of $45Which $5.6 is nomefundable, to perform due diligence on the sitgotythe completic
of the due diligence process, currently expectetiersecond quarter of 2011, we have the riglduasole discretion, to either proceed with
purchase or terminate the agreement.

Financing Activities

Proceeds from the issuance of our Class A commawk $tom the exercise of stock options and the lpase of shares under the VMware
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), were $90d25409.8 in the first quarter of 2011, and 20&8pectively.

In the first quarter of 2011, the cash inflows wpaetially offset by cash outflows of $147.7 toweghase shares of our Class A common
stock as part of our stock repurchase programBebruary 2011, a committee of our Board of Directauthorized the repurchase of up to an
additional $550.0 of our Class A common stock tigfothe end of 2012. From time-to-time, stock repases may be made pursuant to the
February 2011 authorization in open market tramsastor privately negotiated transactions as peeahiby securities laws and other legal
requirements. Purchases under the March 2010 ézdtion were completed in March 2011.

In the first quarter of 2011, we repurchased atidet 1.7 million shares of our Class A common ktata weighted-average price of
$85.88 per share for an aggregate purchase prigg4af.7, including commissions. We are not oblidatepurchase any shares under our stock
repurchase programs. The timing of any repurchaseéghe actual number of shares repurchased vp#mieon a variety of factors, including
our stock price, corporate and regulatory requimgsiand other market and economic conditions. Rusehcan be discontinued at any time
we feel that additional purchases are not warram$edf March 31, 2011, the authorized amount remagifor repurchase was $463.8.

There were additional cash outflows of $21.9 an@d $1in the first quarter of 2011 and 2010, respetyfi to cover tax withholding
obligations in conjunction with the net share setttnt upon the vesting of restricted stock unitsrastricted stock. Additionally, the excess
tax benefit from stock-based compensation was $&0d0$23.9 in the first quarter of 2011 and 20&6pectively, and is shown as a reduction
to cash flows from operating activities and an @ase to cash flows from financing activities. Tlearyover-year change in the repurchase of
shares and the excess tax benefit from stock-basagensation in the first quarter of 2011 was prilpaue to the increase in the market
value of our stock and the number of awards exedcisold or vested.

Future cash proceeds from issuances of common atatkhe excess tax benefit from stock-based cogsapien and future cash outflows
to repurchase our shares to cover tax withholdligyations will depend upon, and could fluctuagndficantly from period-to-period based on
the market value of our stock, the number of awardscised, sold or vested, the tax benefit redl@ed the tax-affected compensation
recognized.

Note Payable to EMC

As of March 31, 2011, $450.0 remained outstandim@ oote payable to EMC. The note matures in A8l2 with interest payable
guarterly in arrears commencing June 30, 2007 .ifiteeest rate resets quarterly and bears an intextesof the 90-day LIBOR plus 55 basis
points. In April 2011, we entered into discussianth EMC to extend the maturity date of the noted ave expect to reach an agreement in the
second quarter of 2011.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacoonfinancial results.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Finaaldileasures in Commission Filings,” defines andspribes the conditions for use
of non-GAAP financial information. Our measuresofe operating expenses, non-GAAP operating cas¥sfand free cash flows each meet
the definition of a non-GAAP financial measure.

Core Operating Expenses

Management uses the non-GAAP measure of core apgetpenses to understand and compare operasnfig@cross accounting
periods, for internal budgeting and forecastingopses, for short- and long-term operating plansatoulate bonus payments and to evaluate
our financial performance, the performance ofritividual functional groups and the ability of op&ons to generate cash. Management
believes that core operating expenses reflect osinbss in a manner that allows for meaningfulqueto-period comparisons and analysis of
trends in our business, as they exclude certairresgs that are not reflective of our operatingltgsu

We define core operating expenses as our totabtipgrexpenses excluding the following componentsch we believe are not
reflective of our operational expenses. In eacle c&@s the reasons set forth below, managemergvedithat excluding the component provi
useful information to investors and others in ustierding and evaluating our operating results ahdd prospects in the same manner as
management, in comparing financial results acrossunting periods and to those of peer companidsabetter understand the long-term
performance of our core business.
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. Sock-based compensation . Stocl-based compensation expense is generally fixecedtrtte the stoc-based instrument is grant
and amortized over a period of several years. Alginostock-based compensation is an important agpétoe compensation of our
employees and executives, determining the fairevafithe stock-based instruments can involve a déegree of judgment and
estimation and the expense recorded may bearrisiemblance to the actual value realized by thetge. Furthermore, unlike cash
compensation, the value of stock-based compensiatsubject to varying valuation methodologies aabjective assumptions
related to different award types and incorporatetain factors, such as market volatility, that lsegond our contro

. Amortization and capitalization of software development costs. Amortization and capitalization of software deyeient costs can
vary significantly depending upon the timing of goets reaching technological feasibility and beimade generally availabl

. Other expenses. Other expenses excluded are employer payroll tamesmployee stock transactions, amortization fnigible
assets and acquisition-related items. The amouatnplioyer payroll taxes on stock-based compensa&idapendent on our stock
price and other factors that are beyond our coamdl do not correlate to the operation of the ssinRegarding the amortizatiot
intangible assets, a portion of the purchase mifi@r acquisitions is generally allocated to imfiéafe assets, such as intellectual
property, and is subject to amortization. Additibahe amount of an acquisition’s purchase petiecated to intangible assets and
the term of its related amortization can vary digantly and are unique to each acquisition. Acigjois-related items include direct
costs of acquisitions, such as transaction feegharary significantly and are unique to each asijoin. However, we do not
acquire businesses on a predictable ¢\

Non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cash flows

We define non-GAAP operating cash flows as net pashiided by operating activities less capitaliseftware development costs plus
the excess tax benefits from stock-based compensaie define free cash flows as non-GAAP operatemh flows less capital expenditures.
Management uses non-GAAP operating cash flows ethanmeasure of cash flows from operations becthiseneasure offers a perspective
of our operating cash flows that aligns with hownagement internally views our overall and individiuactional group operating results.
When viewing operating results for evaluating oastgperformance and for planning purposes, managiegreludes certain items, including
the effect of capitalizing and amortizing softwaeelopment costs and items related to stock-bemegensation, which are also excluded in
the nonGAAP operating cash flows measure. Managementfusegash flows as a measure of financial progreesr business, as it balan
operating results, cash management and capitalesfiy. In addition to quarterly free cash flowsgmagement also focuses on trailing twelve
month free cash flows, as free cash flows can tegtil®in the short-term.

We believe that our measures of TBAAP operating cash flows and free cash flows mteuviseful information to investors and other:
they allow for meaningful period-to-period comparis of our operating cash flows for analysis afidsin our business. Additionally, we
believe that information regarding non-GAAP opergtcash flows and free cash flows provides invesioid others with an important
perspective on cash that we may choose to makkabhefor strategic acquisitions and investmethts,repurchase of shares, operations and
other capital expenditures.

We deduct capitalization of software developmestefrom both measures because these costs aider@alsto be a necessary
component of our operations and the amount capgtlunder GAAP can vary significantly from periadperiod depending upon the timing
products reaching technological feasibility anchigenade generally available. Consequently, softwaxelopment costs paid out during a
period that are capitalized under GAAP and do mputsict GAAP operating cash flows for that periodesult in a decrease to our measures of
non-GAAP operating cash flows and non-GAAP freendésws, thereby providing management with usefelasures of cash flows generated
from operations during the period. We add backetteess income tax benefits from stock-based conapienso our measures of non-GAAP
operating cash flows and free cash flows as manageimternally views cash flows arising from incotages as similar to operating cash
flows rather than as financing cash flows as reglirnder GAAP. Furthermore, we exclude capital ealfiares on property and equipment
from free cash flows because these expenditureslsoeconsidered to be a necessary component afpauations.

Limitations on the use of Non-GAAP financial meases

A limitation of our non-GAAP financial measuresaufre operating expenses, non-GAAP operating cas¥sfand free cash flows is that
they do not have uniform definitions. Our definit®owill likely differ from the definitions used ther companies, including peer companies,
and therefore comparability may be limited. Thus, mon-GAAP measures of core operating expenses@Q#fAP operating cash flows and
free cash flows should be considered in additiomdd as a substitute for, or in isolation from,aseres prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Additionally, in the case of stock-based compensaif we did not pay out a portion of compensafiothe form of stock-based compensation
and related employer payroll taxes, the cash salgpgnse included in costs of revenues and opgrexipenses would be higher which would
affect our cash position. Further, the non-GAAP soe@ of core operating expenses has certain limisbecause it does not reflect all items
of income and expense that affect our operatiodsaa@ reflected in the GAAP measure of total ofegagxpenses.
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We compensate for these limitations by reconcitioge operating expenses to the most comparable Giilw&Rcial measure.
Management encourages investors and others toar@iefinancial information in its entirety, not tely on any single financial measure and
to view our non-GAAP financial measures in conjimetwith the most comparable GAAP financial measure

See “Results of Operations—Operating Expensesi feconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measafeore operating expenses to
the most comparable GAAP measure, “total operamgenses,” for the quarters ended March 31, 20d28h0.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a rectiation of non-GAAP operating cash flows and fresit flows to the most comparable
GAAP measure, “net cash provided by operating #igts;” for the quarters ended March 31, 2011 a@t2

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligabns, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

There were no substantial changes to our guaramédemnification obligations or our contractocammitments in the first quarter of
2011.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@relection and application of accounting prilesmenerally accepted in the United
States of America that require us to make estimatdsassumptions about future events that affecathounts reported in our financial
statements and the accompanying notes. Futuresearndttheir effects cannot be determined with oeytaTherefore, the determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actsllts could differ from those estimates, and sush differences may be material to our
financial statements. We believe that the critamaounting policies set forth within Item 7 of @010 Annual Report on Form 10-K may
involve a higher degree of judgment and compleixittheir application than our other significant @agnting policies and represent the critical
accounting policies used in the preparation offmancial statements. If different assumptionsamditions were to prevail, the results coulc
materially different from our reported results.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwmimaking statements, including, without limitaticsstatements regarding: the
potential role of our products in cloud computimglather shifts in computing infrastructures; expgons of, and our plans for, achieving
future business growth; macroeconomic conditiontre product offerings; plans for future acquisis; our view of the competitive landsci
and our plans for maintaining our leadership posijtfunding expansion of our industry segment shacedeveloping long term relationships
with our customers; our relationship with EMC; qlains for meeting product development objectivesiatroducing new products; our
revenue outlook and mix; customer demand for oadpets; trends in enterprise license agreementA”"Ekize and renewals and information
technology (“IT”) spending in general; projectioofs and expectations for, stock-based compensatipense; the delivery of professional
services to our customers; the sufficiency of aquwitlity and capital reserves to fund our operatiand business strategy; continuation of our
stock repurchase program; factors effecting ouptasition; our expectations for the amendment ofrmie payable to EMC, the potential to
purchase real estate adjacent to our headquasterplans regarding cash, cash equivalents and-tsrar investments held in non-U.S.
accounts and our belief that the resolution of rndlaims, legal proceedings and investigationibveit have a material adverse effect on us.

These forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties and the cautionary statements st &move and those contained in the
section of this report and our Annual Report onnfr@0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 28itliled “Risk Factors” identify
important factors that could cause actual resaldifer materially from those predicted in any Bdorward-looking statements. We assume no
obligation to, and do not currently intend to, utgdidnese forward-looking statements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
Foreign Exchange Risk

We operate in foreign countries, which expose usaoket risk associated with foreign currency extfgarate fluctuations between the
U.S. Dollar and various foreign currencies, the nsaggnificant of which is the Euro.

International revenues as a percentage of totalhneas were 52.6% in the first quarter of 2011 eéh8% in the first quarter of 2010.
Historically, our revenue contracts were primadgnominated in U.S. Dollars. In May 2009, we betgaimvoice and collect in the Euro, the
British Pound, the Japanese Yen and the AustrBi@lar in their respective regions. Additionallypartion of our operating expenses,
primarily the cost of personnel to deliver techhma#pport on our products and professional seryigales and sales support and research and
development, are denominated in foreign currengiesyarily the Australian Dollar, the Japanese Ytae, Euro and the Canadian Dollar.
Revenues resulting from selling in local curren@ad costs incurred in local currencies are exptséareign exchange rate fluctuations wr
can affect our operating income. As exchange radegs operating margins may differ materially frexpectations.
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Operating expenses were negatively impacted by ®8l®n in the first quarter of 2011 and $12.0 kwih in the first quarter of 2010, due
to fluctuations in the exchange rates between ti$ Dollar and foreign currencies as compared thighsame period in the prior year.

To manage the risk associated with fluctuationfeiaign currency exchange rates, we utilize denresfinancial instruments, such as
foreign currency forward contracts. We enter irdefgn currency forward contracts to hedge a poribour net outstanding monetary assets
and liabilities against movements in certain foneégchange rates. Our foreign currency forwardremts are generally traded on a monthly
basis with a typical contractual term of one mowth.of March 31, 2011, we had outstanding forwardt@acts with a total notional value of
$182.2 million. The fair value of these forward tracts was immaterial as of March 31, 2011. Therele no assurance that our hedging
activities will adequately protect us against tis&s associated with foreign currency fluctuatiohdypothetical adverse foreign currency
exchange rate movement of 10% would have resultedpiotential loss in fair value of our foreign muncy forward contracts of $18.2 million
as of March 31, 2011. This sensitivity analysisetigrds any potentially offsetting gain that mayabsociated with the underlying foreign-
currency denominated assets and liabilities thahedge. This analysis also assumes a parallel selgéift of all foreign currency exchange
rates against the U.S. Dollar; however, foreigmeney exchange rates do not always move in suchrmer and actual results may differ
materially. We do not enter into speculative fone@xchange contracts for trading purposes. See Bttehe consolidated financial statements
for further information.

Interest Rate Risk
Fixed Income Securities

During the second quarter of 2010, we began invgsti fixed income securities. Our fixed incomeastment portfolio is denominatec
U.S. Dollars and consists of various holdings, $yapd maturities.

Our primary objective for holding fixed income sdtias is to achieve an appropriate investmentrretonsistent with preserving
principal and managing risk. At any time, a shasp im interest rates or credit spreads could laavaterial adverse impact on the fair value of
our fixed income investment portfolio. Hypothetichlanges in interest rates of 50 basis points 80dbasis points would have changed the
value of our fixed income investment portfolio dsvtarch 31, 2011 by $7.6 million and $15.3 milliaespectively. This sensitivity analysis
assumes a parallel shift of all interest rates, @, interest rates do not always move in sucla@n@r and actual results may differ materiz
We monitor our interest rate and credit risk, iéhg our credit exposures to specific rating categoand to individual issuers. There were no
impairment charges on our cash equivalents and fixeome securities during the first quarter of ROIhese instruments are not leveraged
we do not enter into speculative securities faditrg purposes. See Notes D and E to the consatidmi@ncial statements for further
information.

Note Payableto EMC

As of March 31, 2011, $450.0 million was outstaigdim our consolidated balance sheet in relatidghéaote payable with EMC. The
interest rate on the note payable was 0.85% asanfiv31, 2011 and 0.80% as of March 31, 2010.drfitht quarter of 2011 and 2010,
$1.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively, of @mest expense was recorded related to the notdlgaya

The note may be repaid, without penalty, at angtifrhe note matures in April 2012 and bears amésteate of the 90-day LIBOR plus
55 basis points, with interest payable quarterlgriears. The interest rate on the note resetseglyaand is determined on the two business
days prior to the first day of each fiscal quarterApril 2011, we entered into discussions with ENb extend the maturity date of the note,
we expect to reach an agreement in the secondequir2011. If the interest rate on the note pagal@re to change 100 basis points from the
March 31, 2011, rate and assuming no additionaye@nts on the principal were made, our annuatastexpense would change by $4.5
million.

Equity Price Risk

Our investments in equity securities expose usatkat risk associated with publicly traded equégirities. These investments are
classified as short-term investments on our codatdid balance sheets. A hypothetical change ofd@320% in the publicly traded price for
our investments in equity securities would havengea the fair value of these investments by $716amiand $15.2 million, respectively, as
March 31, 2011.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exglkaict, under the supervision and with the paréittgn of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, of the efftiveness of the design and operation of ourasscke controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the drnileoperiod covered by this report. Based oneliduation, our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer concluded that alisclosure controls and procedures were effectiyerdvide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in teorts that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\cecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange

29



Table of Contents

Commissions rules and forms and to provide reasonable asseithat such information is accumulated and comoated to our manageme
including our principal executive officer and pripal financial officer, as appropriate to allow &ty decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Repontj

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the fiscal quarter endéarch 31, 2011 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and intexoatirol over financial reporting are designed tovide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives as specified above. Manzent does not expect, however, that our disatosotrols and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent ortdet all error and fraud. Any control system, naterahow well designed and operated, is
based upon certain assumptions and can providereagpnable, not absolute, assurance that itstokgsavill be met. Further, no evaluation
controls can provide absolute assurance that nessénts due to error or fraud will not occur ortthihcontrol issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected.

30



Table of Contents

PART Il
OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note K to the Consolidated Financial Statemiarfart |, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on FotfQ for a description of legal
proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors that appear below could materiaffect our business, financial condition and rissaf operations. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the onlysraskd uncertainties facing us. Our business issalbfect to general risks and uncertainties
affect many other companies.

Risks Related to Our Business

The virtualization and cloud computing products arsgtrvices we sell are now increasingly targetee@merging applications and therefore
the potential market for our products remains undain.

Our products and services are based on computaahiation and related technologies that have ariilgnbeen used for virtualizing on-
premises data centers. We are also designing odupts and services for use in emerging applicataaa platform for cloud computing and
end-user computing. Cloud computing applicatiomsofar products and services include infrastrucase-service, or “laaS,” platform-as-a-
service, or “PaaS,” and software-as-a-serviceSaaS". Our success depends on organizations atairers perceiving technological and
operational benefits and cost savings associatéddtixe increasing adoption of virtual infrastruetwiolutions for on-premises data centers as
well as for cloud computing and end-user computikithough the use of virtualization technologiessamvers and in on-premises data centers
has gained acceptance for enterprise-level apjaitatthe extent to which adoption of virtualizatiimr cloud computing and end-user
computing remains uncertain. As the markets forpsaducts mature and the scale of our businessases, the rate of growth in our product
sales will likely be lower than those we have eigrered in earlier periods. In addition, to the exthat virtualization infrastructure solutions
are adopted more slowly or less comprehensively #imexpect, our revenue growth rates may slow miadlteor our revenue may decline
substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that corddult in a loss of customers, reduced revenueslecreased operating margins.

The virtualization, cloud computing, and end-usenputing markets are inter-related and rapidly engl, and we expect competition to
significantly intensify in the future. For exampMicrosoft continues to make incremental improvetaea its virtual infrastructure and virtual
management products. Microsoft also has cloud-begeibuting offerings. We also face competition frother companies that have
announced a number of new product initiativesaatles and consolidation efforts. For example, XC8§istems continues to enhance its end-
user and server virtualization offerings and now aalient hypervisor in the market. IBM, Googlel skmazon have existing cloud computing
offerings and announced new cloud computing imiteet Red Hat has also released commercial versibiisiux that have virtualization
capabilities as part of the Linux kernel (“KVM”) drhas also announced plans for cloud computingymtsd Other companies have also
indicated their intention to expand offerings atwal management and cloud computing solutions.

We believe that the key competitive factors inthualization and cloud computing markets include:

. the level of reliability and new functionality ofgduct offerings

. the ability to provide comprehensive solutions/uding management capabilitie

. the ability to provide er-users access to their applications and data frottipieudevices and through multiple content delix
mechanisms

. the ability to offer products that support multiplerdware platforms and operating syste

. the proven track record of formulating and delingra roadmap of virtualization and cloud computiagabilities;
. competitive pricing of products, individually andbundles

. theability to attract and preserve a large installadebof customer:

. the ability to attract and preserve a large nunobapplication developers to develop to a giverudlecosysternr
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. the ability to create and maintain partnering opyaties with hardware vendors, infrastructure wafe vendors and cloud serv
providers;

. the ability to develop robust indirect sales chasyrend
. the ability to attract and retain cloud, virtuatisa and systems experts as key employ

Existing and future competitors may introduce pidun the same markets we serve or intend to sangecompeting products may hi
better performance, lower prices, better functitpand broader acceptance than our products. Gupetitors may also add features to their
virtualization, end-user and cloud computing pradwimilar to features that presently differentiate product offerings from theirs. Many of
our current or potential competitors also have &raperating histories, greater name recognitengdr customer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing ether resources than we do. This competition coesdlt in increased pricing pressure and :
and marketing expenses, thereby materially redusimgoperating margins, and could harm our abititincrease, or cause us to lose, market
share. Increased competition also may preventams éntering into or renewing service contractsesms similar to those that we currently
offer and may cause the length of our sales cycledrease. Some of our competitors and potemiapetitors supply a wide variety of
products to, and have well-established relatiorsshijth, our current and prospective end-usersekample, small to medium sized businesses
and companies in emerging markets that are evatuite adoption of virtualization-based technolegiad solutions may be inclined to
consider Microsoft solutions because of their éxgstise of Windows and Office products. Some of¢heompetitors have in the past and may
in the future take advantage of their existingtiefeships to engage in business practices that rmakproducts less attractive to our end-users.
Other competitors have limited or denied supparttieir applications running in VMware virtualizati environments. These distribution,
licensing and support restrictions, as well as otlusiness practices that may be adopted in theelty our competitors, could materially
impact our prospects regardless of the merits opoeducts. In addition, competitors with existirgationships with our current or prospective
end-users could in the future integrate competitigabilities into their existing products and mékam available without additional charge.
For example, Oracle provides free server virtuéiimasoftware intended to support Oracle and Bwacle applications, and Microsoft offers
own server virtualization software packaged wighWindows Server product and may offer built-irtwédization for future releases of the
client version of Windows. Competitors may alsoelege open source technologies to offer zero orclast products capable of putting pric
pressure on our own product offerings. By engagingich business practices, our competitors caimgimcompetitive advantages we may
possess by incentivizing end-users to choose ptsdlat lack some of the technical advantages obwom offerings.

We also face potential competition from our pané&ior example, third parties currently selling products could build and market th
own competing products and services or market caingperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profi@imargins could be materially and adversely aéféct

Ongoing uncertainty regarding global economic cotidhs and the stability of regional financial marke may reduce information
technology spending below current expectations ahdrefore adversely impact our revenues, impede-asdr adoption of new products al
product upgrades and adversely impact our competitposition.

Our business depends on the overall demand fomirEtion technology and on the economic health ofcourent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfincapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions or significant uncertainty netjag the stability of financial markets could ads&ly impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations in a numbexa@ys, including by lengthening sales cycles, aifecthe size of enterprise license agreerr
(“ELASs”) that customers will commit to, loweringipes for our products and services, reducing waléss reducing the rate of adoption of our
products by new customers and the willingness akeat customers to purchase upgrades to our egiptioducts.

Ongoing economic uncertainty has also resulteceitecal and ongoing tightening in the credit marketser levels of liquidity, increas:
in the rates of default and bankruptcy and sigaiftovolatility in the credit, equity and fixed ino@ markets. As a result, current or potential
customers may be unable to fund software purchadesh could cause them to delay, decrease or tancehases of our products and
services. Even if customers are willing to purchaseproducts and services, if they do not meetcoedit requirements, we may not be able to
record accounts receivable or unearned revenuecognize revenues from these customers until wavwepayment, which could adversely
affect the amount of revenues we are able to rézedn a particular period.

In addition, although we plan to continue makingtgtgic investments in our business, many of ourpeiitors have significantly greater
financial, technical and other resources than weadd if the economic recovery is anemic or notanoed, they may be better positioned to
continue investment in competitive technologies.

Industry alliances or consolidation may result im¢reased competitior

Some of our competitors have made acquisitionsitared into partnerships or other strategic retetidps to offer more comprehensive
virtualization and cloud computing solutions thheyt individually had offered. For example, in 20R@d Hat acquired Makara, a developer of
PaaS solutions, and Citrix acquired VMLogix, a deper of lab management solutions that can be
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applied to cloud computing. Citrix Systems contmt@work in close collaboration with Microsofttime desktop virtualization market.
Moreover, information technology companies areeasingly seeking to deliver top-to-bottom IT salas to end-users that combine
enterprise-level hardware and software solutionzéwide an alternative to our virtualization ptath. For example, in early 2010, Oracle
completed its acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Whicas both a hardware vendor and a provider dfialitation technology, and Microsoft
and Hewlett-Packard announced a collaboration basedicrosoft’'s cloud computing and virtualizatipfatforms. We expect these trends to
continue as companies attempt to strengthen ortaiaitheir market positions in the evolving virtization infrastructure and enterprise IT
solutions industry. Many of the companies drivihgttrend have significantly greater financial hteical and other resources than we do and
may be better positioned to acquire and offer cemgintary products and technologies. The companialfiances resulting from these
possible combinations may create more compellinglyet offerings and be able to offer greater pgdiexibility than we can or may engage
in business practices that make it more difficattds to compete effectively, including on the badiprice, sales and marketing programs (
as providing greater incentives to our channelngast to sell a competitor’s product), technologyprduct functionality. This competition
could result in a substantial loss of customera @duction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating results
falling below expectations or our guidance, whiclowald cause the price of our Class A common stocki&zline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a wakéfactors, many of which are outside of our cohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis naype meaningful. Our past results should not bed@pon as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionooir quarterly sales typically occurs during the fasnth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegrise technology. As a result, our quarterly afieg results are difficult to predict even in
the near term. If our revenues or operating redaltdelow the expectations of investors or sa@sianalysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our Class A oam stock would likely decline substantially.

In addition, factors that may affect our operatiegults include, among others:

. general economic conditions in our domestic anerirdtional markets and the effect that these ciomdithave on our custom’
capital budgets and the availability of funding $oftware purchase

. fluctuations in demand, adoption rates, sales syatal pricing levels for our products and servi
. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ra
. changes in custom¢ budgets for information technology purchases arttiértiming of their purchasing decisiol

. the timing of recognizing revenues in any givenrtgrawhich, as a result of software revenue rettmgnpolicies, can be affecte
by a number of factors, including product announeets, beta programs and product promotions thataase revenue recognition
of certain orders to be deferred until future prduo which customers are entitled become avaiji

. the sale of our products in the time frames wecgrdte, including the number and size of ordersaioh quartel

. our ability to develop, introduce and ship in aglygnmanner new products and product enhancemeattsnet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsg

. the timing of the announcement or release of upggad new products by us or by our competit

. our ability to maintain scalable internal systemsreporting, order processing, license fulfillmgorioduct delivery, purchasing,
billing and general accounting, among other fundii

. our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpenses
. changes to our effective tax ra
. the increasing scale of our business and its effectur ability to maintain historical rates of gtb;

. our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant expereeircsoftware development and
sales;

. our ability to conform to emerging industry starafaand to technological developments by our contgeetand customer
. renewal rates for ELAs as original ELA terms exp

. the timing and amount of software development ctbstsare capitalized beginning when technolodieasibility has been
established and ending when the product is availslgeneral releas

. unplanned events that could affect market percemtfdhe quality or co-effectiveness of our products and solutions;
. the recoverability of benefits from goodwill anddngible assets and the potential impairment cfdlesset:
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If operating system and hardware vendors do not gemate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or acces:
certain information about their new products to em® that our solutions interoperate with those pnacts, our product development efforts
may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux artiden operating systems and the hardware devicesroérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly iegusubstantial partnering, capital investmenteamgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijpg systems and hardware. Operating system arbiiare vendors may not provide us
with early access to their technology and prodwagsist us in these development efforts or shateavisell to us any application programming
interfaces, or APIs, formats, or protocols we magad If they do not provide us with the necessarlyeaccess, assistance or proprietary
technology on a timely basis, we may experienceyrbdevelopment delays or be unable to expangmgucts into other areas. To the ex
that software or hardware vendors develop prodhetscompete with ours or those of our controlktgckholder, EMC, they may have an
incentive to withhold their cooperation, declinestare access or sell to us their proprietary Aftlstocols or formats or engage in practices to
actively limit the functionality, or compatibilitygnd certification of our products. To the extdrdttwe enter into collaborations or joint
development and marketing arrangements with ceh@idware and software vendors, vendors who convgteour collaborative partners
may similarly choose to limit their cooperation lwits. In addition, hardware or operating systendeesmay fail to certify or support or
continue to certify or support our products foritleystems. If any of the foregoing occurs, ourduat development efforts may be delayed or
foreclosed and our business and results of opestitay be adversely affected.

Our new product and technology initiatives subjecs to additional business, legal and competitiveks.

Over the last several years, we have introducedpreduct and technology initiatives that aim todeage our virtualization infrastructu
software products into the emerging areas of ctmrdputing and end-user computing as alternativéiset@rovisioning of physical computing
resources. In connection with our September 20Q8isition of SpringSource, we announced our intentd use SpringSource solutions to
extend VMware’s strategy to deliver solutions ie fmerging PaaS market and have since, also adds@mFire and RabbitMQ as part of
VMware’s overall PaaS strategy. Additionally, Sgi8ource’s current offerings and their underlyingmgource technology position us in the
enterprise and web application development and genant markets. Our February 2010 acquisition oftia extended our footprint to
cloud-based email and collaboration services +tagfd/Mware’s strategy to extend into the emergBapS market. We also recently
announced our vCenter family of products to motly fmanage virtualized and cloud environments, Whitay cause us to compete with other
virtualization management vendors. In April 201% announced CloudFoundry, a VMware-operated deeeldpud service and a new open
source PaaS project.

These initiatives may present new and difficulhiealogy challenges, end-users may choose not ot ado new product or service
offerings, and we may be subject to claims if costts of these offerings experience service dispaptor failures, security breaches or other
quality issues. Further, the success of these fifl@rirgs depends upon the cooperation of hardvearyware and cloud hosting vendors to
ensure interoperability with our products and offempatible products and services to end-users.

The cloud computing and end-user computing maiketsn early stages of development. Other compagieking to enter and develop
competing standards for the cloud computing marketh as Microsoft, IBM, Oracle, Google and Amazamg the endiser computing marke
such as Citrix and Microsoft, have introduced @ ldeely to introduce their own initiatives that yneompete with or not be compatible with
cloud and end-user computing initiatives which ddirhit the degree to which other vendors developlpcts and services around our
offerings and end-users adopt our platforms. Adddilly, our operating margins in our newer initras may be lower than those we have
achieved in the markets we currently serve, we wgtd to develop appropriate pricing strategie®fmmew product initiatives, and we may
not be successful enough in these newer activitiescoup our investments in them. If any of thesevto occur, it could damage our reputa
limit our growth and negatively affect our operatiresults.

We rely on distributors, resellers, system vendansl systems integrators to sell our products, and failure to effectively develop, manage
or prevent disruptions to our distribution channetnd the processes and procedures that support titeld cause a reduction in the
number of end-users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimigiand increasing the number of our relationshijils distributors, resellers, system
vendors and systems integrators. Because we refystributors, resellers, system vendors and sysiatagrators, we may have little or no
contact with the ultimate users of our productsreby making it more difficult for us to establistand awareness, ensure proper delivery and
installation of our products, service ongoing custo requirements, estimate end-user demand andneés$p evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreerd training them in the use of our technology pratiuct offerings requires
significant time and resources. In order to develog expand our distribution channel, we must ocomtito expand and improve our processes
and procedures that support our channel, includirgnvestment in systems and training, and thosegsses and procedures may become
increasingly complex and difficult to manage. Timeet and expense required for sales and marketiganazations of our channel partners to
become familiar with our product offerings, inclndiour new product developments, may make it miffiewt to introduce those products to
end-users and delay end-user adoption of our ptadterings.
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We generally do not have long-term contracts orimmimn purchase commitments with our distributorsehers, system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with thbaarel partners do not prohibit them from offenamrgducts or services that compete with
ours. Our competitors may be effective in providingentives to existing and potential channel padrio favor products of our competitors or
to prevent or reduce sales of our products. Cesggtem vendors now offer competing virtualizatwaducts preinstalled on their server
products. Additionally, our competitors could atf@rto require key distributors to enter into exelitg arrangements with them or otherwise
apply their pricing or marketing leverage to disame distributors from offering our products. Aatiogly, our channel partners may choose
not to offer our products exclusively or at all.r@ailure to maintain and increase the number lati@nships with channel partners would lik
lead to a loss of endsers of our products which would result in us ngog lower revenues from our channel partners e€huf our distributor
each accounted for more than 10% of revenues ifirdiehree months of 2011 and in the fiscal y2at0, and we have experienced similar
concentrations in prior periods. Our agreementh ditributors are typically terminable by eitharty upon 90 daygjrior written notice to th
other party, and neither party has any obligatmpurchase or sell any products under the agreamfitiie we believe that we have in place,
or would have in place by the date of any such iteation, agreements with replacement distributaficsent to maintain our revenues from
distribution, if we were to lose the distributioargices of a significant distributor, such lossldduave a negative impact on our results of
operations until such time as we arrange to replaese distribution services with the servicesxidteng or new distributors.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors and the weakness in dtadarkets increases our potential
credit risk. Additionally, weakness in credit marsecould affect the ability of our distributors, sellers and customers to comply with the
terms of credit we provide in the ordinary coursehbusiness. Accordingly, if our distributors, redets and customers find it difficult to
obtain credit or comply with the terms of their af# obligations, it could cause significant fluctugons or declines in our product revenues.

Three of our distributors each accounted for mbaat10% of revenues in the first three months afl2énd in the fiscal year 2010, and
we have experienced similar concentrations in @iods. We anticipate that sales of our prodtectslimited number of distributors will
continue to account for a significant portion of ¢atal product revenues for the foreseeable fufline concentration of product sales among
certain distributors increases our potential crasgiks. For example, approximately 44% of our taiadounts receivable as of March 31, 2011
was from three distributors. Some of our distribsitmay experience financial difficulties, which &badversely impact our collection of
accounts receivable. One or more of these distiibutould delay payments or default on credit edgeinto them. Our exposure to credit risks
of our distributors may increase if our distribwt@nd their customers are adversely affected bgltitEl economic downturn, or if there is a
continuation or worsening of the downturn. Additadig, we provide credit to distributors, resellesad certain end-user customers in the
normal course of business. Credit is generallyreded to new customers based upon a credit evatu&redit is extended to existing
customers based on ongoing credit evaluationsr, pagment history, and demonstrated financial §tgbAny significant delay or default in
the collection of significant accounts receivabield result in an increased need for us to obtairkimg capital from other sources, possibly
worse terms than we could have negotiated if wedsaablished such working capital resources pa@utch delays or defaults. Any significant
default could result in a negative impact on osutes of operations.

The large majority of our revenues have come fromr @ata center virtualization products including audlagship VMware vSphere product
line. Decreases in demand for our data center vatization products could adversely affect our reubf operations and financial conditiol

In fiscal year 2010, approximately 80% of our lisemevenues were from our data center virtualimadiod infrastructure solutions with
the balance from our other solutions. Although wee@ntinuing to develop other applications for eutualization technology such as our
cloud computing and end-user computing productsexpect that our data center virtualization prodtd related enhancements and
upgrades will constitute a majority of our reveffioiethe foreseeable future. Declines and variabilitdemand for our data center virtualizat
products could occur as a result of:

. improved products or product versions being offdrg@ompetitors in our market

. competitive pricing pressure

. failure to release new or enhanced versions oflata center virtualization products on a timelyikasr at all;
. technological change that we are unable to addviteour data center virtualization products;

. general economic conditior

Additionally, as more and more businesses achiteittualization of their data centers and otffefunctions, the market for our
VMware vSphere product line may become saturafese Ifail to introduce compelling new features irtiure upgrades to our VMware vSph
product line or develop new applications for outudlization technology, demand for VMware vSpheigy decline.

Due to our product concentration, our businessiltesf operations, financial condition, and cashvE would therefore be adversely
affected by a decline in demand for our data ceritaralization products.
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Our revenues, collection of accounts receivable dimancial results may be adversely impacted byctiuation of foreign currency exchange
rates. Although foreign currency hedges can offseime of the risk related to foreign currency flucitions, we will continue to experience
foreign currency gains and losses in certain instaas where it is not possible or cost effective éalgpe our foreign currency exposure

Our revenues and our collection of accounts rebédvmay be adversely impacted as a result of fatatns in the exchange rates betw
the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies. For examwke have distributors in foreign countries thayrivecur higher costs in periods when the
value of the U.S. Dollar strengthens against foreigrrencies. One or more of these distributorddcdalay payments or default on credit
extended to them as a result. Any significant delagiefault in the collection of significant accésineceivable could result in an increased 1
for us to obtain working capital from other sourdésve determine that the amount of accounts red#e to be uncollectible is greater than
estimates, we would recognize an increase in batledg@ense, which would have a negative impactwmesults of operations. In addition, in
periods when the value of the U.S. Dollar strengshe&e may need to offer additional discounts, cedurices or offer other incentives to
mitigate the negative effect on demand.

Since the second quarter of 2009, we have invaoeldcollected in certain non-U.S. Dollar denomidaterrencies, thereby conducting a
portion of our revenue transactions in currencibgiothan the U.S. Dollar. Although this programymalieviate credit risk from our distributc
during periods when the U.S. Dollar strengthenshitts the risk of currency fluctuations to us andy negatively impact our revenues,
anticipated cash flows and financial results dututctuations in foreign currency exchange ratestipularly the Euro, the British Pound, the
Japanese Yen and the Australian Dollar relatiéoU.S. Dollar. While variability in operating ngam may be reduced due to invoicing in
certain of the local currencies in which we alstognize expenses, increased exposure to foreigarayr fluctuations will introduce additional
risk for variability in revenue-related componeatur consolidated financial statements.

Since July 2009, we have entered into foreign ewwydorward contracts to hedge a portion of ourmastanding monetary assets and
liabilities against movements in certain foreigrleange rates. Although we expect the gains anddams our foreign currency forward
contracts to generally offset the majority of tlang and losses associated with the underlyindggioreurrency denominated assets and
liabilities that we hedge, our hedging transactior@y not yield the results we expect. Additionallig expect to continue to experience foreign
currency gains and losses in certain instancesenher not possible or cost effective to hedgefoueign currency exposures.

We are dependent on our management and our key igraent personnel, and the loss of key personnelrpeaevent us from implementing
our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueétesrof our existing management. We are also sotistig dependent on the
continued service of our key development persoforgiroduct innovation. We generally do not havepapment or non-compete agreements
with our existing management or development persband, therefore, they could terminate their emplent with us at any time without
penalty and could pursue employment opportunitigls any of our competitors. Changes to managenmhkay employees can also lead to
additional unplanned losses of key employees. e df key employees could seriously harm ourtghii release new products on a timely
basis and could significantly help our competitors.

Because competition for our target employees i®irge, we may not be able to attract and retain highly skilled employees we need
support our planned growth, and our compensatiorpexses may increas

To execute on our strategy, we must continue tacitaind retain highly qualified personnel. Contpmtifor these personnel is intense,
especially for senior sales executives and engsneih high levels of experience in designing ardedoping software. We may not be
successful in attracting and retaining qualifiedspanel. We have from time to time in the past elgpeed, and we expect to continue to
experience in the future, difficulty in hiring anetaining highly skilled employees with approprigtelifications. Many of the companies with
which we compete for experienced personnel havatgreesources than we have. In addition, in makmgloyment decisions, particularly in
the high-technology industry, job candidates oftensider the value of the stock options, restristedk grants or other stock-based
compensation they are to receive in connection thigir employment. Declines in the value of oucktoould adversely affect our ability to
attract or retain key employees and result in iaseel employee compensation expenses. If we fattriact new personnel or fail to retain and
motivate our current personnel, our business attdigrowth prospects could be severely harmed.

We may become involved in litigation that may maadly adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involved in vasitegal proceedings relating to matters incidetatahe ordinary course of our
business, including patent, commercial, produdility, employment, class action, whistleblower ater litigation and claims, and
governmental and other regulatory investigatiorts noceedings. Such matters can be time-consurdivgrt management’s attention and
resources and cause us to incur significant exgeRsgthermore, because litigation is inherentlgredictable, there can be no assurance that
the results of any of these actions will not haveaderial adverse effect on our business, restitperations or financial condition.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual proptgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to incL
significant expenses to enforce our right

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights matyb®adequate to preclude misappropriation of ooprietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilibygolice such misappropriation or infringementngertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiatgpt applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggowill require us to narrow our claims. To theeekthat additional patents are issued from
our patent applications, which are not certainy timayy be contested, circumvented or invalidatetthénfuture. Moreover, the rights granted
under any issued patents may not provide us waprn@tary protection or competitive advantages, asdvith any technology, competitors
may be able to develop similar or superior techgiel® to our own now or in the future. In additiere rely on confidentiality or license
agreements with third parties in connection withittuse of our products and technology. There iguarantee that such parties will abide by
the terms of such agreements or that we will be sbhdequately enforce our rights, in part becateseely on “click-wrap” and “shrink-wrap”
licenses in some instances.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedai our products, technology and proprietarytadgd expensive, difficult and, in
some cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessdhe future to enforce or defend our intelletfr@perty rights, to protect our trade sec
or to determine the validity and scope of the pietpry rights of others. Such litigation could rik$ni substantial costs and diversion of
management resources, either of which could hambasiness, financial condition and results of aiens, and there is no guarantee that we
would be successful. Furthermore, many of our curaed potential competitors have the ability tdidate substantially greater resources to
protecting their technology or intellectual progenights than we do. Accordingly, despite our efpwe may not be able to prevent third
parties from infringing upon or misappropriating autellectual property, which could result in stantial loss of our market share.

We provide access to our hypervisor and other selésource code to partners, which creates addiiarsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanrsu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, vhis incorporated in the source
code for our products. We seek to protect the socode, design code, documentation and other irdftiom relating to our software, under
trade secret and copyright laws. However, we h&osen to provide access to our hypervisor and attlected source code to more than 50 of
our partners for co-development, as well as fomopBls, formats and protocols. Though we generalytrol access to our source code and
other intellectual property, and enter into confiti@ity or license agreements with such partnassyell as with our employees and consult
our safeguards may be insufficient to protect cane secrets and other rights to our technology.ptatective measures may be inadequate,
especially because we may not be able to prevergantners, employees or consultants from violading agreements or licenses we may have
in place or abusing their access granted to ouceczode. Improper disclosure or use of our sococe could help competitors develop
products similar to or better than ours.

We are, and may in the future be, subject to claiysothers that we infringe their proprietary tecbiogy which could force us to pay
damages or prevent us from using certain technolagyur products.

Companies in the software and technology industwes large numbers of patents, copyrights, tradksyand trade secrets and
frequently enter into litigation based on allegas®f infringement or other violations of intelleat property rights. This risk may increase as
the number of products and competitors in our marareases and overlaps occur. In addition, aslekmown information technology
company, we face a higher risk of being the sulijéattellectual property infringement claims. Aokaim of infringement by a third party,
even one without merit, could cause us to incustutiial costs defending against the claim, anddodistract our management from our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a ciésaccessful, could secure a judgment that reguils to pay substantial damages. A
judgment could also include an injunction or otbeurt order that could prevent us from offering ptoducts. In addition, we might |
required to seek a license for the use of suctiésteal property, which may not be available omaeercially reasonable terms or at all.
Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofminging technology, which could require significaffort and expense and may ultimately
not be successful. Any of these events could selsidiarm our business, operating results and fiaaoondition. Third parties may also assert
infringement claims against our customers and chlgpertners. Any of these claims could requirecusitiate or defend potentially protracted
and costly litigation on their behalf, regardle$she merits of these claims, because we gendralgmnify our customers and channel part
from claims of infringement of proprietary rightkthird parties in connection with the use of omducts. If any of these claims succeed, we
may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our mueste or channel partners, which could negativeigcabur results of operations.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our products and subjegs to possible litigation.

A significant portion of the products, technologtesservices acquired, licensed, developed or efféry us may incorporate so-called
“open source” software, and we may incorporate gquemce software into other products in the futdaditionally, open source technology
underlies the offerings of SpringSource and Zimbtesinesses we have acquired since 2009, as weliraSloud
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Foundry offerings that we launched in 2011. Suabnogource software is generally licensed by ite@nstor other third parties under open
source licenses, including, for example, the GNW&al Public License, the GNU Lesser General Pulitiense, “Apache-style” licenses,
“BSD-style” licenses and other open source licenses. We manitauise of open source software in an effort midhgubjecting our products
conditions we do not intend. Although we believattiwe have complied with our obligations undertagous applicable licenses for open
source software that we use, there is little olegal precedent governing the interpretation of ynafithe terms of certain of these licenses,
therefore the potential impact of these terms arboginess is somewhat unknown and may resultamticipated obligations regarding our
products and technologies. For example, we maybjested to certain conditions, including requiretsethat we offer our products that use
the open source software for no cost, that we nagkéable source code for modifications or derwtivorks we create based upon
incorporating, using or distributing the open seusoftware and/or that we license such modificatimnderivative works under the terms of
particular open source license. Any of these olibbga could have an adverse impact on our intellgtroperty rights and our ability to derive
revenue from products incorporating the open sosofsvare.

If an author or other third party that distribugesch open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. If our defenses were
not successful, we could be subject to significkamhages, enjoined from the distribution of our pieid that contained the open source
software and required to comply with the foregategditions, which could disrupt the distributiordasale of some of our products. In
addition, if we combine our proprietary softwarghwdpen source software in a certain manner, usgi®e open source licenses we could be
required to release the source code of our prapyietoftware, which could substantially help oumpetitors develop products that are similar
to or better than ours.

In addition to risks related to license requirersgnsage of open source software can lead to grésite than use of third party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or assurance of il controls on origin of the software. In
addition, many of the risks associated with usdgsgpen source such as the lack of warranties arrasses of title, cannot be eliminated, and
could, if not properly addressed, negatively affaat business. We have established processesp@leliate these risks, including a review
process for screening requests from our developorgainizations for the use of open source and adimdpappropriate due diligence of the
use of open source in the products developed byaaias we acquire, but we cannot be sure thapalh source software is submitted for
approval prior to use in our products or is disecededuring due diligence.

Our SpringSource, Zimbra and Cloud Foundry produofferings rely upon and incorporate open source sweére technologies that subject
us to additional risks and challenges, which coulgsult in increased development expenses, delaydisnuptions to the release or
distribution of those software solutions, and in@sed competition.

In September 2009, we completed our acquisitiocBmfngSource and, in February 2010, we completecoquisition of Zimbra. In

April 2011, we launched our Cloud Foundry PaaSrofée Each provides product offerings that broaddg open source software solutions.
Software solutions that are substantially or molsiged on open source software subject us to aemmhbisks and challenges:

. If open source software programmers, most of whamw not employ, do not continue to develop andieod open source
technologies, our development expenses could bedsed and our product release and upgrade schexulkel be delaye:

. One of the characteristics of open source softigatieat anyone can modify the existing softward@relop new software that
competes with existing open source software. Assalt, competition can develop without the degifeeverhead and lead time
required by traditional proprietary software comiganlt is also possible for new competitors withager resources than ours to
develop their own open source solutions, potegti@tiucing the demand for, and putting price pnessa, our solutions

. It is possible that a court could hold that thetises under which our open source products anttegsrare developed and licens
are not enforceable or that someone could asstaitra for proprietary rights in a program develoed distributed under them.
Any ruling by a court that these licenses are mébreeable, or that open source components of mdygt or services offerings
may not be liberally copied, modified or distribdtenay have the effect of preventing us from distting or developing all or a
portion of our products or services. In additidoghsors of open source software employed in dieriofjs may, from time to time,
modify the terms of their license agreements imsaumanner that those license terms may no lorggeompatible with other open
source licenses in our offerings or our end-usenise agreement or terms of service, and thus ,camldng other consequences,
prevent us from continuing to distribute the softevaode subject to the modified license or termseofbice.

. Actions to protect and maintain ownership and adrdver our intellectual property could adversdfiget our standing in the open
source community, which in turn could limit our ktlgito continue to rely on this community, uponialhnwe are dependent, as a
resource to help develop and improve our open sgun@ducts and service

If we are unable to successfully address the angdle of integrating offerings based upon open sotachnology into our business, our
ability to realize revenues from such offeringslw#é negatively affected and our development costg increase.
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Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, sales efforts require considerable time and expeasd timing of sales is subject to
changing purchasing behaviors of our customers. &sesult, our sales are difficult to predict and maary substantially from quarter to
quarter, which may cause our operating results tadtuate significantly.

The timing of our revenues is difficult to predi€tur sales efforts involve educating our custonadcut the use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitiestgntial cost savings to an organization and adged compared to lowepst products offere
by our competitors. Customers typically undertalsggaificant evaluation process that has in the pesulted in a lengthy sales cycle which
typically lasts several months, and may last a pedonger. We spend substantial time, effort armhey on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce any sdieaddition, product purchases are frequently sttliebudget constraints, multiple approvals,
and unplanned administrative, processing and atblays. Moreover, the greater number of competaiternatives, as well as announcements
by our competitors that they intend to introducepetitive alternatives at some point in the futwamn lengthen customer procurement cycles,
cause us to spend additional time and resourceducate end-users on the advantages of our proffadnhgs and delay product sales. These
factors can have a particular impact on the tingind length of our ELA sales cycles.

Additionally, our quarterly sales have historicalgflected an uneven pattern in which a dispropoédtie percentage of a quarter’s total
sales occur in the last month, weeks and daysabf @aarter. Similarly, our yearly sales have histily reflected a disproportionate percent
of the year's sales in the fourth fiscal quartdre3e patterns make prediction of revenues, earaimgisvorking capital for each financial period
especially difficult and uncertain and increasertbke of unanticipated variations in financial cétigh and results of operations. We believe
uneven sales pattern is a result of many factatading the following:

. the tendency of customers to wait until late iruarter to commit to a purchase in the hope of abtgimore favorable pricing

. the fourth quarter influence of customers spenttiedr remaining capital budget authorization ptmnew budget constraints in the
first nine months of the following year; a

. seasonal influence

If sales expected from a specific customer forri@dar quarter are not realized in that quarteatoall, our results could fall short of
public expectations and our business, financiatitam and results of operations could be matsriativersely affected.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yearfsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investrireresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oegnesand development expenses were over
20% of our total revenues, in the first three merah2011 and in the fiscal year 2010. Our futdeang include significant investments in
software research and development and related grogportunities. We believe that we must contitudedicate a significant amount of
resources to our research and development effortgatntain our competitive position. However, weymat receive significant revenues from
these investments for several years, if at all.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technolog@tenges with new solutions and services offeringshich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are charaete by rapid technological changes, changingacust needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry staadaiT he introduction of thirgarty solutions embodying new technologies andethergenci
of new industry standards could make our existimg) faiture software solutions obsolete and unmabiet&Ve may not be able to develop
updated products that keep pace with technolodieatlopments and emerging industry standards adtidress the increasingly
sophisticated needs of our customers or that iptgede with new or updated operating systems ardWase devices or certify our products to
work with these systems and devices. As a reseltnay not be able to accurately predict the lifeept our software solutions, and they may
become obsolete before we receive the amount ehtess that we anticipate from them. There is norasse that any of our new offerings
would be accepted in the marketplace. Significadtictions in server-related costs or the rise aenadficient infrastructure management
software could also affect demand for our softwsnletions. As hardware and processors become nooverful, we will have to adapt our
product and service offerings to take advantagbefncreased capabilities. For example, whilentr@duction of more powerful servers
presents an opportunity for us to provide bettedpcts for our customers, the migration of serteiguad-core and greater multi-core
microprocessor technology also allows an end-ustdrawiven number of licensed copies of our soferta more than double the number of
virtualization machines run per server socket withtaving to purchase additional licenses fromfuany of the foregoing events were to
occur, our ability to retain or increase marketrstend revenues in the virtualization software raadould be materially adversely affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services and develop apprajgribusiness and pricing models.

If we are unable to develop new products and sesyititegrate acquired products and services, eehamd improve our products and
support services in a timely manner or position/angdrice our products and services to meet mat&etand, customers
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may not buy new software licenses from us or reseftware license updates and product support. ditiad, information technology
standards from both consortia and formal standsetting forums as well as de facto marketplacedstals are rapidly evolving. We cannot
provide any assurance that the standards on whéctha@ose to develop new products will allow usampete effectively for business
opportunities in emerging areas such as cloud ctingpu

New product development and introduction involvessgmificant commitment of time and resources anslibject to a number of risks
and challenges including:

. managing the length of the development cycle fov peoducts and product enhancements, which hasdrdty been longer the
we originally expectec

. managing custome’ transitions to new products, which can result ilgein their purchasing decisior
. adapting to emerging and evolving industry stanslartd to technological developments by our comgretdnd customer
. entering into new or unproven markets with whichhege limited experienc

. tailoring our business and pricing models apprdelyaas we enter new markets and respond to cotivegpressures and
technological change

. incorporating and integrating acquired products t@atinologies; an
. developing or expanding efficient sales chanr

In addition, if we cannot adapt our business motieleep pace with industry trends, our revenuesddoe negatively impacted. For
example, if we increase our adoption of subscripbased pricing models for our products, we maltdeset pricing at levels appropriate to
maintain our revenue streams or our customers tagse to deploy products from our competitors they believe are priced more favorably.

Our ability to sell our products is dependent oretiquality of our support and services offerings,dour failure to offer high-quality suppor
and services could have a material adverse effecbar sales and results of operations.

Once our products are integrated within our custshierdware and software systems, our customeysd®pgend on our support
organization to resolve any issues relating topyaducts. A high level of support is critical féret successful marketing and sale of our
products. If we or our channel partners do notatiffely assist our customers in deploying our pidusucceed in helping our customers
quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and proeifiective ongoing support, our ability to sell quroducts to existing customers would be
adversely affected, and our reputation with potémiistomers could be harmed. If our customers RfitAs have a poor perception of our
support and services offerings, they may chooseon@new their ELAs when they expire. In additias,we expand our operations
internationally, our support organization will fagdditional challenges, including those associatitil delivering support, training and
documentation in languages other than English. fesalt, our failure to maintain high-quality supipand services, or to adequately assist our
channel partners in providing high-quality supgort services, could result in customers choosingéoour competitors’ products instead of
ours in the future.

Acquisitions could disrupt our business, cause ditin to our stockholders and harm our business, dimcial condition and results o
operations.

We have in the past and plan in the future to aequther businesses, products or technologieseXxample, since September 2009 we
have completed a number of acquisitions, includioguisitions of SpringSource, Zimbra, certain asfem EMC'’s lonix division and
Integrien. We may not be able to find suitable &itjian candidates, and we may not be able to cetemcquisitions on favorable terms, if at
all. If we do complete acquisitions, we may notradttely strengthen our competitive position or aghkiour goals, or they may be viewed
negatively by customers, financial markets or inves

Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operationsedi management from day-tiay responsibilities, increase our expenses anersely
impact our business, financial condition and ressoftoperations. An acquired business may not eetive expected results. For example, an
acquisition may not further our strategies or ressil expected benefits, which may include beneélating to enhanced revenues, technology,
human resources, cost savings, operating efficdsrend other synergies. Acquisitions may reduceasin available for operations and other
uses and could result in an increase in amortizaigense related to identifiable intangible assetglired, potentially dilutive issuances of
equity securities or the incurrence of debt.

Additionally, we have limited historical experienagh the integration of acquired companies. Ttene be no assurance that we will be
able to manage the integration of acquired busasesfectively or be able to retain and motivatg prersonnel from these businesses. Any
difficulties we encounter in the integration progesuld divert management from day-to-day respdlitgb, increase our expenses and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarcablition and results of operations. We may alse féifficulties due to the lack of experience
in new markets, products or technologies or thigalrdependence on unfamiliar supply or distribntgartners. Other risks related to
acquisitions include the assumption of the lialeitof the acquired business, including litigatiefated liabilities.
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In addition, we review our amortizable intangibgsets annually for impairment, or more frequentligen events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatdgoverable, and we are required to test gooftwiimpairment at least annually. We may
be required to record a significant charge to e@sin our financial statements during the periodhich any impairment of our goodwill or
amortizable intangible assets resulting from aruesition or otherwise is determined, resulting maaverse impact on our results of operati
In addition to the risks commonly encountered m dlequisition of a business as described abovepayealso experience risks relating to the
challenges and costs of closing a transactionhEurthe risks described above may be exacerbatadesult of managing multiple acquisitir
at the same time. We also seek to invest in busésethat offer complementary products, servicegsamologies. These investments are
accompanied by risks similar to those encountarexthiacquisition of a business.

Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increase maintain our international sales and
operations.

Revenues from customers outside the United Statepiised approximately 53% of our total revenueth@first three months of 2011
and 49% in the fiscal year 2010. We have salesjrastmative, research and development and techsigaort personnel in numerous coun
worldwide. We expect to continue to add personmeldditional countries. Our international operagisnbject us to a variety of risks,
including:

. the difficulty of managing and staffing internataroffices and the increased travel, infrastrucaurd legal compliance costs
associated with multiple international locatio

. increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisk;
. difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectingcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegcésfy in emerging market
. difficulties in delivering support, training and @lonentation in certain foreign marke

. tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatorgantractual limitations on our ability to sell ogwklop our products in certain fore
markets;

. economic or political instability and security cenes in countries that are important to our intéamal sales and operatior
. the overlap of different tax structures or chanigdaternational tax laws

. reduced protection for intellectual property righteluding reduced protection from software piracygome countries

. difficulties in transferring funds from certain adties; anc

. difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldating to revenue recognition practic

Additionally, as we continue to expand our busirgdebally, we will need to maintain compliance wiggal and regulatory requirements
covering the foreign activities of U.S. corporagpsuch as export control requirements and theigiof@orrupt Practices Act. Our success will
depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipatel effectively manage these and other risks &dsdcwith our international operations. We
expect a significant portion of our growth to ocauforeign countries, which can add to the diffims in maintaining adequate management
and compliance systems and internal controls dmantial reporting and increase challenges in miaigegn organization operating in various
countries.

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgsfalld negatively affect our reputation, harm operations and reduce our
international sales.

Our products are highly technical and may containrers, defects or security vulnerabilities which alol cause harm to our reputation and
adversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex arften deployed, have contained and may containgrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly & discovered after a product has been installedused by customers. Any errors, def
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our protduafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenues or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wsreast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, financial condition and results of
operations. Undiscovered vulnerabilities in ourdarats could expose them to hackers or other unstug third parties who develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious softwaograms that could attack our products. Actuglenceived security vulnerabilities in our
products could harm our reputation and lead sorstomers to return products, to reduce or delayréupurchases or use competitive products.
End-users, who rely on our products and serviceth®interoperability of enterprise servers angliaptions that are critical to their
information systems, may have a greater sensitivigyroduct errors and security vulnerabilitiesticastomers for software products generally.
Any security breaches could lead to interruptialedays and data loss and protection concerns.ditiaal, we could face claims for product
liability, tort or breach of warranty, includingagins relating to changes to our products made bylvannel partners. Our contracts with
customers contain provisions relating to warrarggldimers and liability limitations, which may no¢ upheld and customers and channel
partners may
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seek indemnification from us for their losses amuke of their customers. Defending a lawsuit, réigas of its merit, is costly and time-
consuming and may divert management’s attentioraaversely affect the market’s perception of us@mdproducts. In addition, if our
business liability insurance coverage proves inadegjor future coverage is unavailable on acceptains or at all; our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adlgrisnpacted.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, our stockholders could lose confidenneur financial reporting, which could harm our bsiness and the trading price of ot
Class A common stock.

We have complied with Section 404 of the SarbandsyQAct of 2002 by assessing, strengthening astinig our system of internal
controls. Even though we concluded our systemtefiral controls was effective as of December 3102@e need to continue to maintain our
processes and systems and adapt them to changeslassiness changes and we rearrange managerspohséilities and reorganize our
business accordingly. We may seek to automateicgntacesses to improve efficiencies and betteanangoing compliance but such
automation may itself disrupt existing internal tots and introduce unintended vulnerability tooemr fraud. This continuous process of
maintaining and adapting our internal controls eoohplying with Section 404 is expensive and timastoning, and requires significant
management attention. We cannot be certain thantennal control measures will continue to provitkequate control over our financial
processes and reporting and ensure complianceSeittion 404. Furthermore, as our business chamgeasawe expand through acquisitions
of other companies, our internal controls may bezomore complex and we will require significantly meesources to ensure our internal
controls overall remain effective. Failure to implent required new or improved controls, or difft@d encountered in their implementation,
could harm our operating results or cause us tadameet our reporting obligations. If we or ondépendent registered public accounting firm
identify material weaknesses, the disclosure affdna, even if quickly remedied, could reduce tharket’s confidence in our financial
statements and harm our stock price. In additforngiare unable to continue to comply with Secd@d, our non-compliance could subject us
to a variety of administrative sanctions, includthg suspension or delisting of our Class A comstorok from the New York Stock Exchange
and the inability of registered broker-dealers tkma market in our Class A common stock, whicHcceeduce our stock price.

Problems with our information systems could interéewith our business, and our data centers may hbject to intentional disruption tha
could adversely impact our operations.

We rely on our information systems and those afitparties for processing customer orders, delieg¢groducts, providing services and
support to our customers, billing and tracking customers, fulfilling contractual obligations, amitherwise running our business. Any
disruption in our information systems and thos¢hefthird parties upon whom we rely could havegaificant impact on our business. In
addition, we continuously work to enhance our infation systems. The implementation of these typeslbancements is frequently disrupt
to the underlying business of an enterprise, whiely especially be the case for us due to the sideeamplexity of our business. Any
disruptions relating to our systems enhancemeatsicplarly any disruptions impacting our operasiaturing the implementation period, could
adversely affect our business in a number of réspEeen if we do not encounter these adversetsffée implementation of these
enhancements may be much more costly than we entd. If we are unable to successfully implemeatibtformation systems enhancements
as planned, our financial position, results of agiens, and cash flows could be negatively impacted

Additionally, experienced computer programmers @mgmpt to penetrate our network security or ttoeiss of our website and
misappropriate our proprietary information and mfation confidential to our customers and/or cantsruptions of our services. Because the
techniques used by such computer programmers &saar sabotage networks change frequently anchotaye recognized until launched
against a target, we may be unable to anticip&setbechniques. The theft and/or unauthorized upaldication of our trade secrets and other
confidential business information as a result ahsan event could adversely affect our competipiosition, reputation, brand and future sales
of our products and our customers may assert clagamst us related to resulting losses of confidkar proprietary information. Our
business could be subject to significant disruptaord we could suffer monetary and other losseg@matational harm, in the event of such
incidents and claims.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, waay not be able to meet our custon’ needs or be able to meet our future reporting
obligations.

We have rapidly expanded our operations since timepand anticipate further expansion in the futdieis future growth, if it occurs,
will place significant demands on our managemaetfitastructure and other resources. AdditionallytHer international growth may occur in
regions where we presently have little or no irthicture. To manage any future growth, we will néztiire, integrate and retain highly skilled
and motivated employees. We will also need to oomtito improve our financial and management casitreporting and operational systems
and procedures. If we do not effectively managegsawth, we may not be able to meet our custonmeeds, thereby adversely affecting our
sales, or be able to meet our future reportinggakibns.

Our financial results may be adversely impactedhigher than expected tax rates, and we may haveosxpe to additional tax liabilities.

As a multinational corporation, we are subjectimoime taxes as well as non-income based taxesthiniee United States and various
foreign jurisdictions. Our domestic and internasibtax liabilities are subject to the allocationrefenues and expenses in
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different jurisdictions and the timing of recogmigirevenues and expenses. Additionally, the amoflintome taxes paid is subject to our
interpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurgdgbns in which we file and changes to tax lawigin8icant judgment is required in determini
our worldwide provision for income taxes and otteex liabilities. From time to time, we are subjazincome tax audits. While we believe we
have complied with all applicable income tax latigre can be no assurance that a governing tarryttvill not have a different
interpretation of the law and assess us with amithfi taxes. Should we be assessed with additiarakf there could be a material adverse ¢
on our financial condition or results of operations

Our future effective tax rate may be affected bghsiactors as changes in tax laws, regulationatesy changing interpretation of exist
laws or regulations, the impact of accounting fock-based compensation, the impact of accountngdisiness combinations, changes in our
international organization, and changes in ovéeatls of income before tax.

For example, during 2010, the IRS announced aradified Schedule UTP, Uncertain Tax Positions StaténThis schedule is an annual
disclosure of certain federal UTPs, ranked in oafanagnitude, to be included in corporate taxj for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. According to the IRS, the disclosure is¢lude ‘a concise description of the tax position, inclgdindescription of the relevant fa
affecting the tax treatment of the position anainfation that reasonably can be expected to aptrés8ervice of the identity of the tax
position.” As a result of this additional disclosuequirement, the amount of taxes paid could asze

Also, in December 2010, H.R. 4853, Tax Relief, Uptayment Insurance Reauthorization, and the Johtme Act of 2010, which
included an extension of a number of expired tawisions, took effect retroactively to 2010 andgwectively through 2011. Among the
extended tax provisions was the U.S. federal R&Dctadit, which provides a significant reductioroiar effective tax rate. The renewal of this
credit beyond 2011 is uncertain.

In addition, in the ordinary course of our globakiness, there are many intercompany transactimhsaculations where the ultimate
determination is uncertain. Although we believe thar tax estimates are reasonable, we cannotetizatthe final determination of tax audits
or tax disputes will not be different from whatéslected in our historical income tax provisiomglaccruals.

We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchyaslpaales, use, valuadded, net worth, property and goods and servioest in bott
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioe are under audit from time to time by tax adties with respect to these non-income
taxes and may have exposure to additional non-iedam liabilities.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakig®, floods and other natural catastrophic evanguch as pandemics, and to interruption
by manmade problems, such as computer viruses, unantitgpladisruptions in local infrastructure or terrori, which could result in delay
or cancellations of customer orders or the deploymef our products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the &arcisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic atgtiVA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire, flood or other aGad, could have a material adverse impact on osinkss, financial condition and results of
operations. As we continue to grow internationatygreasing amounts of our business will be locatddreign countries that may be more
subject to political or social instability that dduwisrupt operations. In addition, our servers\armerable to computer viruses, break-ins and
similar disruptions from unauthorized tamperinghawour computer systems. Unanticipated disruptiareervices provided through localized
physical infrastructure, such as utility or telecommication outages, can curtail the functionindpofl offices as well as critical components of
our information systems and adversely affect oulitalbo process orders, respond to customer retgusesd maintain local and global business
continuity. Furthermore, acts of terrorism or wauld cause disruptions in our or our customersirigss or the economy as a whole and
disease pandemics could temporarily sideline atanbal part of our or our customers’ workforceaay particular time. To the extent that such
disruptions result in delays or cancellations aftomer orders, or the deployment of our produaisrevenues would be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. antemational laws regarding data protection.

Our business is subject to federal, state andriatemal laws regarding privacy and protection sérudata. We post, on our website, our
privacy policies and practices concerning the uskdisclosure of user data. Any failure by us topty with our posted privacy policies or
other federal, state or international privaejated or data protection laws and regulationdccmsult in proceedings against us by governm
entities or others which could have a material esireffect on our business, results of operatiodsfimancial condition.

It is possible that these laws may be interpretetisgoplied in a manner that is inconsistent withdata practices. If so, in addition to the
possibility of fines and penalties, a governmeatdker requiring that we change our data practioeddcresult, which in turn could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Complianttethese regulations may involve significanttso® require changes in business praci
that result in reduced revenue. Noncompliance craddlt in penalties being imposed on us or wedbel ordered to cease conducting the
noncompliant activity.

Additionally, our virtualization technology is useg cloud computing vendors, and we have expandethgolvement in the delivery
and provision of cloud computing through busindBareces with various providers of cloud computseyvices and software and expect to
continue to do so in the future. For example, imilA2011, we entered into an agreement with EM@adquire
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certain assets relating to EMC’s Mozy cloud-basa&t dtorage and data center services, includingioatata center assets and a license to
certain intellectual property. We also entered artcoperational support agreement with EMC purstawnthich we will take over responsibil
for operating the Mozy service on behalf of EMCeTdpplication of U.S. and international data priwkvs to cloud computing vendors is
uncertain, and our existing contractual provisioray prove to be inadequate to protect us from ddondata loss or regulatory
noncompliance made against cloud computing prosiddro we may partner with. Accordingly, the failtoecomply with data protection laws
and regulations by our customers and businessqrarivho provide cloud computing services could reaveaterial adverse effect on our
business.

If we fail to comply with our customer contracts government contracting regulations, our businessutd be adversely affecte

Our contracts with our customers may include unigi@ specialized performance requirements. Inqdati, our contracts with federal,
state, and local and non-U.S. governmental cust®arer subject to various procurements regulatioorgract provisions and other
requirements relating to their formation, admirdtibn and performance. Any failure by us to compith provisions in our customer contracts
or any violation of government contracting regwas could result in the imposition of various cisild criminal penalties, which may include
termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits spension of payments and, in the case of our govemhcontracts, fines and suspension from
future government contracting. Further, any negapivblicity related to our customer contracts or proceedings surrounding them, regarc
of its accuracy, may damage our business and aftecbility to compete for new contracts. If oustomer contracts are terminated, if we are
suspended from government work, or if our abildycompete for new contracts is adversely affestedcould suffer an adverse affect on our
business, operating results or financial condition.

Changes in accounting principles and guidance, defr interpretation, could result in unfavorable @ounting charges or effects, including
changes to our previously-filed financial statemenivhich could cause our stock price to decline.

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenge@ordance with accounting principles generalteated in the United States of
America. These principles are subject to interpiateby the SEC and various bodies formed to imrand create appropriate accounting
principles and guidance. A change in these priesipl guidance, or in their interpretations, mayeha significant effect on our reported res
and retroactively affect previously reported result

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC

As long as EMC controls us, other holders of oura8k A common stock will have limited ability to inénce matters requiring stockholde
approval.

As of March 31, 2011, EMC owned 33,466,190 shafespClass A common stock and all 300,000,000eshaf our Class B common
stock, representing 79.8% of the total outstandimares of common stock or 97.3% of the voting pavi@utstanding common stock. The
holders of our Class A common stock and our ClassiBmon stock have identical rights, preferencesmivileges except with respect to
voting and conversion rights, the election of dioes, certain actions that require the consenbtiddrs of Class B common stock and other
protective provisions as set forth in our certifecaf incorporation. Holders of our Class B commstwrk are entitled to 10 votes per share of
Class B common stock on all matters except foethetion of our Group Il directors, in which cabkeyt are entitled to one vote per share, and
the holders of our Class A common stock are edtitbeone vote per share of Class A common stoc&.hididers of Class B common stock,
voting separately as a class, are entitled to 8@%t of the total number of directors on our baafrdirectors that we would have if there were
no vacancies on our board of directors at the tifhnese are our Group | directors. Subject to agiytsi of any series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktaecholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director—our Group Il director(s). é&dingly, the holders of our Class B
common stock currently are entitled to elect 7 wf ® directors.

If EMC transfers shares of our Class B common stoany party other than a successor-in-intereatsarbsidiary of EMC prior to a
distribution to its stockholders under Section 85%he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amende@®56 distribution”), those shares will
automatically convert into Class A common stockdiidnally, if, prior to a 355 distribution, EMC'swnership falls below 20% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock, all outktanshares of Class B common stock will automéyiconvert to Class A common stock.
Following a 355 distribution, shares of Class B amon stock may convert to Class A common stockéhstonversion is approved by
VMware stockholders after the 355 distribution. Bolong as EMC or its successor-in-interest beradfy owns shares of our common stock
representing at least a majority of the votes lewtito be cast by the holders of outstanding vositagk, EMC will be able to elect all of the
members of our board of directors.

In addition, until such time as EMC or its succesaeinterest beneficially owns shares of our commstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thédhos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have thbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgvimcall a stockholder meeting, and holders of@ass A common stock will not be able to
affect the outcome of any stockholder vote durhig period. As a result, EMC will have the abilitycontrol all matters affecting us, includi

. the composition of our board of directors and, tigto our board of directors, any determination wétpect to our business plans
and policies
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. any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinatic

. our acquisition or disposition of asse

. our financing activities

. certain changes to our certificate of incorporat

. changes to the agreements we entered into in cbanetith our transition to becoming a public compa

. corporate opportunities that may be suitable foand EMC;

. d_eLerminations with respect to enforcement of Egi¢ may have against third parties, including wétspect to intellectual propel
rights;

. the payment of dividends on our common stock;

. the number of shares available for issuance ungiestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges.

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensection agreement entered into between us and iEM@nnection with our initial
public offering (“IPO”)also contain provisions that require that as lon&BIC beneficially owns at least 20% or more ofdhéstanding shar
of our common stock, the prior affirmative votevaitten consent of EMC (or its successor-in-intéras the holder of the Class B common
stock is required (subject in each case to ceetaieptions) in order to authorize us to:

. consolidate or merge with any other ent
. acquire the stock or assets of another entity @egx of $100 million

. issue any stock or securities except to our sudnsédi or pursuant to our employee benefit pl
. establish the aggregate annual amount of shar@sayessue in equity awarc

. dissolve, liquidate or wind us u

. declare dividends on our stoc

. enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangemséth a third party involving, in whole or in pagroducts or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

. amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéttn certain provisions of our certificate of oyporation or bylaws

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent all@aus to conduct such activities when requestedywill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed. EMC'’s voting cdratnal its additional rights described above
may discourage transactions involving a changenfrol of us, including transactions in which haklef our Class A common stock might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares dveitheneurrent market price. EMC is not prohibited frontling a controlling interest in us
a third party and may do so without the approvahefholders of our Class A common stock and withppaviding for a purchase of any sha
of Class A common stock held by persons other EMIC. Accordingly, shares of Class A common stocly ina worth less than they would
if EMC did not maintain voting control over us rftave the additional rights described above.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoesange of control, any acquirer or successdhwientitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darnsa manner that could vary significantly from EM historic practice.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, holdémuo Class A common stock are deemed to haveaofiand have consented to the
provisions of our certificate of incorporation ah@ master transaction agreement with respectttirttitations that are described above.

Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC maynepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companiewigling products related to storage management,-bpcklisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&Miatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tinéellectual property agreement that we have edtérto with EMC provides EMC the ability
to use our source code and intellectual properychy subject to limitations, it may use to prodeeetain products that compete with ours.
EMC's rights in this regard extend to its majordywned subsidiaries, which could include joint veatuwhere EMC holds a majority position
and one or more of our competitors hold minoritgifions.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimld impede our growth or our ability to enter nearkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecititrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology andeotmarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualgerty rights or pursuing corporate
opportunities or product development initiativeattbould adversely affect our competitive positimejuding our competitive position relative
to that of EMC in markets where we compete withrth&n addition, EMC maintains significant partnépshwith certain of our competitors,
including Microsoft.
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EMC’s competition in certain markets may affect our itity to build and maintain partnerships.

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy ina affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies
that compete with EMC in certain markets in whidl& participates. EMC’s majority ownership in us imigffect our ability to effectively
partner with these companies. These companies avay bur competitors because of our relationship &MC.

EMC competes with certain of our significant chdntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation andeotagreements that we have with EMC, EMC may tiagability to impact our relationship
with those of our partners that compete with EM@ijol could have a material adverse effect on osulte of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avkil&bus.

In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distnilte its shares of our Class B common stock on s-free basis, we may be prevented from
pursuing opportunities to raise capital, to effectte acquisitions or to provide equity incentivesaior employees, which could hurt ot
ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totating power is required in order for EMC to affactax-free spin-off of VMware or
certain other tax-free transactions. We have agitestdfor so long as EMC or its successor-in-irgeo@ntinues to own greater than 50% of the
voting control of our outstanding common stock, wik not knowingly take or fail to take any actidhat could reasonably be expected to
preclude EMC'’s or its successor-in-interest’s &poid undertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionallynder our certificate of incorporation and the
master transaction agreement we entered into Wit Eiwe must obtain the consent of EMC or its susoe-interest, as the holder of our
Class B common stock, to issue stock or other VMvegrcurities, excluding pursuant to employee bepkfins (provided that we obtain Class
B common stockholder approval of the aggregate anmumber of shares to be granted under such plahg)h could cause us to forgo cap
raising or acquisition opportunities that wouldethise be available to us. As a result, we mayrbelpded from pursuing certain growth
initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible CEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agrent with EMC, EMC will
indemnify us for claims and losses’ relating tdolities related to EMC’s business and not relatedur business. However, if those liabilities
are significant and we are ultimately held lialie them, we cannot be certain that we will be ableecover the full amount of our losses from
EMC.

Although we have entered into a tax sharing agreemwith EMC under which our tax liabilities effectiely will be determined as if we we
not part of any consolidated, combined or unitagxtgroup of EMC Corporation and/or its subsidiariea/e nonetheless could be held liable
for the tax liabilities of other members of theseogips.

We have historically been included in EMC’s condated group for U.S. federal income tax purposesvell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for state &écal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
our tax sharing agreement with EMC, we and EMC gadhyewill make payments to each other such théit) wespect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in EMC’s consolidated group for.UJe8eral income tax purposes or any
other consolidated, combined or unitary group of&®~lorporation and/or its subsidiaries, the amotitéxes to be paid by us will be
determined, subject to certain adjustments, agiémd each of our subsidiaries included in suclksadatated, combined or unitary group filed
our own consolidated, combined or unitary tax metur

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes since ouniadipn by EMC, and expect to
continue to be included in such consolidated grfoueriods in which EMC owns at least 80% of th&k voting power and value of our
outstanding stock. Each member of a consolidatedmduring any part of a consolidated return ysgmintly and severally liable for tax on-
consolidated return of such year and for any sulissity determined deficiency thereon. Similarlysome jurisdictions, each member of a
consolidated, combined or unitary group for sthlteal or foreign income tax purposes is jointly aederally liable for the state, local or
foreign income tax liability of each other membéthe consolidated, combined or unitary group. Adaagly, for any period in which we are
included in the EMC consolidated group for U.S ied income tax purposes or any other consolidat@abined or unitary group of EMC
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries, we could bblé in the event that any income tax liability viraurred, but not discharged, by any other
member of any such group.

Any inability to resolve favorably any disputes tharise between us and EMC with respect to our pasti ongoing relationships may rest
in a significant reduction of our revenues and edngys.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a numftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,tdaig:
. labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification atigeo matters arising from our separation from E}
. employee retention and recruitir
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. business combinations involving t

. our ability to engage in activities with certainacimel, technology or other marketing partn

. sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any portadrits ownership interest in u

. the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC agseed to provide u

. arrangements with third parties that are exclusipt@ EMC;

. business opportunities that may be attractive tb B&C and us; an

. product or technology development or marketingvéteds or customer agreements which may requiretmsent of EMC

We may not be able to resolve any potential catsfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lagsrfble than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we enter into with EMC may be antengen agreement between the parties. While weargolled by EMC, we may
not have the leverage to negotiate amendment&se thgreements if required on terms as favorahle &s those we would negotiate with an
unaffiliated third party.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock, regeit shares of EMC common stock and/ or equity awsatd acquire EMC commol
stock and hold management positions with EMC, whicbuld cause conflicts of interests that result@ur not acting on opportunities w
otherwise may have.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock andgoitg awards to purchase EMC common stock. In &ftdisome of our directors
are executive officers and/or directors of EMC, &MC, as the sole holder of our Class B commonkstiscentitled to elect 7 of our 8
directors. Ownership of EMC common stock, restdctbkares of EMC common stock and equity awardsitohmase EMC common stock by
our directors and the presence of executive oSicerdirectors of EMC on our board of directorsldaereate, or appear to create, conflicts of
interest with respect to matters involving bothensl EMC that could have different implications EMC than they do for us. Provisions of our
certificate of incorporation and the master tratisacagreement between EMC and us address corpmpptetunities that are presented to our
directors or officers that are also directors dicefs of EMC. There can be no assurance thatrgions in our certificate of incorporation
the master transaction agreement will adequatelyesd potential conflicts of interest or that ptisdrconflicts of interest will be resolved in
our favor or that we will be able to take advantafjeorporate opportunities presented to individwaho are officers or directors of both us
EMC. As a result, we may be precluded from purseiegain growth initiatives.

EMC’s ability to control our board of directors may rka it difficult for us to recruit independent direors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our comistock representing at least a majority of theventitled to be cast by the
holders of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effedy control and direct our board of directorsrifer, the interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstampersons who might otherwise accept our invitatmjoin our board of directors may
decline.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning d¢lie New York Stock Exchange rules and, as a resate relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that piaesprotection to stockholders of companies thag arot “controlled companies.”

EMC owns more than 50% of the total voting poweoaf common shares and, as a result, we are artdiect company” under the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standasia.controlled company, we are exempt under i Mork Stock Exchange standards
from the obligation to comply with certain New Yo8tock Exchange corporate governance requiremiectading the requirements:

. that a majority of our board of directors consaftindependent director

. that we have a corporate governance and nominatimgnittee that is composed entirely of independé@ettors with a written
charter addressing the commi’s purpose and responsibilitie

. that we have a compensation committee that is ceatpentirely of independent directors with a wnittharter addressing the
committed s purpose and responsibilities; ¢

. for an annual performance evaluation of the nonmigaand governance committee and compensation ctieat

While we have voluntarily caused our Compensatiwh @orporate Governance Committee to currentlydmeposed entirely of
independent directors in compliance with the rezmignts of the New York Stock Exchange, we are eguired to maintain the independent
composition of the committee. As a result of our abthe “controlled company” exemptions, holdersur Class A common stock will not
have the same protection afforded to stockholdecempanies that are subject to all of the New Y®tick Exchange corporate governance
requirements.
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Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourulesas an independent public
company.

The historical financial information covering therjpds prior to our IPO in August 2007 includedir Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 does metssarily reflect what our financial position, iéswf operations or cash flows would have
been had we been an independent entity during thistarical periods. The historical costs and esgsireflected in our consolidated financial
statements prior to 2008 include an allocationcitain corporate functions historically providedEMC, including tax, accounting, treasury,
legal and human resources services. Although we tramsitioned most of these corporate functiongMwvare personnel, in certain
geographic regions where we do not have an edtedliegal entity, we contract with EMC subsidiafiessupport services and EMC
employees who are managed by VMware personnelcd$is incurred by EMC on VMware’s behalf relatedhiese employees include a
mark-up intended to approximate costs that woulcktmeen charged had we contracted for such semitesn unrelated third party. These
costs have been charged by EMC and are includegpeses in our consolidated statements of inc@uehistorical financial information is
not necessarily indicative of what our financiabkpi@n, results of operations or cash flows willibeéhe future if and when we contract at
arm’s-length with independent third parties for feevices we have received and currently recetnm EEMC. For additional information, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” and our histdrconsolidated financial statements
and notes thereto.

Risks Related to Owning Our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclyded since August 14, 2007 and the price of our Gldscommon stock has fluctuated
substantially since then and may fluctuate substaitly in the future.

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclgedasince our IPO on August 14, 2007. The tradimgepf our Class A common
stock has fluctuated significantly since then. &xample, between January 1, 2010 and March 31, 284 tlosing trading price of our Class
common stock was very volatile, ranging between®3and $97.00 per share. Our trading price cdulttfate substantially in the future due
to the factors discussed in this Risk Factors seand elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on FoBr@Q1

Substantial amounts of Class A common stock ar iyelour employees, EMC and Cisco, and all of treres of our Class B common
stock, which may be converted to Class A commookstipon request of the holder, are held by EMCr&haf Class A common stock held
EMC (including shares of Class A common stock thight be issued upon the conversion of Class B comstock) are eligible for sale
subject to the volume, manner of sale and othéricdens of Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933 amended (the “Securities Act”), which
allows the holder to sell up to the greater of 6w outstanding Class A common stock or our faeek average weekly trading volume
during any threenonth period and following the expiration of theamtractual restrictions. Additionally, EMC posseEssegistration rights wi
respect to the shares of our common stock thatdtsh If EMC chooses to exercise such rights,dte sf the shares that are registered would
not be subject to the Rule 144 limitations. If gnificant amount of the shares that become elidilneesale enter the public trading markets in
a short period of time, the market price of ourgSla common stock may decline.

Additionally, broad market and industry factors nigcrease the market price of our Class A commuokstegardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in gerardltechnology companies in particular, also hdtenaxperienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, in the past, éeling periods of volatility in the overall marketdithe market price of a company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often bestituted, including against us, and, if not reedhgwiftly, can result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts cease publishingsearch or reports about us, our business or ooarket, or if they change thei
recommendations regarding our stock adversely, atock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock kel influenced by the research and reports ttthtstry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covech&nge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletredarecommendations about our competitors, owkspoice would likely decline. If any
analyst who may cover us were to cease coveragerafompany or fail to regularly publish reportsu® we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain an-takeover provisions that could delay or discouragé&eover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or prevagtia change of control or changes in
our management. These provisions include the fatigw

. the division of our board of directors into thrdasses, with each class serving for a staggeree-year term, which would preve
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicdctors at any annual meetit

. the right of the board of directors to elect a clioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director:
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. following a 355 distribution of Class B common $tdry EMC to its stockholders, the restriction thdieneficial owner of 10% «
more of our Class B common stock may not vote inedaction of directors unless such person or gdap owns at least an
equivalent percentage of Class A common stock taiod approval of our board of directors prior tojairing beneficial ownership
of at least 5% of Class B common sto

. the prohibition of cumulative voting in the electiof directors or any other matters, which wouldestvise allow less than
majority of stockholders to elect director candéda

. the requirement for advance notice for nominatimn®lection to the board of directors or for preppy matters that can be acted
upon at a stockholde' meeting;

. the ability of the board of directors to issue,heilit stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 shafrpseferred stock with terms set
by the board of directors, which rights could beigeto those of common stock; a

. in the event that EMC or its succesin-interest no longer owns shares of our common stefesenting at least a majority of -
votes entitled to be cast in the election of dwextstockholders may not act by written consedtraay not call special meetings of
the stockholders

Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intecestses to beneficially own 20% or more of thetaatiing shares of our common
stock, the affirmative vote or written consentlué holders of a majority of the outstanding shafdbe Class B common stock will be required
to:

. amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certificaf incorporation

. make certain acquisitions or dispositio

. declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizatioliquidation;

. adopt any stockholder rights plépoison pil” or other similar arrangemer

. approve any transactions that would involve a memgnsolidation, restructuring, sale of substalytel of our assets or any of o
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidés; ot

. undertake certain other actiol

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtew. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenavg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoc&nf merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoylaws and under Delaware law could discouragenpiaietakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay $fnares of our common stock.

Intel’s and Cisco’s relationship with us and the membleis on our board of individuals proposed by Intehd Cisco may create actual or
potential conflicts of interest

As a result of an investment by Intel Capital im @lass A common stock in August 2007, Intel hamhe-time right to designate a
director acceptable to our board of directors foiratial term of service. Pursuant to that riglie appointed an Intel executive to our board of
directors. Cisco, pursuant to its purchase of das€A common stock from EMC, also has an ownensHgiionship with us, and we appoin
an executive officer of Cisco (since retired fromsd®) proposed by Cisco as one of our directorsthielntel nor Cisco has an ongoing righ
designate a director for our board. However, ed¢hedirectors initially proposed by them contiade serve on our board. These relations
may create actual or potential conflicts of intéeesl the best interests of Intel or Cisco mayrafiéct the best interests of other holders of our
Class A common stock.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
(a) Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Comm&ock
None.
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(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuerdaffiliated Purchasers

(1)
()

3)

(4)

(5)

Purchases of equity securities during the quaridee March 31, 2011:

Total Number of
Approximate Dollar

Value
) Purscl;gse:d as of Shares That May Yet Bi
Average Price Part of Publicly

Total Number Announced Purchased Under the
of Shares Paid Per Plans or Publicly Announced Plans

Purchased ()(2)(3) Share M(2)B) Programs (3)() or Programs _(3)4)(5)
January - January 31, 201 338,43! $ 92.3¢ 336,37¢ $ 30,479,43
February + February 28, 201 264,83¢ 87.4: 241,03t 559,323,37
March 1- March 31, 201: 1,573,81. 83.61 1,142,68: 463,764,11

2,177,08 85.44 1,720,09

Includes 2,617 shares repurchased and retiredisfys@ax withholding obligations that arose on tresting of shares of restricted sto

Includes 454,372 shares purchased by EMC in oparket transactions. In the first quarter of 2B C announced a stock purchase
program of VMware’s Class A common stock to maimigs approximate level of ownership in VMware ottee long term. Inclusion of
EMC'’s purchases in the above table does not inglitett EMC is deemed to be an “affiliated purchiaséth respect to the VMware
stock repurchase program discussed in the folloddangnote. Shares purchased by EMC remain issuédatstanding

On March 2, 2010, our Board of Directors apaa stock repurchase program, authorizing thehasicof up to $400.0 million of our
Class A common stock through the end of 2011 (thdware 2010 Repurchase Authorization”). We complegterchases under the
VMware 2010 Repurchase Authorization during Mar6i 2 In February 2011, a committee of our BoarDioéctors authorized the
repurchase of up to an additional $550.0 milliorv®dfware’s Class A common stock through the end@ff2(the “VMware 2011
Repurchase Authorization”). Stock will be purchapedsuant to the VMware 2011 Repurchase Authodrafrom time to time, in the
open market or through private transactions, stlbjemarket conditions. In the three months endedadd 31, 2011, we repurchased in
open market transactions and retired 1,720,09%stadrour Class A common stock at a weighted-aeepaige of $85.86 per share for an
aggregate purchase price of $147,694,810. We drebtigated to purchase any shares under our semkchase programs. Subject to
applicable laws, repurchases under our stock répsecprograms may be made at such times and irasuabints as we deem
appropriate. Purchases under our stock repurchragegom can be discontinued at any time that weddditional purchases are not
warranted

The amount as of the end of January includes tlmiatremaining in the 2010 VMware Repurchase Augation, which was complete
in March 2011. The amounts as of the end of Felpraad March include the amounts under the 2011 ViMviRepurchase Authorization
which was approved in February 20

Amounts do not include potential purchases by E

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED

ITEM5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6.

Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
10.9+

10.22

10.23+
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS
101.SCF
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference
Form/File
Filed
Exhibit Description Herewith No. Date
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora S-1/A-2  7/9/200°
Amended and Restated Byla 8-K 3/8/201:
2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, as amended Mar¢l2a51 X
First Amendment to Tax Sharing Agreement betweenwdké, Inc. and EMC Corporation
effective as of January 1, 20 X
Executive Bonus Program, adopted February 14, X
Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqait by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putsag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. X
Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqant by Rule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. X
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 X
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 X
XBRL Instance Documer X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba: X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb. X

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VMWARE, INC.

Dated: May 4, 201 By: /sl ROBYNNED. Sisco
Robynne D. Sisco
Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Form/File
Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Herewith No. Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora S-1/A-2  7/9/200°
3.2 Amended and Restated Byla 8-K 3/8/201:
10.9+ 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, as amended Mar¢l2a51 X
10.22 First Amendment to Tax Sharing Agreement betweenwdké, Inc. and EMC Corporation
effective as of January 1, 20 X
10.23+ Executive Bonus Program, adopted February 14, X
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqait by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putsag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. X
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqant by Rule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. X
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 X
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 X
101.INS XBRL Instance Documer X
101.SCk  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen X
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba X
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba: X
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba X
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb. X

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege
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Exhibit 10.9
Amended and Restated on March 15, 2011

VMWARE, INC.
2007 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE PLAN

1. PURPOSE; TYPES OF AWARDS; CONSTRUCTION.

The purpose of the VMware, Inc. 2007 Equity ancehitive Plan is to attract, motivate and retain eyg@és and independent contractors
of the Company and any Subsidiary and Affiliate and-employee directors of the Company, any Suasidir any Affiliate. The Plan is also
designed to encourage stock ownership by such pgrgeereby aligning their interest with thosehef Company’s shareholders and to permit
the payment of compensation that qualifies as pmdace-based compensation under Section 162(rhpdfode. Pursuant to the provisions
hereof, there may be granted Options (includingéintive stock options” and “non-qualified stockiops”), and Other Stock-Based Awards,

including but not limited to Restricted Stock, Resed Stock Units, Stock Appreciation Rights (palgain shares) and Other Cash-Based
Awards.

The 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan shall becomecéiffe as of the date of the adoption by the Board.
2.DEFINITIONS . For purposes of the Plan, the following termdidiedefined as set forth below:
(a) “Adoption Date” means the date that the Plas adopted by the Board.
(b) “Affiliate” means an affiliate of the Compangs defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under Sedtibof the Exchange Act.

(c) “Award” means individually or collectively, aant under the Plan of Options, Restricted Stodsticted Stock Units or Other
Stock-Based Awards or Other Cash-Based Awards.

(d) “Award Terms” means any written agreement, @gtt notice or other instrument or document ewilggan Award.
(e) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Qamy.

(f) “Cause” shall have the meaning set forth in @rantee’s employment or other agreement with them@any, any Subsidiary or
any Affiliate, if any, provided that if the Grantéenot a party to any such employment or otheeagyent or such employment or other
agreement does not contain a definition of Cadmes Cause shall have the meaning set forth in thard Terms.

(g) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amdraiedime to time



(h) “Committee” means the Compensation Committetn@fBoard. Unless other determined by the Boael ommittee shall be
comprised solely of directors who are (a) “non-esypk directors” under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchangg @& “outside directors” under
Section 162(m) of the Code and (c) who otherwisetrttee definition of “independent directors” purstito the applicable requirements of any
national stock exchange upon which the Stock iedisAny director appointed to the Committee wheglnot meet the foregoing requirements
shall recuse himself or herself form all deternimad pertaining to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Awt &ection 162(m) of the Code.

(i) “Company” means VMware, Inc., a corporation @amigzed under the laws of the State of Delawarangrsuccessor corporation.
(j) “Covered Employee” shall have the meaning sethfin Section 162(m)(3) of the Code.

(k) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchangeohd 934, as amended from time to time, and as oolereafter construed,
interpreted and applied by regulations, rulings easks.

() “Exchange Offer” means the offer by the Compamgxchange awards issued under the Plan for avediror with respect to the
common stock of Parent held by certain employegseofCompany and its Subsidiaries, as set forthare detail in the Offer to Exchange
expected to be filed by the Company and Parent.

(m) “Fair Market Value” shall be the closing safg&ce per share of Stock for the date of grantrenprincipal securities exchange
on which the Stock is traded or, if there is nohssiale on the relevant date, then on the last puevday on which a sale was reported,; if the
Stock is not listed for trading on a national sé@s exchange, the fair market value of Stockldteldetermined in good faith by the Board.
For purposes of the exercise price of Options gdhint the Exchange Offer, Fair Market Value shalamthe initial public offering price of the
Stock as set forth in the Company’s Form S-1 Reatish Statement.

(n) “Grantee” means a person who, as an employ@elependent contractor of or non-employee direwitit respect to the
Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate, has beemtgé an Award under the Plan.

(0) “ISO” means any Option designated as and iredrid be and which qualifies as an incentive stgtion within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code.

(p) “NQSO” means any Option that is designated agrajualified stock option or which does not quadié an 1SO.

(q) “Option” means a right, granted to a GrantedanrSection 6(b)(i), to purchase shares of StockOfstion may be either an ISO
or an NQSO.

(r) “Other Cash-Based Award” means a cash-basedduw@anted to a Grantee under Section 6(b)(iv)dferecluding cash
awarded as a bonus or upon the attainment of Peafice Goals or otherwise as permitted under the Pla

2



(s) “Other Stock-Based Award” means an Award gréibbea Grantee pursuant to Section 6(b)(iv) herdaf, may be denominated
or payable in, valued in whole or in part by refere to, or otherwise based on, or related to, Seagh of which may be subject to the
attainment of Performance Goals or a period ofinaetl employment or other terms and conditionseamijited under the Plan.

(t) “Parent” means EMC Corporation, a Massachusettgoration.

(u) “Performance Goals” means performance goalsdas one or more of the following criteria: (iyeiags including operating
income, earnings before or after taxes, earninfirder after interest, depreciation, amortizationextraordinary or special items or book
value per share (which may exclude nonrecurringsde (ii) pre-tax income or after-tax income; (@rnings per common share (basic or
diluted); (iv) operating profit; (v) revenue, rewengrowth or rate of revenue growth; (vi) returnassets (gross or net), return on investment,
return on capital, or return on equity; (vii) rataron sales or revenues; (viii) operating exper(®gsstock price appreciation; (x) cash flow, 1
cash flow, cash flow return on investment (discedrntr otherwise), net cash provided by operationsash flow in excess of cost of capital;
(xi) implementation or completion of critical prajs or processes; (xii) economic value created) pumulative earnings per share growth;
(xiv) operating margin or profit margin; (xv) commstock price or total stockholder return; (xvisttargets, reductions and savings,
productivity and efficiencies; (xvii) strategic buass criteria, consisting of one or more objedtilgased on meeting specified market
penetration, geographic business expansion, custsatisfaction, employee satisfaction, human ressimanagement, supervision of
litigation, information technology, and goals rélgtto acquisitions, divestitures, joint venturesl @imilar transactions, and budget
comparisons; (xviii) personal professional objeesivincluding any of the foregoing performance godile implementation of policies and
plans, the negotiation of transactions, the devekg of long term business goals, formation oftjggntures, research or development
collaborations, and the completion of other corpmteansactions; and (xix) any combination of, @pacified increase in, any of the foregoing.
Where applicable, the Performance Goals may besegpd in terms of attaining a specified level efghrticular criteria or the attainment of a
percentage increase or decrease in the particiferi@, and may be applied to one or more of tbenBany, a Subsidiary or Affiliate, or a
division or strategic business unit of the Compamymay be applied to the performance of the Compalative to a market index, a group of
other companies or a combination thereof, all asrdéned by the Committee. The Performance Goaisin@ude a threshold level of
performance below which no payment will be maden@westing will occur), levels of performance dtieh specified payments will be made
(or specified vesting will occur), and a maximumekof performance above which no additional paytwah be made (or at which full vestit
will occur). Each of the foregoing Performance Galall be determined in accordance with geneaaitepted accounting principles and shall
be subject to certification by the Committee; pd®d that, to the extent an Award is intended tsfyathe performance-based compensation
exception to the limits of Section 162(m) of thedé@nd then to the extent consistent with suchptiae the Committee shall have the
authority to make equitable adjustments to thedPerdnce Goals in recognition of unusual or non-meéeg events affecting the Company or
any Subsidiary or Affiliate or the financial statemts of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affilidtefesponse to changes in applicable laws
or regulations, or to account for items of gairsslor expense determined to be extraordinary asualin nature or infrequent in occurrence or
related to the disposal of a segment of a busioessated to a change in accounting principles.
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(v) “Plan” means this VMware, Inc. 2007 Equity dndentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

(w) “Restricted Stock” means an Award of shareStofck to a Grantee under Section 6(b)(ii) thatigject to certain restrictions
and to a risk of forfeiture.

(x) “Restricted Stock Unitineans a right granted to a Grantee under Secthii§(of the Plan to receive shares of Stock sagbjo
certain restrictions and to a risk of forfeiture.

(y) “Rule 16b-3" means Rule 16b-3, as from timéitoe in effect promulgated by the Securities andizxnge Commission under
Section 16 of the Exchange Act, including any sesoeto such Rule.

(z) “Stock” means shares of Class A common stoakyvplue $0.01 per share, of the Company.

(aa) “Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award thatitles a Grantee upon exercise to the excetbedfair Market Value of the
Stock underlying the Award over the base priceldistaed in respect of such Stock.

(bb) “Subsidiary” means any corporation in an uklerochain of corporations beginning with the Compiénat the time of
granting of an Award, each of the corporationsé€othan the last corporation in the unbroken chaims stock possessing 50% or more of the
total combined voting power of all classes of stockne of the other corporations in the chain.

3. ADMINISTRATION

(a) The Plan shall be administered by the Commadteat the discretion of the Board, the Boardhievent the Board is the
administrator of the Plan, references herein taddbmmittee shall be deemed to include the Board.Bdard may from time to time appoint a
member or members of the Committee in substitutomr in addition to the member or members theaoffite and may fill vacancies on the
Committee however caused. Subject to applicable ttavBoard or the Committee may delegate to acembmittee or individual the ability to
grant Awards to employees who are not subject tergil liability under Section 16(b) of the Exclga@nAct with respect to transactions
involving equity securities of the Company at timeet any such delegated authority is exercised.

(b) The decision of the Committee as to all questiof interpretation and application of the Plaallsbe final, binding and
conclusive on all persons. The Committee shall hageauthority in its discretion, subject to and inconsistent with the express provisions of
the Plan, to administer the Plan and to exercigh@lpower and authority either specifically gexhto it under the Plan or necessary or
advisable in the administration of the Plan, inadgdwithout limitation, the authority to grant Awds, to determine the persons to whom an
time or times at which Awards shall be grantediatermine the type and number
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of Awards to be granted, the number of shares@fktio which an Award may relate and the termsdit@ns, restrictions and Performance
Goals relating to any Award; to determine Perforoga@oals no later than such time as is requirethsoire that an underlying Award which is
intended to comply with the requirements of Secfi6@(m) of the Code so complies; to determine wdretio what extent, and under what
circumstances an Award may be settled, canceltefiifed, accelerated (including upon a “changeantrol”), exchanged, or surrendered; to
make adjustments in the terms and conditions (@ictyPerformance Goals) applicable to Awards; testme and interpret the Plan and any
Award; to prescribe, amend and rescind rules agdiagions relating to the Plan; to determine thingeand provisions of the Award Terms
(which need not be identical for each Grantee);tandake all other determinations deemed necessagvisable for the administration of the
Plan. The Committee may correct any defect or suapy omission or reconcile any inconsistency ePan or in any Award Terms granted
hereunder in the manner and to the extent it sle@in expedient to carry the Plan into effect aradl 8le the sole and final judge of such
expediency. No Committee member shall be liablefor action or determination made with respeché&RIlan or any Award.

4.ELIGIBILITY

(a) Awards may be granted to officers, employesdgpendent contractors and non-employee directdredCompany or of any of
the Subsidiaries and Affiliateprovided , that (i) ISOs may be granted only to employeesliding officers and directors who are also
employees) of the Company or any of its “relatexpocations” (as defined in the applicable regulagipromulgated under the Code) and
(i) Awards may be granted only to eligible emplegavho are not employed by the Company or a Swrgidisuch employees perform
substantial services for the Company or a Subsidiar

(b) No ISO shall be granted to any employee ofGbenpany or any of its Subsidiaries if such employwes, immediately prior to
the grant of the ISO, stock representing more G of the voting power or more than 10% of thaugadf all classes of stock of the Comp
or Parent or a Subsidiary, unless the purchase fwicthe stock under such ISO shall be at leaB¥d &f its Fair Market Value at the time such
ISO is granted and the I1SO, by its terms, shallmoéxercisable more than five years from the dédegranted. In determining the stock
ownership under this paragraph, the provisionseatiSn 424(d) of the Code shall be controlling.

(c) No Award, except for Restricted Stock, shallgbanted to any employee or independent contradboris subject to
Section 409A of the Code if such person is an eyg@®r independent contractor of an Affiliate tisatot a Subsidiary, unless such Award
conforms to the requirements of Section 409A.

5.STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN .

(a) The maximum number of shares of Stock reseiwmethe grant or settlement of Awards under thenRthe “Share Limit") shall
be 100,000,000 (including the number of shares@iSexpected to be issued under the Exchange)Giifiel shall be subject to adjustment as
provided herein. The aggregate number of shar&oak made subject to
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Awards granted during any fiscal year to any singtividual shall not exceed 3,000,000. Such sharag, in whole or in part, be authorized
but unissued shares or shares that shall havedveray be reacquired by the Company in the opekenan private transactions or otherwise.
If any shares subject to an Award (other than Awaubstituted or assumed pursuant to Section gfiejri) are forfeited, cancelled, exchanged
or surrendered or if an Award otherwise terminatesxpires without a distribution of shares to @mantee, the shares of stock with respect to
such Award shall, to the extent of any such fouiwi} cancellation, exchange, surrender, terminaticexpiration, again be available for Awa
under the Plan.

(b) The Committee shall have the right to substittassume Awards of acquired entities in conoeatiith mergers,
reorganizations, separations, or other transactmmsich Section 424(a) of the Code applies. Tinalmer of shares of Stock reserved pursuant
to Section 5 shall be increased by the correspgnaimber of Awards assumed and, in the case dbstifution, by the net increase in the
number of shares of Stock subject to Awards bedokafter the substitution.

(c) Except as provided in an Award Term or as otfise provided in the Plan, in the event of any aoatdinary dividend or other
extraordinary distribution (whether in the formaafsh, Stock, or other property), recapitalizatgiock split, reverse split, reorganization,
merger, consolidation, spin-off, recapitalizationmbination, repurchase, or share exchange, or sitndar corporate transaction or event, the
Committee shall make such equitable changes ostd@nts as it deems necessary or appropriate toraalyof (i) the number and kind of
shares of Stock or other property (including cash) may thereafter be issued in connection withals or the total number of Awards
issuable under the Plan, (ii) the number and kinghares of Stock or other property issued or iskuim respect of outstanding Awards, (iii)
exercise price, grant price or purchase priceirglab any Award, (iv) the Performance Goals andtife individual limitations applicable to
Awards; provided that, with respect to ISOs, anjystthent shall be made in accordance with the prong of Section 424(h) of the Code and
any regulations or guidance promulgated thereurathet provided further that no such adjustment staalse any Award hereunder which is or
becomes subject to Section 409A of the Code tdadaibmply with the requirements of such section.

6. SPECIFIC TERMS OF AWARDS .

(a) General . Subject to the terms of the Plan and any appkcAtwvard Terms, (i) the term of each Award shalftaesuch period a
may be determined by the Committee, and (ii) paymenbe made by the Company or a Subsidiary ali## upon the grant, maturation, or
exercise of an Award may be made in such forme@€bmmittee shall determine at the date of gratitereafter, including, without
limitation, cash, Stock or other property, and rbaymade in a single payment or transfer, in insgtits, or, subject to the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code on a deferred basis.

(b) Awards . The Committee is authorized to grant to Grantkedollowing Awards, as deemed by the Committele@onsistent
with the purposes of the Plan. The Committee stettrmine the terms and conditions of such Awardssistent with the terms of the Plan.
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(i) Options. The Committee is authorized to grant Options tarBes on the following terms and conditions:

(A) The Award Terms evidencing the grant of an @ptiinder the Plan shall designate the Option dS@ror an
NQSO.

(B) The exercise price per share of Stock purchHasaider an Option shall be determined by the Cdtemibut in no
event shall the exercise price of an Option peresb&Stock be less than the Fair Market Value sii@re of Stock as of the date of grant of
such Option. The purchase price of Stock as to kvt Option is exercised shall be paid in fullreg ime of exercise; payment may be mau
cash, which may be paid by check, or other instniraeceptable to the Company, or, with the congktite Committee, in shares of Stock,
valued at the Fair Market Value on the date of eéser(including shares of Stock that otherwise wdaé distributed to the Grantee upon
exercise of the Option), or if there were no salesuch date, on the next preceding day on whietettvere sales or (if permitted by the
Committee and subject to such terms and condiggrismay determine) by surrender of outstandingls under the Plan, or the Committee
may permit such payment of exercise price by ahgroethod it deems satisfactory in its discretioraddition, subject to applicable law and
pursuant to procedures approved by the Commitegenpnt of the exercise price may be made pursoambtoker-assisted cashless exercise
procedure. Any amount necessary to satisfy appédaieral, state or local tax withholding requissrts shall be paid promptly upon
notification of the amount due. The Committee magngt the minimum amount of tax withholding to begin shares of Stock previously
owned by the employee, or a portion of the shaf&tark that otherwise would be distributed to saaotployee upon exercise of the Option, or
a combination of cash and shares of such Stock.

(C) Options shall be exercisable over the exenpéged (which shall not exceed ten years from e @f grant), at
such times and upon such conditions as the Coneniteey determine, as reflected in the Award Ternmmyigded that, the Committee shall he
the authority to accelerate the exercisabilitymf autstanding Option at such time and under sirchimstances as it, in its sole discretion,
deems appropriate.

(D) Upon the termination of a Grantee’s employnmrgervice with the Company and its Subsidiarieéffiliates, the
Options granted to such Grantee, to the extentliegtare exercisable at the time of such termonashall remain exercisable for such period
as may be provided in the applicable Award Termsjono event following the expiration of theire The treatment of any Option that is
unexercisable as of the date of such terminatiail bl as set forth in the applicable Award Terms.

(E) Options may be subject to such other conditiasghe Committee may prescribe in its discretioas may be
required by applicable law.

(F) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hergjrants of Options may be made hereunder whick Haterms
and conditions set forth in the Exchange Offer.



(i) Restricted Stock .

(A) The Committee may grant Awards of Restrictedc8tunder the Plan, subject to such restricticersn$ and
conditions, as the Committee shall determine isdle discretion and as shall be evidenced bypbécable Award Terms (provided that any
such Award is subject to the vesting requiremeatcdbed herein). The vesting of a Restricted Sfogkrd granted under the Plan may be
conditioned upon the completion of a specified geiaf employment or service with the Company or Sopsidiary or Affiliate, upon the
attainment of specified Performance Goals, anddonwsuch other criteria as the Committee may déterin its sole discretion.

(B) The Committee shall determine the purchaseepridich, to the extent required by law, shall lp@tess than par
value of the Stock, to be paid by the Grantee &mheshare of Restricted Stock or unrestricted sbociock units subject to the Award. The
Award Terms with respect to such stock award stedlforth the amount (if any) to be paid by ther@ea with respect to such Award and w
and under what circumstances such payment is estjtorbe made.

(C) Except as provided in the applicable Award Tgrno shares of Stock underlying a Restricted Séaelrd may be
assigned, transferred, or otherwise encumbere@posked of by the Grantee until such shares ofkStage vested in accordance with the te
of such Award.

(D) If and to the extent that the applicable Aw&srms may so provide, a Grantee shall have the taghote and
receive dividends on Restricted Stock granted utidePlan. Unless otherwise provided in the apple@ward Terms, any Stock received :
dividend on or in connection with a stock splitleé shares of Stock underlying a Restricted Stoskrél shall be subject to the same
restrictions as the shares of Stock underlying Sestricted Stock Award.

(E) Upon the termination of a Grantee’s employnargervice with the Company and its SubsidiarieAftiliates, the
Restricted Stock granted to such Grantee shallbjest to the terms and conditions specified inapplicable Award Terms.

(F) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hergrants of Restricted Stock may be made hereumtieh have the
terms and conditions set forth in the Exchange 1Offe

(i) Restricted Sock Units. The Committee is authorized to grant RestrictetiSUnits to Grantees, subject to the follow
terms and conditions:

(A) At the time of the grant of Restricted Stockitdnthe Committee may impose such restrictionsomditions to the
vesting of such Awards as it, in its discretiongighs appropriate, including, but not limited to, #ohievement of Performance Goals. The
Committee shall have the authority to acceleratestittiement of any outstanding award of RestriStedk Units at such time and under such
circumstances as it, in its sole discretion, deappgopriate, subject compliance with the requireimenSection 409A of the Code.
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(B) Unless otherwise provided in the applicable AdvBerms or except as otherwise provided in the,Rlpon the
vesting of a Restricted Stock Unit there shall biveéred to the Grantee, as soon as practicali@fivlg the date on which such Award (or any
portion thereof) vests, that number of shares oflSequal to the number of Restricted Stock Urétsdming so vested.

(C) Subject to compliance with the requirementSeétion 409A of the Code, Restricted Stock Unity pravide the
Grantee with the right to receive dividend equinéigayments with respect to Stock actually or matlty subject to the Award, which
payments may be either made currently or creddexhtaccount for the Grantee, and may be settledsh or Stock, as determined by the
Committee. Any such settlements and any such angdif dividend equivalents may be subject to stmhditions, restrictions and
contingencies as the Committee shall establistydlireg the reinvestment of such credited amounttotk equivalents.

(D) Upon the termination of a Grantee’s employnmngervice with the Company and its Subsidiariesféiliates, the
Restricted Stock Units granted to such Granted bhadubject to the terms and conditions specifietie applicable Award Terms.

(iv) Other Stock-Based or Cash-Based Awards .

(A) The Committee is authorized to grant Awards&tantees in the form of Other Stock-Based AwardSthier Cash-
Based Awards, as deemed by the Committee to bésteniswith the purposes of the Plan. The Commitesdl determine the terms and
conditions of such Awards, consistent with the eofithe Plan, at the date of grant or thereaiftehuding the Performance Goals and
performance periods. Stock or other securitiesopgrty delivered pursuant to an Award in the ratfra purchase right granted under
Section 6(iv) shall be purchased for such consterapaid for at such times, by such methods,iarsdich forms, including, without limitatic
Stock, other Awards, notes or other property, as@bmmittee shall determine, subject to any reduiggporate action.

(B) With respect to a Covered Employee, the maxinvaine of the aggregate payment that any Grantgeretzive
with respect to Other Cash-Based Awards pursuathisdSection 6(b)(iii) in respect of any annualfpemance period is $5,000,000 and for
any other performance period in excess of one we&h amount multiplied by a fraction, the numarafownhich is the number of months in
performance period and the denominator of whidlwvéedve. No payment shall be made to a Covered Eyegl@rior to the certification by the
Committee that the Performance Goals have beeinedtalThe Committee may establish such other rybgticable to the Other Stock- or
Cash-Based Awards to the extent not inconsistettit 8&ction 162(m) of the Code.

(C) Payments earned in respect of any Cash-Basedd\way be decreased or, with respect to any Gravie is not
a Covered Employee, increased in the sole discretioche Committee based on such factors as it degrpropriate.
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7. GENERAL PROVISIONS .

(a) Nontransferability, Deferrals and Settlements . Unless otherwise determined by the Committeeraviged in an Award Term or
set forth below, but in accordance with the Codg amy applicable laws, Awards shall not be traradfler by a Grantee except by will or the
laws of descent and distribution and shall be ésabde during the lifetime of a Grantee only byts@rantee or his guardian or legal
representative. Any Award shall be null and void anthout effect upon any attempted assignmentaorster, except as herein provided,
including without limitation any purported assigmmenhether voluntary or by operation of law, pleggypothecation or other disposition,
attachment, divorce, trustee process or similacgss, whether legal or equitable, upon such AwEind. Committee may permit Grantees to
elect to defer the issuance of shares of Stockesettlement of Awards in cash under such ruldspapcedures as established under the P
the extent that such deferral complies with Secfio®A of the Code and any regulations or guidamoenplgated thereunder. Notwithstanding
the foregoing but subject to applicable law, thenGuttee in its sole discretion may grant transfexr@QSOs that, upon becoming fully vested
and exercisable, may be transferred to a thirdygartsuant to an auction process approved or ésttall up by the Company.

(b) Leave of Absence; Reduction in Service Level . The Committee may determine, in its discretiQmtiether, and the extent to
which, an Award shall vest during a leave of abee(ig whether, and the extent to which, a redwrcin service level (for example, from full-
time to partime employment), shall cause a reduction, or athange, in an Award, and (iii) whether a leavalzdence or reduction in serv
shall be deemed a termination of employment oriserfor the purpose of the Plan and the Award Tefthe Committee shall also determine
all other matters relating to whether the employnmerservice of a recipient of an Award is continador purposes of the Plan and the Award
Terms.

(c) No Right to Continued Employment, etc . Nothing in the Plan or in any Award granted oy &ward Terms, promissory note or
other agreement entered into pursuant hereto ehrafiér upon any Grantee the right to continue éemploy or service of the Company, any
Subsidiary or any Affiliate or to be entitled toyaremuneration or benefits not set forth in thenRiathe applicable Award Terms or to interi
with or limit in any way the right of the Companyany such Subsidiary or Affiliate to terminate Bu&rantee’s employment or service.

(d) Cancellation and Rescission of Awards . The following provisions of this Section 7(d) 8fapply to Awards granted to
(i) Grantees who are classified by the Company Sulssidiary as an executive officer, senior officgrofficer (collectively, “Officers”) of the
Company or a Subsidiary, (ii) Grantees who are employee directors of the Company, and (iii) certsther Grantees designated by the
Committee or the Board to be subject to the terfitkis Section 7(d) (such designated Grantees begetith Officers and non-employee
directors are referred to collectively as “Seniosa@ees”). The Committee or the Board, in its slideretion, may cancel, rescind, forfeit,
suspend or otherwise limit or restrict any unexghitevard at any time if the Senior Grantee engagéPetrimental Activity” (as defined
below). Furthermore, in the event a Senior Graategages in Detrimental Activity at any time priorar during the six months after any
exercise of an Award, lapse of a restriction uradeAward or
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delivery of Common Stock pursuant to an Award, sexrcise, lapse or delivery may be rescinded thilater of (i) two years after such
exercise, lapse or delivery or (ii) two years affech Detrimental Activity. Upon such rescissidre Company at its sole option may require
Senior Grantee to (i) deliver and transfer to tloen@any the shares of Stock received by the Senmiant&e upon such exercise, lapse or
delivery, (ii) pay to the Company an amount eqoalrty realized gain received by the Senior Grafrtes such exercise, lapse or delivery,
(iii) pay to the Company an amount equal to thekeiaprice (as of the exercise, lapse or delivetg)daf the Stock acquired upon such
exercise, lapse or delivery minus the respectiieepaid upon exercise, lapse or delivery, if agghlle or (iv) pay the Company an amount
equal to any cash awarded with respect to an Awldrd.Company shall be entitled to set-off any sartlount owed to the Company against
any amount owed to the Senior Grantee by the Coynpanther, if the Company commences an actionmagauch Senior Grantee (by way of
claim or counterclaim and including declaratoryirds), in which it is preliminarily or finally deterined that such Senior Grantee engaged in
Detrimental Activity or otherwise violated this Sien 7(d), the Senior Grantee shall reimburse theg@any for all costs and fees incurred in
such action, including but not limited to, the Camp’s reasonable attorneys’ fees. As used in thedi@ 7(d), “Detrimental Activity” shall
include: (i) the failure to comply with the termftbe Plan or Award Terms; (ii) the failure to comprith any term set forth in the Company’s
Key Employee Agreement (irrespective of whetherSkaior Grantee is a party to the Key Employee Agrent); (iii) any activity that results
in termination of the Senior Grantee’s employmentGause; (iv) a violation of any rule, policy, pealure or guideline of the Company; or
(v) the Senior Grantee being convicted of, or engea guilty plea with respect to a crime whethenat connected with the Company.

(e) Taxes. The Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate istawrized to withhold from any Award granted, any payt relating to
an Award under the Plan, including from a distribntof Stock, or any other payment to a Granteguarts of withholding and other taxes due
in connection with any transaction involving an Adiaand to take such other action as the Commitie deem advisable to enable the
Company and Grantees to satisfy obligations foptnegnent of withholding taxes and other tax oblmys relating to any Award. This
authority shall include authority to withhold orcesve Stock or other property and to make cash paysnn respect thereof in satisfaction of a
Grantee’s tax obligations; provided, however, thatamount of tax withholding to be satisfied byhkiblding Stock shall be limited to the
minimum amount of taxes, including employment taxequired to be withheld under applicable fedestte and local law.

() Sockholder Approval; Amendment and Termination . The Plan shall take effect on the Adoption Datdyject to the requisite
approval of a majority of the stockholders of thengpany, which approval must occur within twelve)(fronths of the date that the Plan is
adopted by the Board. If such approval has not lob¢gined within the twelve (12) month period,Aalvards previously granted, exercised or
purchased under the Plan shall be rescinded, @haed become null and void. The Board may amdtett,& discontinue the Plan and
outstanding Awards thereunder, but no amendmeetasion, or discontinuation shall be made that lv@dmpair the rights of a Grantee under
any Award theretofore granted without such Grasteensent, or that without the approval of theldtotders (as described below) would,
except in the case of an adjustment as provid&skation 5, increase the total number of sharesawkSeserved for the purpose of the Plan. In
addition, stockholder approval shall be required
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with respect to any amendment with respect to whidreholder approval is required under the Cdderules of any stock exchange on which
Stock is then listed or any other applicable lawldds earlier terminated by the Board pursuartiégtovisions of the Plan, the Plan shall
terminate on the tenth anniversary of (i) its AdoptDate or (ii) the date the Plan is approved yagority of the stockholders of the Compa
whichever is earlier. No Awards shall be grantedarrthe Plan after such termination date.

(9) No Rights to Awards; No Sockholder Rights . No Grantee shall have any claim to be grantedfamgrd under the Plan, and th
is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Grti@es. No Grantee shall have any right to paymesetlement under any Award unless and
until the Committee or its designee shall have meiteed that payment or settlement is to be madeepixas provided specifically herein, a
Grantee or a transferee of an Award shall havegits as a stockholder with respect to any shareered by the Award until the date of the
issuance of such shares.

(h) Unfunded Satus of Awards . The Plan is intended to constitute an “unfundeldh for incentive and deferred compensation. '
respect to any payments not yet made to a Grantsegnt to an Award, nothing contained in the Blaany Award shall give any such
Grantee any rights that are greater than thosegeharal creditor of the Company.

(i) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Stock shall be issuedetivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award. The
Committee shall determine whether cash, other Agjasdother property shall be issued or paid in t6€such fractional shares or whether <
fractional shares or any rights thereto shall éefted or otherwise eliminated.

() Regulations and Other Approvals.

(i) The obligation of the Company to sell or deti&tock with respect to any Award granted underRttaa shall be subject
all applicable laws, rules and regulations, inahgdall applicable federal and state securities Jamd the obtaining of all such approvals by
governmental agencies as may be deemed necessgpropriate by the Committee.

(i) Each Award is subject to the requirement tlifef any time the Committee determines, in itsabte discretion, that the
listing, registration or qualification of Stock issble pursuant to the Plan is required by any g&siexchange or under any state or federal
or the consent or approval of any governmentalleggry body is necessary or desirable as a comd@fpor in connection with, the grant of an
Award or the issuance of Stock, no such Award dtmljranted or payment made or Stock issued, idendrdn part, unless listing, registrati
qualification, consent or approval has been efteoreobtained free of any conditions not acceptébiae Committee.

(iii) In the event that the disposition of Stoclgated pursuant to the Plan is not covered by a therent registration
statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as dat(the “Securities Act”), and is not otherwise®pt from such registration, such Stock
shall be restricted against transfer to the extesiired by the Securities Act or regulations thader, and the Committee may require a
Grantee receiving Stock pursuant to the Plan,@mélition precedent to receipt of such Stock, pyesent to the Company in writing that the
Stock acquired by such Grantee is acquired forgtment only and not with a view to distribution.
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(k) Section 409A . This Plan is intended to comply and shall be aisteéred in a manner that is intended to comply wit
Section 409A of the Code and shall be construedraedpreted in accordance with such intent. Toetkient that an Award, issuance and/or
payment is subject to Section 409A of the Codshall be awarded and/or issued or paid in a mathaémill comply with Section 409A of the
Code, including proposed, temporary or final regjates or any other guidance issued by the Secreffaitye Treasury and the Internal Revenue
Service with respect thereto. Any provision of thlan that would cause an Award, issuance andjoneat to fail to satisfy Section 409A of
the Code shall have no force and effect until aredrtd comply with Code Section 409A (which amendimeay be retroactive to the extent
permitted by applicable law).

() Governing Law . The Plan and all determinations made and acteen pursuant hereto shall be governed by the ddwee
State of Delaware without giving effect to the dmtfof laws principles thereof. Notwithstandingydiming to the contrary herein, the
Committee, in order to conform with provisions of&l laws and regulations in foreign countries hick the Company or its Subsidiaries
operate, shall have sole discretion to (i) modify terms and conditions of Awards made to Grargegdoyed outside the United States,
(i) establish sub-plans with modified exerciseqadures and such other modifications as may besaapeor advisable under the
circumstances presented by local laws and regalgtiand (iii) take any action which it deems adble to obtain, comply with or otherwise
reflect any necessary governmental regulatory phoes, exemptions or approvals with respect td’tha or any sub-plan established
hereunder.

(m) Merger or Consolidation . Subject to any required action by the stockhadéthe Company shall be the surviving corpormatio
in any merger or consolidation (other than a meageronsolidation in which the Company survivesibuvhich a majority of its outstanding
shares are converted into securities of anothgrocation or are exchanged for other consideratamy,Award granted hereunder shall pertain
and apply to the securities which a holder of thember of shares of stock of the Company then stibjebe Award is entitled to receive, but a
dissolution or liquidation of the Company or a megrgr consolidation in which the Company is notsheviving corporation or in which a
majority of its outstanding shares are so convestegkchanged shall cause every Award hereundernanate; provided that if any such
dissolution, liquidation, merger or consolidatiercbntemplated, the Company shall either (a) agdoigany corporation succeeding to the
business and assets of the Company to issue tstttieipants replacement Awards (which, in the addacentive Stock Options, satisfy, in
the determination of the Committee, the requirementSection 424 of the Code) on such corporatistosk which will to the extent possible
preserve the value of the outstanding Awards oslil)l, contingent upon consummation of such tretitsa, make the outstanding Awards
fully exercisable or cause all of the applicablgtrietions to which outstanding Stock Awards arkjsct to lapse, in each case, on a basis that
gives the holder of the Award a reasonable oppastuas determined by the Committee, following éxercise of the Award or the issuance of
shares of Common Stock, as the case may be, foipat¢ as a stockholder in any such dissolutigujdation, merger or consolidation and
Award will terminate immediately following consumtian of any such transaction. The existence ofRtlaa shall
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not prevent any such change or other transactidmarParticipant hereunder shall have any righepias herein expressly set forth.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of thicen 7(m), Awards subject to and intended to $atise requirements of Section 409A
the Code shall be construed and administered densisith such intent.
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by and among
EMC CORPORATION
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO TAX SHARING AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT (the “Amendment”) dated efféat as of January 1, 2011, to the Tax Sharing Agezd (the “Agreement”)
dated effective as of August 13, 2007, is madeendred into by and among EMC Corporation, a Mdsssetts corporation (‘EMC"), each
EMC Affiliate (as defined in the Agreement), VMwaiac., a Delaware corporation (“VMware”), and ed@Wiware Affiliate (as defined in the
Agreement).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, EMC and its dieaxt indirect domestic subsidiaries, including VM&and each VMware Affiliate
are members of an Affiliated Group (as definechim Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the parties have determined that it isayppate to amend the Agreement as set forth mAlmendment.

AMENDMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ceugts and agreements contained herein, EMC, ff &ad on behalf of the
EMC Affiliates, and VMware, for itself and on behaf the VMware Affiliates, hereby agree as follaws

Section 1. Amendments

1.01 Amendment 1The definition of the term “VMware Separate Taxhildy” in Section 1 of the Agreement is hereby arded in its
entirety to read as follows:

“VYMware Separate Tax Liability” means an amount equal to the Tax liability that VArievand each VMware Affiliate would have
incurred if they had filed a consolidated returomdined return (including nexus combination, woiildsvcombination, domestic combination,
line of business combination or any other formafbination), unitary return or a separate retusrtha case may be, separate from the
members of the EMC Group, for the relevant Taxqekrand such amount shall be computed by EMC (A fimanner consistent with
(i) general Tax accounting principles,



(i) the Code and the Treasury regulations pronteld@hereunder, and (iii) past practice, if anyd éB) taking into account any Tax Asset of
VMware and any VMware Affiliate attributable to aigx period beginning on or after January 1, 2@avided, however, that, although the
VMware Separate Tax Liability is to be computedaomypothetical basis as if VMware and each VMwaffdidte were separate from the
members of the EMC Group, the fact that VMwarerr ¥Mware Affiliate is included in a Consolidatecfarn or a Combined Return and the
effect that such inclusion has on the calculatibany Tax Item, shall nevertheless be taken intwant for purposes of computing the VMw
Separate Tax Liability (for example, for purposésaiculating its R&D credit, VMware shall be ei#it to its allocable share of the
consolidated R&D credit of the EMC Group). For Hwidance of doubt, the VMware Separate Tax Liakbdhall be computed for the relevi
Tax period without regard to whether or not VMwareany VMware Affiliate would be able, on a hypdihbel basis separate from the
members of the EMC Group, to utilize in an eartiefater Tax period a Tax Asset resulting from soomputation.

1.02 Amendment 2Section 7.01 of the Agreement is hereby amendéd antirety to read as follows:

7.01. Estimated Tax PaymentNot later than three (3) days prior to each Estéd Tax Installment Date with respect to a taxakléod
for which a Consolidated Return or a Combined Retuitl be filed, VMware shall pay to EMC on behalfthe VMware Group an amount
equal to the amount of any estimated VMware Sepadrax Liability that VMware otherwise would haveeerequired to pay to a Taxing
Authority on such Estimated Tax Installment Dateéhé VMware Separate Tax Liability for such taxabkriod is less than zero, then EMC
shall pay to VMware an amount equal to the Tax Betiet the EMC Group anticipates it will recogeifor the entire year as a result of the
VMware Separate Tax Liability being less than Zerosuch taxable period. Not later than seven &)sdrior to each such Estimated Tax
Installment Date, EMC shall provide VMware with atten notice setting forth the amount payable ByWware, or the amount payable by
EMC, as appropriate, in respect of such estimatdevsre Separate Tax Liability and a calculation wéls amount.

1.03 Amendment 3Section 7.02 of the Agreement is hereby amendéd amtirety to read as follows:

7.02. TrueUp Payments Not later than ten (10) business days after ptagiany VMware Separate Tax Liability computatjsursuant
to Section 3.05 of this Agreement, VMware shall pai£MC, or EMC shall pay to VMware, as appropriae amount equal to the difference,
if any, between




(i) the VMware Separate Tax Liability and (ii) thenount equal to (A) the aggregate amounts paidMware to EMC with respect to such
period under Section 7.01 of this Agreement mit)stlie aggregate amounts paid by EMC to VMware wétipect to such period under
Section 7.01 of this Agreement.

Section 2. Construction.
2.01 Definitions.Terms capitalized but not defined herein shall hiieemeaning set forth in the Agreement.

2.02_Counterparts.This Amendment may be executed in any number ofiteoparts, each of which shall be deemed an ofigié all
of which together shall constitute one and the shmendment.

2.03_Severability.If any term, provision, covenant, or restrictiontios Amendment is held by a court of competerisdiction (or an
arbitrator or arbitration panel) to be invalid, dpor unenforceable, the remainder of the ternmyipions, covenants, and restrictions set forth
herein shall remain in full force and effect, ahdlsin no way be affected, impaired, or invalidhtin the event that any such term, provision,
covenant or restriction is held to be invalid, voidunenforceable, the parties hereto shall usetest efforts to find and employ an alternate
means to achieve the same or substantially the sasnét as that contemplated by such terms, prassicovenant, or restriction.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodzased this Amendment to be executed by a dulyoeaaéd officer on March 2¢
2011, but effective as of the date first abovetemit

EMC CORPORATION
on behalf of itself and the EMC Affiliate

By: /s/ David Goulden
Name David Goulder
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Of

VMWARE, INC.
on behalf of itself and the VMware Affiliate

By: /s/ Mark Peek March 29, 2011
Name Mark S. Peel
Title: Chief Financial Office
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VMware, Inc.
Executive Bonus Program

Executive Bonus Program Obijectives

Among the objectives of the VMware Bonus Programtar

. motivate our executives to achieve our strategierational and financial goe

. reward superior performan

. attract and retain exceptional executives;

. reward behaviors that result in long term increagedkholder valu
Overview

The Compensation and Corporate Governance Comrhisteadopted a cash bonus program relating torpeaface (the “Executive Bonus
Program”) under the 2007 Equity and Incentive Rtha “Plan”) providing for possible cash bonusespecified executives of VMware, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Companytjless otherwise indicated herein, provisions efRtan shall apply to the Executive Bonus
Program.

In keeping with VMware’s philosophy of tying a sténstial portion of our executive compensation t® dichievement of measurable
achievements, a goals-based cash bonus prograbebasleveloped and implemented. The determinafiboraus payout will be made
semiannually after the conclusion of the semitual measurement periods ending on June 30 acehiber 31 based on results achieved b
company, as reported to the Compensation and Catg@overnance Committee by the Chief Financialc®ff Chief Accounting Officer or
Corporate Controller. Bonuses will be determinedi®yCompensation and Corporate Governance Conenaftdhe Board of Directors (the
“Administrator”). Bonus payments will only occurdertain predetermined company and individual (“MB@bjectives are successfully
achieved. Bonus amounts will be calculated (“Caltad Bonus Amounts”) based upon the degree of aement of the predetermined
objectives. The Compensation and Corporate Govemm@ommittee shall determine final bonus payouts emits discretion, taking into
account review and discussion of recommendatiorderbg the Chief Executive Officer, may reduce, fittincrease, final bonus payouts fi
the Calculated Bonus Amounts.

Bonus awards represent an unfunded, unsecured ggdmithe Company to pay a bonus amount deternbynélde Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee to each Participahinly upon satisfaction of the performanceecidt determined by the Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee in accordartteting provisions set forth below.

Eligibility

All senior executives are eligible to be considdi@darticipation. However, no person is autonatjcentitled to participate in the Executive
Bonus Program. Participants will be approved salthe discretion of the Compensation and Corpdgatvernance Committee and may be
amended at any time by the Compensation and CdgpGmvernance Committee. Additionally, the exeaitivust be an employee of the
Company at the time the bonus is paid out in ordleest in right to receive payment.

Participants may include executive officers of @@mpany as defined under Rule 3b-7 of the 1934 8m=suExchange Act (“Executive
Officers”) and other senior executives who areExecutive Officers. At its discretion, the Compeiwaand Corporate Governance
Committee may delegate authority to the Chief ExgelOfficer to add senior executives who are nagdttive Officers to the Executive
Bonus Program.
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Administration

As Administrator, the Compensation and Corporategdmance Committee is ultimately responsible fanenistering the Executive Bonus
Program. The Administrator has all powers and disan necessary or appropriate to review and agptio Executive Bonus Program and its
operation, including, but not limited to, the pover(a) determine Participants, (b) interpret thevisions of the Executive Bonus Program,
(c) adopt rules for the administration, interprietatand application of the Executive Bonus Progcamsistent with the Plan, and (d) interpret,
amend or revoke any such rules. All determinatems decisions made by the Administrator and anjstecof the Administrator shall be
final, conclusive, and binding on all persons, ahdll be given the maximum deference permittechlay The Administrator, in its sole
discretion, may amend or terminate the Executiveudd’rogram, or any part thereof, at any time anatiy reason, subject to the limitations
set forth in Sections 3, 6(b)(iv) and 7 of the Plan

The Administrator shall exercise full authorityrtake final determinations with respect to bonusastgd under the Executive Bonus Program

to Executive Officers. The Administrator may, ia discretion, delegate authority over bonuses ttidizants who are not Executive Officers
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Target Percentage

The Administrator shall establish target bonuseskaonus formulas for the Executive Bonus Program.

Target bonus amounts will be a percentage of acRsnt’s actual semi-annual base salary duringcthese of the Performance Period as of
the date the target bonus percentage is establ{tfieTarget Bonus Percentage”).

The Calculated Bonus Amount, if any, may range 6%10% of the Target Bonus Percentage multipliethkyParticipant’s actual serainua
base salary depending upon performance achieveMaritmum bonus thresholds are described below.geoposes of this calculation,
Participant’s actual semi-annual base salary siutlexceed 200% of the Participant's base salaof #s date that semi-annual performance
targets are approved.

Performance Period

Unless otherwise indicated, the performance pefiodsonuses granted under the Executive BonusrBmoghall run each year from Janual
to June 30 and from July 1 to December 31 . (em¢Rerformance Period”). Participants are rewamdigihg the period that they are actively
employed by VMware.

Participants are not eligible to participate in atlyer Company bonus or incentive plan during ddPmance Period. This exclusion does not
apply, however, to applicable employee referralusas, spot bonuses, equity awards, or Companyilwotitns to qualified retirement or
savings plans.

New Hires: Calculated Bonus Amounts will be prorated for helired participants based on the number of dagy aire employed
during the Performance Period.

Leaves of Absence Calculated Bonus Amounts will be prorated for &éinye during the Performance Period that a Pagitijis on an
unpaid leave of absence status. Unpaid leavesseinale exclude those absences for which vacatidalesive or other compensation is
paid directly by the Company. Unpaid absences gethose absences for which compensation is ret&igm any source other than
directly from the Company.

Changes in Position Participants who move from one bonus-eligibleitias to a different bonus-eligible position withd#ferent target
bonus percentage may earn a target bonus proratedse pay and bonus at the start of each period.

Termination : In order to vest and the right to receive a bamder the Executive Bonus Program, an employe¢ beum an active
employment status or on approved leave at theldapdnus is paid out. An employee whose employmeds for any reason prior to t
date will not earn and will not be paid any bonader this Executive Bonus Program.
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The Compensation and Corporate Governance Comrsittdehave the exclusive discretion to determihenva Participant is no longer
actively employed for purposes of the Executive BORrogram. Participants have no right or intéreahy bonus and such bonus is not ea
unless the Administrator determines a bonus paigadiie.

Performance Metrics

The Calculated Bonus Amount will depend on botlogany component (“Corporate Financial Metric”) amdindividual component
(“MBO”) selected from the performance goals frore 2007 Plan. The Company must meet a threshol@%f & the Corporate Financial
Metric in order for any bonus payouts to be mafithd 80% threshold is not achieved, the ExecuBigaus Program shall not be funded ant
bonus payouts shall be made. The Corporate Firlavieiics, the MBO'’s and their relative weightinigadl be determined by the Committee
within 45 days of the commencement of the performagreriod.

Corporate Financial Metric Component

The Corporate Financial Metric shall be determibgaalculating success against company-wide firdmoetrics and, as applicable, business
unit performance metrics, as determined by the Gorsation and Corporate Governance Committee.

MBO (Individual) Component

Each Participant will be assigned individual pemiance goals by the Compensation and Corporate Gawvee Committee that are appropriate
to the Participant’s role at the Company. If thddhrachievement of 80% of the Corporate Financiatrd is met, then the MBO component is
funded at the same percentage as the Corporatedrahdetric. The Compensation and Corporate Gomece Committee can exercise
negative discretion to reduce the bonus for the MB®ponent. In making its determination whethenettuce the bonus for the MBO
component, the Committee’s shall review and disthisChief Executive Officer’s assessment of eaatti¢?pant’s achievement of his or her
individual performance goals.

Bonus Determination and Payment

The Compensation and Corporate Governance Comrstttdedetermine final bonus payouts to Participdoased upon achievement of the
foregoing metrics and goals. The Committee resetheesight to reduce bonus payouts below CalculB@aus Amounts or not make any
bonus payouts in its sole discretion.

Cancellation, Rescission and Recoupment of Awards

Any bonus granted under this Executive Bonus Pragma Participant shall be subject to cancellatieacission, repayment or other action at
the discretion of the Compensation Committee afostit in Section 7(d) of the Plan in the event thach Participant engages in “Detrimental
Activity” as such term is defined in Section 7(d)

Additionally, the Compensation and Corporate Gogaoe Committee shall have the discretion to reghaeeach Participant reimburse the
Company for all or any portion of any bonuses paider the Executive Bonus Program if —

(a) the payment was predicated upon the achieveaf@etrtain financial results that were subseqyethé subject of a material financial
restatement,

(b) in the Board’s view, the Participant engagettaud or misconduct that caused or partially cdube need for a material financial
restatement by the Company or any substantiaiaéijland

(c) a lower payment, award, or vesting would haseuored based upon the restated financial results.

In each such instance, upon the determinationeoCthmpensation and Corporate Governance Committegjtiire recoupment of a previously
paid bonus awarded under the Executive Bonus Pmgghee Company will, to the extent practicable aowable under
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applicable laws, require reimbursement of any b@awarded for the relevant period exceeded the Ipagment that would have been made
based on the restated financial results, providatithe Company will not seek to recover bonusegpemsation paid more than three years
prior to the date the applicable restatement islased.

At-Will Employment (US Only)

This Plan does not affect the terminable-at-wakss of the employment relationship. Neither thaimatment of goals nor the continuous service
requirement necessary to earn a bonus alters tlity aban employee or the Company to terminatepyyment at any time, with or without
reason and with or without advance notice.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul A. Maritz, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of VMware, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15dj1%a¢&d internal control over financial reporting @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b. Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 4, 201 By: /s/ PAUL A. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of VMware, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15dj1%a¢&d internal control over financial reporting @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b. Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 4, 201 By: /sl MARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peel
Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@gerations
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Paul A. Maritz, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.Cc8en 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90BeoSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 104D the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2011 fulljnpties with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeo& 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date: May 4, 201 By: /s/ PAUL A. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Bec1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ob#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 104D the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2011 fulljnpties with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeo& 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date: May 4, 201 By: /s MARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peel
Chief Financial Officer and (-President, Business Operatic
(Principal Financial Officer




